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DIRECT TESTIMONY OF

GLENN R. JENNINGS




AFFIDAVIT

The affiant, Glenn R. Jennings, being duly sworn, deposes and states
that the prepared testimony attached hereto and made a part hereof,
constitutes the prepared direct testimony of this affiant in Case No. 99-176, in
the Matter of: An Adjustment of Rates of Delta Natural Gas Company, Inc. and
that if asked the questions propounded therein, this affiant would make the .
answers set forth in the attached prepared direct testimony.

Affiant further states that he will be present and available for cross-
examination and for such additional direct examination as may be appropriate
at the hearing in Case No. 99-176 scheduled by the Commission, at which time
affiant will further reaffirm the attached prepared testimony as his direct
testimony in such case.

GLENN R. JEN

STATE OF KENTUCKY )

COUNTY OF CLARK )

Subsgribed and sworn to before me by Glenn R. Jennings, this the .70&
day of ﬁv—-\ , 1999,

My Commission Expires: 3// X?ﬁﬂ 0

il Pbostt-

Notary Pub‘l?c, State at Large, Kentucky
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Please state your name and business address.

Glenn R. Jennings, Delta Natural Gas Company, Inc., 3617 Lexington
Road, Winchester, Kentucky 40391.

What is your present employment?

I'am presently employed as President and Chief Executive Officer of Delta
Natural Gas Company, Inc.

For what period of time have you been so employed?

I was employed by Delta as Treasurer in January, 1979. I was appointed
Vice President - Finance and Treasurer in 1982; Executive Vice
President, Treasurer and Chief Operating Officer in May of 1983;
President, Treasurer and Chief Executive Officer in 1985; and President
and Chief Executive Officer in 1988.

Would you briefly describe your education and professional experience?

I attended Berea College, Berea, Kentucky, from 1969 to 1972, receiving
a B.S. in Business Administration. [ have also attended two graduate
schools working toward an M.B.A. [ am a Certified Public Accountant in
the states of Kentucky and Ohio. From 1972 to 1973, I was employed by
Ford Motor Company in Cincinnati, Ohio as a production supervisor in a
plant that manufactured automotive transmissions. [ was employed by
the accounting firm of Arthur Andersen & Co. in its Cincinnati, Ohio
office from 1973 to 1977, specializing in the utility area. From July,
1977 to January, 1979, [ was employed by Berea College as Internal

Auditor and Assistant to the Vice President for Finance, during which
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time 1 prepared rate cases and testified before the Public Service
Commission several times. Since January, 1979, I have been employed
by Delta. [ have appeared before the Public Service Commission on

numerous occasions on Delta’s behalf.

I served 11 years on the Board of Directors of the Kentucky Gas
Association (President in 1991-1992). I am presently a member of the
Board of Directors of the Southern Gas Association (Chairman 1997-
1998) and the American Gas Association (Chairman of Small Member
Council).

Generally what are your duties with Delta?

As President and Chief Executive Officer, I have responsibility for all
areas of Delta. 1 supervise four officers who report to me and are
responsible for each of their respective segments of the Company.

Mr. Jennings, will you please summarize for the Commission the
historical development of Delta’s business?

Certainly. Delta is a Kentucky corporation with its principal office at
3617 Lexington Road in Winchester, Kentucky. In 1950, Delta completed
its first distribution system, which served approximately 300 customers
in Owingsville and Frenchburg. Delta expanded its business until 1977
when it was serving 11,000 customers in relatively small communities in

central Kentucky. At that time Delta’s only source of gas supply was the

interstate system and the Company was not large enough to attract the
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capital sufficient to continue to provide a high degree of service to our
customers. Therefore, the decision was made to expand our business by
acquiring gas systems in the gas producing regions in southeastern
Kentucky. In October, 1977, we acquired Gas Service Company, Inc.,

Cumberland Valley Pipe Line Co. and Laurel Valley Pipe Line Company.

- These companies operated the distribution systems in London, Pineville,

Middlesboro, Williamsburg and part of Barbourville, the transmission
lines linking the towns, except London, and related gathering lines and
gas storage facilities. At that point we began serving an additional 8,500
customers and began utilizing locally produced natural gas and gas
storage facilities. In January, 1981, we acquired the assets of Peoples
Gas Company of Kentucky, a subsidiary of The Wiser Oil Company,
which added approximately 8,700 customers in Corbin, Barbourville,
Manchester, Oneida and Burning Springs. In January, 1982, we
purchased approximately 57 miles of transmission lines from Wiser
which run generally from Manchester to Corbin and London. In 1989,
we leased the TranEx pipeline, a 43 mile 8 inch diameter pipeline which
extends from Manchester to Richmond, and began operating it as a part
of our transmission system. We purchased the TranEx pipeline in 1997.
Delta has continued to successfully expand its distribution systems by
extending to new areas such as Beattyville in 1992. Delta expanded into
Fayette County in 1997 and also acquired the North Middletown

distribution system in Bourbon County as well as Annville Gas &
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Transmission in Jackson County. We have an application pending before
the Commission currently to purchase the Mt. Olivet gas system located

in Robertson and Mason Counties.

Delta has thus grown to a system of approximately 38,000 customers in
primarily rural areas of Kentucky with 10 branch offices, two warehouses
and approximately 2,100 miles of transmission, distribution, service and
gathering pipeline in 21 counties in central and southeastern Kentucky.
This includes transmission lines that interconnect with Richmond,
Berea, Manchester, London, Corbin, Middlesboro, Barbourville, Pineville
and Williamsburg. In addition, transmission lines interconnect the other
communities we serve with each other and/or the sources of gas. The
gathering systems are located in Bell, Knox, Whitley and Clay counties in
the vicinity of wells from which Delta acquires some of its natural gas
supplies. Delta owns, operates and maintains service lines as well. Also,
Delta has four wholly-owned subsidiaries. Two of those companies buy
and sell natural gas, one owns production properties and one leases the
Canada Mountain storage field and related pipeline facilities from Delta

and operates the field.

Delta is a small, independent, investor-owned utility. Our system is
mainly in smaller Kentucky communities or rural areas, and there are no

large concentrations of customers. Thus, we are faced with a significant
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challenge to control the upward pressure on rates while still providing
our customers with a high degree of service as well as maintaining an
adequate return to our shareholders so that we can continue to raise the
capital needed.

Mr. Jennings, please tell the Commission the reason an adjustment in
rates is required.

In this filing, our rate base, capital and operating costs reflect current
and known levels. We based our proposed rates on data for the test year
ended December 31, 1998, or as of the end of the test year, and included
known facts which are reflected as adjustments consistent with our last
rate case. We have proposed a rate design similar to that approved by
the Commission in our last case with adjustments to reflect our updated

cost of service study as well as current market conditions.

Our last rate filing in 1997 utilized a test year ending December 31,
1996. Thus, by the time rates are expected to be implemented from this
case, three years will have passed since the test year end for the last
case. This current request reflects an overall increase in revenues of only
6.76% in order to update our rates to reflect current levels of operating

expenses, taxes, depreciation and interest as well as to recover a

reasonable return on equity investments.
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Mr. Jennings, can you comment upon Delta’s competitive environment
today and what impact this has upon rate design and other marketing

considerations?

-Yes, I can. It is important that we keep all our rates as low as possible,

as we have competition for gas sales from many alternate fuel sources
including electricity, coal, oil, wood, propane and other natural gas

suppliers.

In our residential and commercial markets we compete directly with
several electric utilities, including Kentucky Utilities, various RECCs,
Berea College and municipal systems, for space heating, water heating,

clothes drying and cooking.

Our larger volume customers with alternate fuels available in the case of
interruption could switch to those alternate fuels such as oil or propane
at any time, and in the past some of our larger volume customers have
converted to coal. Such customer losses place a greater burden on Delta
and all remaining customers. It is advantageous to Delta, and Delta’s
smaller volume customers, to retain the larger volume load customers.
We also need to be competitive for new industrial prdspects, since this

too will benefit all our customers.

6
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On and off-system transportation are a significant component of our total
throughput. We have been physically bypassed in some instances. We
are under frequent threat of additional physical bypass with respect to
transportation and thus competitive transportation rates are very -

important to us.

We believe that continuing toward fully allocated costs has us pointed in
the right direction, and our experience has reinforced that belief. Our
proposed lower interruptible rates should help to retain our larger
volume customers as well as attract new ones. If a larger volume
customer is lost to other energy sources, the revenue requirement to be
provided by others in such an event would be smaller than otherwise.
This will help to lessen the future rate impact of a lost large volume
customer on all other smaller customers.

In developing proposed rates in this case, how has Delta considered its
cost of service study?

The cost of service study determined revenue requirements for each
customer class. Delta’s rate design considers the cost of service study.
Delta’s proposed rates provide for a reduction in rates to larger volume
customers as well as a reduction in the rate differential between the GS
and interruptible classes. This should help to keep Delta’s rates in its

service areas attractive for economic development.
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Mr. Jennings, how do the transportation revenues reflected in this rate
filing benefit Delta’s rate payers?

Delta’s sales customers benefit from transportation since the revenue
provided by on-system and off-system transportation rates reduces the
revenue requirement otherwise required from Delta’s other customers.
Delta continues to try to maximize transportation deliyeries for others.
We are concerned about whether the test year level of transportation
revenues will continue in the future, since continued deliveries are
dependent upon many variables, including weather, producers’
production capabilities, levels of end user operations, supply needs,
system capabilities, federal regulations and bypass. In fact, our off-
system transportation volumes have declined in the past few years.

Do you agree with the return on common equity as recommended by Mr.
Blake?

Yes. Delta is small in comparison to major utilities, yet, as an
independent, investor-owned company, it must compete in the same
financial markets for its new capital. Delta must be able to raise
common equity to enable it to continue to issue long-term debt
securities. Also, common equity issuance is a necessity in order to be

able to continue or expand short-term lines of credit.

We are in contact with brokers, analysts, investment bankers, investors,

shareholders and market makers on a routine basis, discussing Delta
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and their concerns as they relate to Delta. The most important and
repetitive concerns raised are stability of dividends, future growth in
dividends and stock value and maintenance of an adequate return on
common equity to provide for these items. We must be able to maintain
reasonable retained earnings over and above our dividend payments to

shareholders.

As pointed out in Mr. Blake’s testimony, Delta’s earnings over the past
few years have been inadequate. This trend continued during 1998 and
Delta’s December 31, 1998, net income provided an inadequate return
on common equity. Delta’s consolidated reported earnings per share for
the twelve months endéd December 31, 1998 were only $.94, or only a
7.8% return on common equity which was well below Delta’s authorized
return. Delta’s dividends paid during that period were $1.14 per share.
As a result, Delta’s retained earnings have continued to decline. This

trend must be reversed if Delta is to be financially viable.

Delta’s reqﬁested return is required in order to produce a reasonable
yield to investors and to continue our dividends. Such a return should
thus strengthen the shareholders’ confidence in investing in Delta’s
common stock. This will also provide Delta the opportunity to fulfill its
future capital needs in the common equity markets at a fair cost to both

customers and stockholders.
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Could you please review Delta’s current financial condition and financing
needs?

Yes. Our earnings for calendar 1998, the test year, are not adequate.
Financial indicators such as return on common equity and payout ratio
indicate that Delta’s financial condition needs to improve. @ We must
improve earnings to be able to continue our dividend and we must be
able to continue our dividend in order to raise equity capital effectively.
Fiscal 1999 will be Delta’s third year in a row of not earning as much per

share as the dividend it has paid out. This situation cannot continue.

We utilize short-term debt, along with internally generated cash flow
from operations, to meet our construction expenditure needs. We
periodically repay these short-term borrowings as capital markets permit
and as our needs dictate. In March, 1998, we refinanced our short-term
debt with long-term debt and redeemed $10 million of 9% debentures,
replacing them with 7.15% debentures. Delta had borrowed
approximately $9 million under its short-term line of credit as of the end
of the test period, and we will have to refinance those shdrt-term
borrowings at some point in the not too distant future. The continuing
availability of our line of credit is closely tied to our ability to refinance
those borrowings from time to time. Ouf continuing ability to raise debt
and equity capital, and thus to be able to continue to finance our

construction expenditures, is a direct result of our financial stability.

10
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An expedient approval of the rates as requested would be fair to both
Delta’s shareholders and customers and would help to keep our cost of
capital as low as possible. |

Please describe Delta’s response to industry changes that have taken
place in the past few years.

Delta attempts to deal with industry change with the best interests of its
customers in mind. Prior to deregulation of natural gas wellhead prices
in the 1980’s, Delta began transporting for larger volume customers,
producers and off-system customers and those additional revenues
helped to keep our other rates lower. We have had a mix of supplies
from producers, marketers, pipelines and our own supplies and this has
helped to balance our supplies and prices and keep our gas costs as low
as possible. In order to further respond to the changes, we have
acquired and developed the Canada Mountain underground natural gas
storage field in Bell County, Kentucky. This storage field is operational

and is assisting us in meeting our seasonal supply needs.

As a further response to our changing industry, Delta proposed
alternative regulatory tariffs that are under consideration by the
Commission in Case No. 99-046. This proposed approach shares the
risk and reward of efficiencies with Delta and its customers and provides
a means to keep rates current without the enormous expense of money

and time required by general rate cases. It also provides appropriate

1
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reviews and controls to provide suitable Commission oversight of Delta in

this era of regulatory change.

We have considered the current industry trend toward retail unbundling
for residential and small commercial customers. While we are familiar
with some of the anticipated benefits, we are still not confident that all
problems that this raises have been adequately addressed. We are
concerned about many areas that will need to be properly addressed,
including such issues as transition costs (pipeline, storage, supply),
backup supplies in the event of supply failure by marketers, the
obligation to serve standard in an unbundled environment, supplier of
last resort issues and the impact of unbundling on lower income
customers. We are still evaluating this area and considering the
programs recently implemented in other states and proposed by some in
Kentucky. Thus, while we are unbundled for some transportation
services already, we are not in a position to propose any further
unbundling at this time.

Does this conclude your testimony at this time?

Yes.
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Item FR 6(e) contains a comparison of average bills at present rates with average bills
at proposed rates. Average bills are presented separately for the different customer
classes. The percentage of increase in annual revenues to Delta will approximate
6.8%. The effect upon consumer bills will vary depending upon usage.

Please explain FR 6(h), the determination of the revenue requirement.

Item FR 6(h) contains the nine schedules of the revenue requirement study and
supporting workpapers. Schedule 2 shows the calculation of revenue at present rates.
It contains the bill frequency analysis required for item FR 6(g). The supporting
workpapers present the calculation of the proposed adjustments included in the
revenue deficiency study. The attached workpapers, together with the description of
the adjustments, provide the description and explanation of proposed adjustments
required for item FR 6(a).

What is the amount of the revenue deficiency?

The amount of revenue deficiency to be recovered by proposed rates is §hown in
Schedule 1. This deficiency of $2,511,797 is calculated by comparing the total cost of
service to the revenues at present rates. This revenue deficiency requires a rate
increase of approximately 6.8% of normalized revenues. Schedules 2 through 9
present the components of the cost of service.

Briefly describe Schedules 2 through 9.

These Schedules present more detail related to the test year actual data and
adjustments which were made to arrive at the revenue deficiency.

Please explain Schedule 2.

Schedule 2 shows actual billing determinants for the twelve months ended December
31, 1998 and the proposed adjustments to the billing determinants.

Please explain Schedule 3.
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I am spohsoring the following:

FR 1-7 Proposed tariffs

FR 1-8(a) Present and proposed tariffs in comparative form

FR 6(a) Description and explanation of proposed adjustments

FR 6(d) Statement of effect that the new rates will have on revenues

FR 6(e) The effect on the average bill for each customer class

FR 6(g) Billing analysis

FR 6(h) Determination of revenue requirement

FR 6(i) Reconciliation of rate base and capital

YF‘R 6(p) The prospectus of the Company’s most recent stock or bond public
offering

FR 6{(q) Annual reports to shareholders for the last two years and

supplements thereto
FR 6(s) SEC reports for the most recent two years with updates
FR 7(a) Income Statement and Balance Sheet reflecting the impact of
proposed adjustments
Do you adopt these Filing Requirements and Exhibits and do you make them part. of
your testimony?
Yes.
What changes is Delta proposing to its tariffs?
Delta is proposing to adopt a Weather Normalization Adjustment Clause as is
discussed in more detail by Mr. Brown in his testimony. Delta has also included the
Experimental Alternative Regulation Plan that is before the Commission in Case No.
99-046. Other proposed tariff changes include changes to make the tariffs more
correct. See Exhibit 1 attached to my testimony.
Please explain FR 6(e), the effect of the proposed rates on the average bill for each

customer class.
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Please state your name and business address.

John F. Hall, Delta Natural Gas Company, Inc., 3617 Lexington Road, Winchester,
Kentucky 40391.

What is your present employment?

1 am employed as Vice President - Finance, Secretary and Treasurer of Delta Natural
Gas Company, Inc.

For what period of time have you been so employed?

I have been employed by Delta since April of 1979 in accounting and financial areas. |
was promoted to Manager - Rates and Treasury in 1983, to Vice President - Regulatory
Matters and Treasurer in 1988, and assumed my current position in 1994,

Will you state your educational background?

I graduated from Eastern Kentucky University in 1978, receiving a B.B.A. with a major
in Accounting.

Generally what are your duties with Delta?

My duties and responsibilities include the responsibility for the administration of the
rates of the Company, overseeing and directing the accounting, data processing and
cash management activities, assuring the proper maintenance of stockholder and
bondholder records, directing the prepmaﬁon and filing of gas cost recovery
adjustments, and planning and coordinating the preparation and filing of reports to
the Securities and Exchange Commission and stockholders. | have previously testified
before the Public Service Commission on Delta’s behalf.

Are you generally familiar with the business affairs of Delta?

Yes.

What is the scope of your testimony in this proceeding?
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Schedule 3 shows the calculation of gas cost using Delta’s current GCR effective May
1, 1999. The amount of gas cost recovery included in present rates is applied to the
adjusted volumes.

Please explain Schedule 4.

Schedule 4 shows actual operation and maintenance expenses for the twelve months
ended December 31, 1998 and the adjustments to reflect changes which were known
and measurable with reasonable accuracy during the preparation of this filing.
Therefore this filing includes only those operating expenses which the Company is
actually incurring or is reasonably likely to incur. The source for the actual test year
costs is the Company’s books and records.

Please briefly describe these adjustments.

The payroll adjustment normalizes for wage increases given July 1, 1998. Accounts
disallowed in Case No. 97-066 are adjusted out. Canada Mountain expenses are not
applicable to this filing and are adjusted out. The estimated rate case expense of
$145,000 is being amortized over three years. Interest on Customer Deposits were
adjusted out of the interest expense and included in the operating expenses as per the
Order in Case No. 97-066. Medical expense was normalized to reflect the recovery of
funds from Delta’s stop-loss insurance coverage that were applicable to 1997. The
proposed adjustment to expense is associated with the proposed adjustment to
annualize for customer and sales growth (see the testimony of Mr. Walker on page 8).
Please describe Schedule 5.

Schedule 5 shows depreciation and amortization expense. Actual expenses are
adjusted to reflect the test year end level of plant investment.

What adjustments were made to taxes other than income taxes?

Schedule 6 shows taxes other than income taxes. Payroll taxes were adjusted to
correspond to the adjusted wage levels. Property taxes were adjusted to remove taxes

applicable to Canada Mountain.
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Please describe Schedule 7.

Schedule 7 shows rate base and required return. The total rate base is the investment
attributable to Delta’s system only, excluding Delta’s subsidiary companies and the
Canada Mountain storage property. Cash requirements are included at one-eighth of
operation and maintenance expenses excluding purchased gas cost.

Please explain Schedule 8.

Schedule 8 shows income taxes. The tax expense is calculated based on the required
after tax equity return and a combined tax rate of 39.445 percent. The 39.445 percent
tax rate is the result of combining the 35 percent federal rate with the state income tax
rate of 8.25 percent.

Please describe Schedule 9.

Schedule 9 shows the calculation of Delta’s overall cost rate for capital which is 9.31
percent.’

What cost rates are used for debt capital in the calculation of the overall cost of
capital?

Delta’s embedded cost of long-term debt as of the end of December, 1998, which is
7.48 percent, was used for long-term debt. The current rate of 5.41 percent as of June
21, 1999 was used for short-term debt.

What is the requested cost of equity capital?

I used 11.9% on the adjusted capital structure as recommended by Mr. Blake in his
testimony.

Please explain FR6(i), the reconciliation of rate base and capital used to determine its
revenue requirements.

Item FR6(i) contains a reconciliation of the capital account balance from FR7(a) and
the total adjusted rate base from FR6(h).

Does this conclude your testimony at this time?

Yes.
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OTHER PROPOSED TARIFF CHANGES

EXHIBIT 1
Page 1 of 2

GENERAL SERVICE AND INTERRUPTIBLE RATES

Last paragraph — Changed wording giving customers who enter into an
Interruptible Agreement permission to transport as well as purchase gas under the

Interruptible Rate Schedule.

TRANSPORTATION OF GAS FOR OTHERS OFF SYSTEM UTILIZATION

Terms and Conditions

Changed wording from “after approval of said contract has been granted by the
Public Service Commission” to “after said contract has been filed with and accepted

by the Public Service Commission”.

STANDBY SERVICE RATE SCHEDULE
Rates
Changed wording from “has been approved by the Public Service Commission” to

“has been filed with and accepted by the Public Service Commission”.

RULES AND REGULATIONS

Applicability
Added Clark County; Mt. Olivet, Robertson County; and Sardis, Mason County to

the service area list.
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OTHER PROPOSED TARIFF CHANGES

EXHIBIT 1
Page 2 of 2

Company’s Rules and Regulations

Deleted the word “following”.

Rules and Regulations May be Amended
Changed wording from “subject to the approval of the Public Service Commission
of Kentucky” to “subject to the filing with and acceptance of same by the Public
Service Commission of Kentucky”.

Customer’s Liability

Word added: “said injury or démagé will be shown to have been caused solely by
the gross negligence of the Company”.
Deposits
Changed wording from “This amount does not exceed 2/12ths of the average
annual bill” to “This amount shall not exceed 2/12ths of the average annual bill”.
Monthly Bills
Word added: “such reading to be taken as near as practicable approximately
every thirty (30) days”.

Customers Equipment and Installation

Paragraph changed to agree with the wording of Delta’s Standard Practice 0-9.2 -
Curb Box, Service Lines, Yard Line, House Lines, Appliances, Read Out — Read In and

Turn Ons, Section 6(B) — Appliance Inspection.
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Please state your name and business address.

John B. Brown, Delta Natural Gas Company, Inc., 3617 Lexington Road, Winchester,
Kentucky 40391.

What is your present employment?

I am an accountant, presently employed by Delta as its Controller.

For what period of time have you been so employed?

I was employed by Delta as Manager — Accounting & Finance in April of 1995. 1 was
appointed Controller in March of 1999.

Would you briefly describe your education and professional experience?

I attended Asbury College, Wilmore, Kentucky, from 1985 to 1989, receiving B.A. degrees
in Accounting and Business Management with a minor in computer science. I am currently
enrolled in the University of Kentucky’s MBA program. T am a Certified Public Accountant
in the state of Kentucky. 1 was employed by the accounting firm ot Arthur Andersen LLP
in its Louisville, Kentucky office from 1989 to 1995, specializing in the utility area. Since
April, 1995, T have been employed by Delta.

Generally what are your duties with Delta?

I direct the operations of the Accounting and Information Technology departments. My
duties include the maintenance of proper books and accounts, property records and the
like; the preparation of periodic financial statements and reports; the proper and timely
billing and maintenance of customer accounts; the timely filing of tax reports including
sales, property and income and the overall supervision of the company’s financial records.
Delta retains Arthur Andersen LLP, independent certified public accountants, with whom 1
work on a routine basis.

Are you generally familiar with the business affairs of Delta?




. 1 A Yes, I am.
2 Q. Please briefly summarize the scope of your testimony.
3 A My testimony sponsors all of the rate application amounts from the books and records of
4 the Company. In that regard 1 am sponsoring the following filing requirements:
5 FR 1(7) pg- 36 and 37
6 Weather Normalization Adjustment Clause Applicable to General Service
7 Rate Schedule
8 FR 6()) Current chart of accounts
9 FR 6(k) Independent auditor’s annual opinion report
10 FR 6(m) Calendar year 1998 FERC Form 2
11 FR 6(n) Most recent depreciation study with schedules by major plant
12 Accounts
.13 FR 6(0) List of computer software, programs and models used
14 FR 6(r) Monthly managerial reports providing financial results of
15 operations for the twelve months ended December 31, 1998
16 FR 6(t) Detailed description and explanation of the reasonableness of monies
17 paid by the utility to the affiliates
18 FR 7(d) The operating budget for each month of the period encompassing
19 the pro forma adjustments

20 Q. Do you adopt the Filing Requirements you just identified, and do you make them part of
21 your testimony?

22 A. Yes.

23 Q. Are Delta’s annual reports on file with the Kentucky Public Service Commission?
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Yes. The annual report filed under the FERC Form 2 format for the calendar year 1998 1s
the most recent report filed with the Kentucky Public Service Commussion.

Please explain FR 6(k).

Filing Exhibit FR 6(k) is the Company’s Annual Report to Shareholders tor the year ended
June 30, 1998 which includes the independent auditor’s annual opinion report. The
Company’s independent accounting firm is Arthur Andersen LLP. There have been no
written or other communications regarding the fiscal year 1998 financial statements from
the auditors to.the Company indicating the existence of any material weakness in the
Company’s internal controls.

Has Delta received an audit and an audit report from the FERC? (Filing Requirement FR
6(1)).

No. Delta is not audited by the FERC.

Please explain FR 6(n).

FR 6(n) 1s the most recent depreciation study, including schedules by major plant accounts.
This study was conducted by the independent firm of Stone & Webster and was previously
filed with the Commission in Delta’s previous rate cases, No. 90-342 and 97-066.

Did Delta have any amounts charged or allocated to it by an affiliate or general or home
office or paid any monies to an affiliate or general or home office during the test period or
during the previous three (3) calendar years?

Yes. FR 6(t) details gas purchases by Delta from affiliates.

Does this conclude your testimony at this time?

Yes.
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Please state your name and business address.

Robert C. Hazelrigg, Delta Natural Gas Company, Inc., 3617 Lexington Road,
Winchester, KY 40391.

What is your present employment?

I am presently employed as Vice President for Public and Consumer Affairs.

For what period of time have you been so employed?

I have been employed by Delta since June, 1981 in the marketing and public

relations areas. I was promoted to Vice President for Marketing and Public
Relations in November, 1988 and became Vice President for Public and Consumer
Affairs in May, 1993,

Will you state your educational background?

I graduated from the University of Mississippt in" 1969, receiving a B.A. degree in
liberal arts.

Generally, what are your duties with Delta?

My duties and responsibilities include public, governmental and media relations,
larger volume customer marketing and economic development. | have previously
testified before the Public Service Commission on Delta’s behalt.

What is the scope of your testimony in this proceeding?

I will be addressing the need for competitive larger volume customer rates. |
Are larger volume customers a significant part of Delta’s business?

Yes. While Delta makes sales to some of these customers, most of Delta’s larger

volume customers are purchasing their own natural gas requirements and Delta 1s

transporting these volumes. As stated in Delta’s June 30, 1998 Annual Report to
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Shareholders, over 38% of Delta’s combined retail and on-system throughput was to
such customers.
Are these larger volume customers oftered rate incentives by Delta?

Yes. Delta has a declining block rate structure which provides for lower rates as

-usage increases for both GS and Interruptible customers. Additionally, for the

interruptible customer class, Delta’s current rates provide a reduction from GS rates
which range from $.60 per Mcf to §1.0212 per Mcf.

Are these incentives adequate for Delta’s larger volume customers?

No. The rates offered by Delta are not as favorable to larger volume, better load
factor customers as are those offered by certain other gas distribution companies.
Just as open access transportation was a logical extension of deregulation of natural
gas at the wellhead, the need to determine costs for all classes of customers was a
logical extension of the trend toward utilization of transportation. In accordance
with Public Service Commission requirements, Delta and other gas utilities perform
cost of service studies and present the results of those studies in general rate cases
for the purpose of assisting in the determination of how costs should be allocated to
various classes of customers. In Delta’s last rate case (97-066), Delta proposed to
realign rates but there was no significant realignment of rates with costs. Now we
propose to align rates more fully with costs.

Has Delta performed a cost study to support the rates proposed in this case? -

Yes. Delta has employed The Prime Group, LLC to perform cost studies and to
assist us in developing rates. The cost of service study i1s submitted in this
proceeding with the direct testimony of Willilam Steven Seelye.

Do Delta’s proposed rates rely solely on the cost study?
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No. The rates which Delta proposes have been developed with the intent ot
establishing rates which reflect a reasonable balance between the cost study and the
realities of today’s market. The environment in which Delta presently operates
requires greater attention to the demands and realities of the marketplace than ever
before and this consideration has been factored into our rate design.

To what extent do Delta’s proposed rates deviate from the cost study?

The cost study supports a more significant revenue shift from interruptible
customers to residential customers than Delta is proposing in this rate case. While
Delta recognizes the ultimate need to offer more competitive cost based rates to
interruptible customers, we are, in this case, proposing a lesser decrease for two
primary reasons. First, because we are very sensitive to the impact on residential
customers, we propose a gradual approach to properly allocated rates. Second, there
is a greater present need to reduce rates to larger volume, better load factor GS-
customers.

Why does Delta’s proposed rate design offer lower rates to larger volume GS
customers.?

Delta’s current GS rates are from $.60 per Mct to $1.0212 per Mcf higher than
Interruptible rates. This difference is of such a magnitude that larger volume GS

customers are considering switching to Interruptible Service primarily for economic

reasons. This is harmful to the customers because economics will drive them to

switch to a level of service that is not necessary or not preferable rather than the
level of service decision being made by balancing the considerations of supply and

deliverability. Delta is also harmed because, 1f the customer switches from GS to
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interruptible rates, Delta loses revenues which have been imputed in setting 1ts rates
and the customer then has alternate fuel options.

Has Delta identified GS customers that may switch to Interruptible Service unless 1t
becomes economically feasible to remain on GS?

Yes. Delta is aware of twelve (12) customers representing 668,500 annual Mcf that
are considering switching to Interruptible Service unless the economics are changed.
Four (4) customers representing 495,250 annual Mcf have indicated a strong
inclination to switch very soon and others are at varying stages of deliberation.
Further, Delta has already found it necessary to enter into a special contract with one
customer to prevent it from switching to Interruptible Service.

Why has Delta proposed a $.25 per Mcf difference between GS and Interruptible
Service at the higher rate blocks?

Prior to our last rate case (No. 97-066) the difference between GS and Interruptible
Service was $.25 per Mcf. At that time very few of Delta’s larger volume, better load
factor customers were on GS rates and a rate design which offered lower rates for
Interruptible Service was a means to provide much needed, more competitive rates
to most of Delta’s larger volume customers. Structural changes in the natural gas
industry, the availability of firm gas at competitive rates in other locations and a
positive supply environment have combined to make firm (GS) service more
available and preferable to customers that are large enough to utilize transportation
services. The rates Delta proposes are consistent with Delta’s cost of service study
as well as market responsive.

Has the nature of Interruptible Service changed since the advent of transportation

services?
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Dramatically so. The gas industry is structurally very different than it was at the
beginning of this decade. The right to interrupt larger volume customers had a
greater value to Delta when Delta purchased gas to meet those customers
requirements. Delta could then interrupt service and direct that gas to higher priority
customers. Therefore, the right to interrupt was of much greater value than in
today’s environment when those customers are purchasing gas from sources other
than Delta. None of the customers previously identified as considering switching to
Interruptible Service from Gas purchase their gas requirements from Delta.

Could you further describe Delta’s competitive environment as it relates to larger
volume customers:

Yes. Delta faces intense competition in all aspects of its business. In the larger
volume markets natural gas faces competition from other energy sources, specifically
coal, oil and propane as well as the possibility of bypass by larger customers to
interstate in intrastate pipelines. Additionally, Delta and the communities served by
Delta compete with communities served by others for new investment. Rates must
be competitive to assist those communities and Delta in attracting that new
investment. Further, rates need to be fair and competitive to create the necessary
environment to permit existing businesses within Delta’s service area to retain
market share and expand. Also, some businesses within Delta’s service areas have
multiple plant locations and are, therefore, directly affected by Delta’s rates’ since
they compete with other plant locations for business.

Why is it necessary to continue to provide a declining block rate scale as Delta

proposes?

W
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This is predominantly a response to market demands and Delta’s intent to make
gradual shifts to cost based rates. As a general rule, customers with larger energy
requirements are very sensitive to pricing. Delta is interested in encouraging larger
volume natural gas customers with high load factors to locate in its service area.
Delta must offer competitive pricing to obtain these customers and to provide fair
and competitive rates to existing customers within its service area.

Why is it important to Delta to service customers with larger natural gas
requirements and high load factors?

These customers are important because their revenue contributions help provide
pricing stability to smaller volume customers over the long term and because high
load factors create more stable revenues throughout the year.

Does this conclude your testimony at this time?

Yes.
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INTRODUCTION AND QUALIFICATIONS

PLEASE STATE YOUR NAME AND BUSINESS ADDRESS.

My name is William Steven Seelye and my business address is The Prime Group, LLC,
6711 Fallen Leaf, Louisville, Kentucky, 40241.

BY WHOM ARE YOU EMPLOYED?

I am a senior consultant and principal for The Prime Group, LLC, a firm located in
Louisville, Kentucky, providing consulting and educational services in the areas of utility
marketing, regulatory analysis, cost of service, rate design and fuel and power
procurement.

PLEASE DESCRIBE YOUR EDUCATIONAL BACKGROUND AND PRIOR WORK
EXPERIENCE.

I received a Bachelor of Science degree in Mathematics from the University of Louisville
in 1979. I have also completed 54 hours of graduate level course work in Industrial
Engineering and Physics. From May 1979 until July 1996, I was employed by Louisville
Gas and Electric Company (“LG&E”). From May 1979 until December, 1990, I held
various positions within the Rate Department of LG&E. In December 1990, I became
Manager of Rates and Regulatory Analysis. In May 1994, I was given additional
responsibilities in the marketing area and was promoted to Manager of Market
Management and Rates. I left LG&E in July 1996 to form The Prime Group, LLC, with

two other former employees of LG&E.
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Since leaving LG&E, I have provided consulting services to numerous investor-owned
utilities, rural electric cooperatives, and municipal utilities regarding utility rate and
regulatory filings, cost of service and wholesale and retail rate designs. Specifically, I
have prepared and filed Order No. 888 and Order No. 889 compliance filings at the
Federal Energy Regulatory Commission (“FERC”) for a number of electric utilities as
well as Order No. 888 and Order No. 889 waiver requests for other utilities. I have
prepared market power analyses in support of market-based rate filings at FERC for
utilities and their marketing affiliates, as well as assisting other utilities with their market-
based rate filings. I have assisted utilities with developing strategic marketing plans and
implementing these plans. I have provided utility clients with assistance regarding
regulatory policy and strategy; state and federal regulatory filing development; cost of
service development and support; the development of innovative rates to achieve strategic
objectives; the unbundling of rates and the development of menus of rate alternatives for
use with customers; performance-based rate development; and energy marketing and
brokering capability development. I have provided training to account executives in sales
and customer negotiation, as well as providing training in ratemaking and utility finance
regarding basic utility marketing. I have provided marketing, market research and
marketing support services for utility clients and have assisted them in assessing their
marketing capabilities and processes.

HAVE YOU EVER TESTIFIED BEFORE THE KENTUCKY PUBLIC SERVICE

COMMISSION (“Commission”)?
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Yes, on a number of occasions. I testified in Administrative Case No. 244 regarding rates
for cogenerators and small power producers, Case No. 8924 regarding marginal cost of
service, and in several 6-month and 2-year fuel adjusfment clause proceedings. Most
recently, I testified in Case No. 96-161 and Case No. 96-362 regarding complaints filed
with the Commission regarding Prestonsburg City’s Utilities Commission
(“Prestonsburg”) rates. I have also submitted pre-filed direct testimony in Case No. 99-
046 on behalf of Delta Natural Gas Company (‘“Delta”) concerning its alternative
regulation plan.

WHAT IS THE PURPOSE OF YOUR TESTIMONY IN THIS PROCEEDING?

The purpose of my testimony is to sponsor a fully allocated class cost of service study
based on Delta’s embedded costs for the 12 months ended December 31, 1998. The cost
of service study is based on Delta’s accounting costs per books, adjusted for known and
measurable changes to test year operating results. The cost of service study therefore
corresponds to the pro-forma financial exhibits included in the testimony of Mr. John
Hall. Our objective in performing the cost of service study is to determine the rate of
return on ratebase that Delta is earning from each customer class, which provides an
indication as to whether Delta’s gas service rates reflect the cost of providing service to
each customer class. The cost of service study can also be used to determine unit costs
which can guide us in developing a rate design that is appropriate for each customer class.
HAVE YOU EVER PREPARED AN EMBEDDED COST OF SERVICE STUDY?
Yes, on many occasions. While employed at LG&E, I prepared numerous gas and
electric cost of service studies, many of which were filed in rate cases before the

-3-
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Commission. Since leaving LG&E, I have prepared cost of service studies for several

electric and water utilities.

Q. WHAT PROCEDURE WAS USED IN PERFORMING THE COST OF SERVICE

STUDY?

A. The cost of service study was prepared using the following basic procedure: (1) costs

were assigned (functionalized) to the major functional groups, (2) costs were then
classified as commodity-related, demand-related, or customer-related; and then (3) costs
were allocated to Delta’s rate classes. These steps are depicted in the following diagram
(Figure 1). This is a standard approach utilized in the preparation of embedded cost of

service studies.

Functional Classification Allocation
Assignment
Demand
Storage Residential
Costs Commodity
Transmission L_1 Demand Small
Costs C&l
Costs
— Demand
Distribution
Costs Large C&I
Customer
Other HCust./Spec. Assign. Other Classes
Figure 1
-4-
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WHAT IS THE PURPOSE OF FUNCTIONALLY ASSIGNING COSTS?

Functional assignment serves the following purposes: (1) it groups associated costs.
together to facilitate allocation on the basis of cost responsibility; (2) it provides a
rational mechanism for grouping costs that do no appear to be related to major service
functions; (3) it provides a device for separating assignable costs from joint costs, which
must be allocated.

WHAT FUNCTIONAL GROUPS WERE USED IN THE COST OF SERVICE
STUDY?

The following functional groups were identified in the cost of service study: (1) Gas
Supply, (2) Storage, (3) Transmission, (4) Distribution Structures and Equipment, (5)
Distribution Mains, (6) Services, (7) Meters, and (8) Customer Accounts. The Gas
Supply functional group was not utilized in this study because all of Delta’s gas supply
costs have been removed from test-year operating results for purposes of this proceeding.
HOW WERE COSTS CLASSIFIED AS COMMODITY RELATED, DEMAND
RELATED OR CUSTOMER RELATED?

Classification provides a method of arranging costs so that the service characteristics that
give rise to the costs can serve as a basis for allocation. Costs classified as commodity
related tend to vary with the quantity of gas purchased such as gas supply and the
operation of compressors. Since gas supply costs were removed from the cost of service
study, it was not necessary to classify gas supply costs. Costs classified as demand
related are costs related to facilities installed to meet peak usage requirements. Costs

-5-
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classified as customer related include costs incurred to serve customers regardless of the
quantity of gas purchased or the peak requirements of the customers. All transmission
plant costs were classified as demand related. Distribution Structures and Equipment
costs were classified as demand-related. As will be discussed later in my testimony, costs
related to Distribution Mains were classified as demand-related and customer-related
using the zero intercept methodology. Services, Meters, and Customer Accounts were
classified as customer-related.

HAVE YOU PREPARED AN EXHIBIT SHOWING THE RESULTS OF THE
FUNCTIONAL ASSIGNMENT AND CLASSIFICATION STEPS OF THE COST OF
SERVICE STUDY?

Yes. Seelye Exhibit 1 shows the results of the first two steps of the cost of service study,
functional assignment and classification.

IN YOUR COST OF SERVICE MODEL, ONCE COSTS ARE FUNCTIONALLY

ASSIGNED AND CLASSIFIED, THEN HOW ARE THESE COSTS ALLOCATED TO

THE CUSTOMER CLASSES?

In the cost of service model used in this study, Delta’s accounting costs are functionally
assigned and classified using what are referred to in the model as “functional vectors.”
These vectors are multiplied (using scalar multiplication) by the various accounts in
order to simultaneously assign costs to the functional groups and classify costs.
Therefore, in the portion of the model included in Seelye Exhibit 1, Delta’s accounting
costs are functionally assigned and classified using the explicitly determined functional

vectors shown on pages 49 through 52 of the analysis and using internally generated

-6-
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functional vectors. Internally generated functional vectors are utilized throughout the
study to functionally assign costs on the basis of similar costs or on the basis of internal
cost drivers. An example of this process is the use of total operation and maintenance
expenses (OMT) to allocate cash working capital included in ratebase. Because cash
working capital is determined on the basis of 12.5% of operation and maintenance
expenses, it is appropriate to functionally assign and classify these costs on the same
basis. (See Seelye Exhibit 1, page 17.) The functional vector used to allocate a specific
cost is identified by the column in the model labeled “Vector,” and refers to a vector
identified elsewhere in the analysis by the column labeled “Name.”

Once costs for all of the major accounts are functionally assigned and classified,
the resultant cost matrix for the major cost groupings (e.g., Plant in Service, Rate Base,
Operation and Maintenance Expenses) is then transposed (i.e., “turned sideways”) and

allocated to the customer classes using “allocation vectors” or “allocation factors.”

Costs l:\,> Trans-
by Cost ‘::> posed ::> Allocated
Account Matrix Cost. Costs
I > Matrix
Steps 1 & 2 Matrix Step 3
Functional Inversion Allocation
Assignment
and
Classification

Figure 2
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The results of the class allocation step of the cost of service study are included in Seelye
Exhibit 2. The costs shown in the column labeled “Total System”in Seelye Exhibit 2
were carried forward from the functionally assigned and classified costs shown in Seelye
Exhibit 1. The column labeled “Ref” provides a reference to the results included in
Seelye Exhibit 1.

PLEASE DESCRIBE THE ALLOCATION FACTORS USED IN THE STUDY.

The following allocation factors were used in the study:

DEMO1 is used to allocate gas supply demand-related costs;
however, since gas suply costs were removed from the study, this

allocation factor is not relevant to the study.

DEMO02 is used to allocate Storage demand-related costs and
represents actual customer class deliveries during the winter
withdrawal season (defined as the months of November through

March)

DEMO3 is used to allocate Transmission demand-related costs and
represents maximum class demands determined at Delta’s zero
degree design day temperature. These demands, shown in Seelye

Exhibit 3, were calculated using base loads and temperature-
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sensitive loads developed by Mr. Walker for the temperature

normalization adjustment. (See Walker Exhibit 4.)

DEMO04 is used to allocate Distribution Structures and Equipment
demand-related costs and Distribution Mains demand-related costs
and is the same as DEMO03 for customers served from the

distribution.

COMO1 is used to allocate gas supply commodity-related costs;
however, since gas supply costs were removed from the study, this

allocation factor is not relevant to the study.

COMO2 is used to allocate Storage commodity-related costs and
represents actual customer class deliveries during the winter
withdrawal season (defined as the months of November through

March.) This allocation factor is the same as DEMO02.

CUSTOL is used to allocate Mains customer-related costs and
represents the year-end number of customers served from the

distribution system.
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CUSTO2 is used to allocate Services and is based on the total
estimated cost of installing a service line per customer in each
customer class weighted by the year-end number of customers in

each class.

CUSTO3 is used to allocate Meters and is based on the total cost of
meters and meter installation costs per customer in each customer

class weighted by the year-end number of customers in each class.

CUSTO04 is used to allocate Customer Accounts and is based on the
total estimated cost of meter reading and billing for each class.

The cost weighting factor of 1.0 was utilized for residential and
small commercial customers, a cost weighting factor of 4.0 was
utilized for Large Commercial & Industrial, Interruptible, and
Special Contracts, and a cost weighting factor of 10.0 was utilized
for Off-System Transportation. In other words, the allocation
factor reflects an estimated cost ratio of 4:1 for providing customer
accounts services for Large Commercial & Industrial, Interruptible,
and Special Contracts, and an estimated cost ratio of 10:1 for
providing customer accounts services for Off-System

Transportation Service.

-10-
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PLEASE DESCRIBE THE ZERO INTERCEPT METHODOLOGY THAT WAS USED
TO CLASSIFY MAINS.

Two commonly used methodologies for determining demand/customer splits of
distribution plant are the “minimum system” methodology and the “zero intercept”
methodology. In the minimum system approach, a “minimum” standard pipe size is
selected and the minimum system is obtained by pricing all of the distribution mains at
the unit cost of this minimum size pipe. The minimum system determined in this manner
is then classified as customer-related and allocated on the basis of the number of
customers in each rate class. All costs in excess of the minimum system are classified as
demand-related. The theory supporting this approach maintains that in order for a utility
to serve even the smallest customer, it would have to install a minimum size system.
Therefore, the costs associated with the minimum system are related to the number of
customers that are served, instead of the demand imposed by the customers on the
system.

In preparing this study, we used the “zero intercept” methodology to determine
the customer component of mains. Because the zero intercept methodology is less
subjective than the minimum system approach, we prefer the zero intercept methodology
over the minimum system methodology when the necessary data is available. With the
zero intercept methodology, we do not have to choose a minimum size main to determine
the customer component. In the zero intercept methodology, a zero-diameter pipe is the

absolute minimum system.
WHAT IS THE THEORY BEHIND THE ZERO INTERCEPT METHODOLOGY?

-11 -
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The theory behind the zero intercept methodology is that there is a linear relationship
between the unit cost ($/ft) of mains and the gas flow capability of the pipe, which is
proportionate to its diameter. After establishing a linear relation, which is given by the

equation:

y = a+ bx,

where:
y is the unit cost of the pipe,
x is the size of the pipe, and
a, b are the coefficients representing the

intercept and slope, respectively

it can be determined that, theoretically, the unit cost of a pipe with zero diameter (or pipe
with zero load carrying capability) is a, the zero intercept. The zero intercept is
essentially the cost component of mains that is invariant to the size (and load carrying
capability) of the pipe.

Like most systems, the number of feet of mains on Delta’s system is not
uniformly distributed over all sizes of pipe. For example, Delta has over 3.6
million feet of 2 inch mains, but only a little over 56,000 feet of 3 inch mains.
For this reason, it was necessary to use a weighted regression analysis, instead of

a standard least-squares analysis, in the determination of the zero intercept. Using
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a weighted regression analysis, the cost and diameter of each size pipe is, in
effect, weighted by the number of feet of installed pipe. In a weighted regression

analysis, the weighted sum of squared differences

> wiyi~ )

{

is minimized, where w is the weighting factor (in this case the feet of pipe) for each size
of pipe, and y is the observed value and ¥ is the predicted value of the dependent variable
(in this case the unit cost of the pipe).

Attached as Seelye Exhibit 4 is the zero-intercept analysis used in this study. The
zero intercept unit cost of $3.14 per foot pipe is applied to the total feet of mains in the
analysis to determine the customer cost component. The listing on page 3 of the analysis
indicates that the correlation coefficient r-squared for mains is 0.8286. The correlation
coefficient is a relative measure of the goodness of fit, where a coefficient of 0.0 indicates
no correlation between the independent variable and dependent variable and a coefficient
of 1.0 indicates perfect correlation.

PLEASE SUMMARIZE THE RESULTS OF THE COST OF SERVICE STUDY.
The following table (Table 1) summarizes the rates of return for each customer class

before and after reflecting the rate adjustments proposed by Delta.
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Delta Natural Gas Company, Inc.

Class Rates of Return
12 Months Ended December 31, 1998

Customer Actual Adjusted Proposed
Class Rate of Return Rate of Return
Residential (GS) 3.97% 6.48%
Small Commercial (GS) 10.11% 13.01%
Large C&I (GS) 11.43% 12.52%
Interruptible (IS) 27.37% 25.52%
Special Contracts 9.44% 9.44%
Off-System Transportation 10.70% 10.70%
Total Company 7.31% 9.31%
Table 1
-14 -
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IS THE CURRENT RATE OF RETURN FOR THE RESIDENTIAL CLASS
ADEQUATE?

No. As shown in Table 1, the rate of return for the residential class is significantly below
the rates of return for the other customer classes. Delta’s overall adjusted rate of return is
7.31%, while the rate of return for the residential class is only 3.97%. In my opinion,
Delta should be allowed to charge rates that bring the rate of return more in line with the
overall rate of return.

WOULD DELTA’S PROPOSED RATES ACCOMPLISH THIS OBJECTIVE?

Yes they would. As can be seen in Table 1, the residential rates proposed by Delta result
in a pro-forma rate of return of 6.48%, which brings the residential class much closer to
the proposed overall rate of return of 9.31%.

HAVE YOU ANALYZED THE UNIT COST OF SERVICE?

Yes. Seelye Exhibit 5 shows the unit costs for Delta’s standard end-user rate schedules
based on the results of the cost of service study. In developing unit costs, all demand-
and commodity-related costs were unitized on the basis of annual Mcf, and all customer-
related costs were unitized on the basis of annual customer-months. This exhibit is useful
for analyzing rate design changes necessary to move in the direction of cost of service.
HOW WERE THE UNIT COSTS DERIVED?

The unit costs were derived by calculating the net cost of service (or “net revenue
requirements”) for customer- and demand/commodity-related costs and dividing these
amounts by the appropriate billing units. Delta’s cost of service includes (1) return on
investment, (2) income taxes, (3) operation and maintenance expenses, (4) depreciation
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expenses, and (5) other taxes. The total cost of service was determined by identifying
each of these cost elements from the cost of service study, including the expense .
adjustments proposed by Mr. Hall. The total cost of service was reduced by
miscellaneous revenues in order to calculate the net cost of service for each rate class.
Delta’s proposed overall rate of return on net cost rate base of 9.31% was utilized to
calculate the unit cost.

WHY DID YOU SEPARATE CUSTOMER-RELATED COSTS BETWEEN MAINS
AND DIRECT COSTS?

Direct costs include costs associated with the service line, meters, and customer accounts
(which includes meter reading, billing, and so forth). Because these costs are incurred
directly to serve individual customers, there is little doubt that they should be recovered
through the customer charge. This is especially true when there are multiple customer
classes served under a single rate schedule, as is the case with Delta’s General Service
Rate. The cost of mains, on the other hand, represents costs that are jointly utilized to
serve multiple customers. We feel strongly that the cost of mains (or a portion thereof)
varies with the number of customers. This is especially true for rural customers.
However, we have separated the customer costs between mains costs and direct costs in
order to provide a minimalist view of the customer costs. For example, the residential
unit charge necessary to recover only direct customer costs is $9.12 per customer per
month, whereas the residential unit charge necessary to recover all customer-related costs

would be $21.48 per customer per month.
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. Q. ARE YOU RECOMMENDING THAT THE COMMISSION ADOPT THE UNIT

2 COSTS SHOWN IN SEELYE EXHIBIT 5 AS DELTA’S RATES?
3 A. No. This exhibit is intended merely to be a guide for developing gas service rates. Mr.
4 Walker will address rate design issues.

5 Q. DOES THIS CONCLUDE YOUR TESTIMONY?

6 A. Yes, it does.

-17-




Seelye Exhibit 1
Cost of Service Study

Functional Assignment
and
Classification
of Costs
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Seelye Exhibit 3

Estimated Peak Day Requirements
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Seelye Exhibit 4
Classification of the Cost of Mains

Zero Intercept Analysis
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Seelye Exhibit 5
Unit Cost Analysis

Standard End-User Rates




L - G Nqiyx3y

pajejay-Ajpowwon
pue -puewaqg

ejol

paje|ay-18wolsny

paje[ay-Jowo)sny

paje|ay-Iawolsny

$)S09) JaWoisnyd

JOW/98E2°2$ owasno/gyLzs | ownsnorzi e ONASND/OE'Z LS (FL)1(cL) s}sod wun (gi)

€62'185'C ov6'ze 0v6'ZE 0¥6'2e Gg abed Z uqux3 syun Bueg (1)
00€'892'v1 $|2iv'6Ll's $ ] cza'esy's $ 2Z8't09'¢ $ 100'c88'¥y $ -0 801A195 J0 150D 19N (E1)
288'vL 1£€'0¢ 0GS' PP £16'81L 1£9'62 62 abed z naqiyx3 anuanay Jsiiy :sse (z1)
z8levE'YL $ 1808'608'S $ | vig'ceg's ¢ 9eL'7z9'c $ 8£9'016'Y $ 1 (01)(}+(8)+(2)+(a)+(c) 20|95 Jo 180D jejel (1)
(z0¢'01) (920'y) (182'9) (Lvv'e) (¥e8'2) 62 9bed Z uqiuxg sjuswisnipy ssuadx3 (ol)
WANE-7] 96G'22¢ 919'cey £€2'991 £88'962 €2 % 1 sabed Z uquux3 saxe] 1410  (6)
AR TARA ¥26'210°1 00E'LLL'L SE8'vLE SoV'aeL 61 9 LI sebed z uqux3 sesuadx3 uoneaidag  (g)
166'ZSY'S $]z6L'62L'2 $ ] 6si'eze'e $ 195'tes'L $ €£65'66%'L $| 11 96sebedzuqux3 | sesuadx3y aoueusjuien pue uojesado  (2)
¥99'c£9't $ | 006'2.5 $ | ¥92'ss0'L $ S0.'t9e $ 650'269 $ | s¥v6£°0.((SPP6E 0-1)1S)) soxe] awoou| (9)
296'205'C $|6.1'288 $ | €82'029't $ 15£'8SS $ zey'zao't $ ) - () awoouj1eN  (g)
015'e88'1 $ | esv'al8 $ | €co0's00'L $ 266'8EE $ 1$0°999 $ | 228 sz sebed z nquux3 sasuadx3 jsasal  (p)
8.y L6E'Y $ | 199's92°L $]918'sz9'c $ eve'l68 $ e©¥'8zL'L $ @) x(1) wney  (g)
%LE'6 %LE'6 %LE'6 %LE'6 %16 HOY {[eJaAQ pasodoid wmey o ey ()
9GE'6G1 LY $]2v1196'8L $ | 602'361'82 $ 6Lp'989'6 $ 06219581 $ | L96saebedzuqux3 asegajey (1)

$)S0) |B)O] s}1S09) $1S0D $)S09 10841 S)S09 SuUlepy 92UdIIIY uonduosag

(1lenuapisay) so ajey ad1uI8g [RIoULD

8661 ‘1€ 19qWadaQ papul SYJUOW Z| aY) 104
Apn)g 891A188 JO 150D BY} UO paseg 291AI9S JO S0 N

ou| ‘Auedwos seo jeanjeN ejjaq




¢ - S nqiyx3

$1S09) JawoIsny

JOW/LLELZS onasno/e8zes | owasnozs0Lg OWASND/LEZ1S (w1 1{c1) sisop un (St)

688289 ove'p ave'y ove'y g¢ ebed g naiyx3 spun Buing (1)
9v0'649'C $|oie'ssy'l | $|9eL'e6lLL $ szi'svs $ Li0'sv9 $ (ze)-(1) 301ABS JOIS0D 18N (€1)
9.¥'02 6vZ'11 22'6 LwZ'y 986'v 62 abed z nqiux3 anuaasy osI :sse (1)
125'699'C $ | 655'09%'1L $ 1 £96'z02'L $ 196'25S ¢ 0966'6¥9 ¢ 1 (01)+(6)+(g)+(2)+(0)+(g) 301M9G J0 1500 g0t {11)
914'8 689'y LE0'Y £0€'2 82L'L 6¢ abed g naiyxg sjusuwisnlpy ssuadx3 (01)
8y1L'ZyL Ws'ze 20965 §L2's2 268'€E €2 3 L sebed z uquyx3 saxel ayi0  (6)
08L'Liv 609'vS2 LLL'2SL $00'09 291'26 61 8 LI sebed g uqux3 sasuadx3 uopewsideq (g)
¥68'266 $ | ozv'oes $ | vi¥'I0p $ 229'¢9Z ¢ 2sg'l6l $] 11 96sebed zuqiuxa | sesuadxg aoueusjuiely pue uonessdo (1)
8€0'v6C $ | veLvhL $|sLe'spl $ 100'8S $ 80¢'L6 $ | Sv¥6€°0.((S¥P6E°0-1)/(S)) saxe] swooul (g)
00¥'LSY $los1'222 $ | veg'eze $ 050'68 $ vil'ovl $ (%) - (€) swooujldN  (s)
SHS'E9e $ | vov'ize $|zviert $ 992'¥S $ </8'/8 $ | L2 gz sebed Z nqux3 sasuadx3 jsaseul  (v)
9¥6'v18 $ | 08S'cHy $ | o9e'LLe $ gle'ehl $ 6¥0'82Ze $ (2)x (1) wney  (g)
%LE6 %LE'6 %LE6 %1E6 %LE6 HOHY lieseap pasodold wnsy jo ey (2)
695°1G2'8 $ ] ees'col'y $]9£0'886'c $ 150'6£G') $ y86'8tv'C $1 23 sabedzuquxa ssegaey (1)

§JS09 [ejo S)S09) $)S09 S1S09 10811 $)S0) sujew ERITE TR uonduasag
pajejpy-Aiipowwo) | pajejay-roawoisny pajejay-iswoisny pajejay-Jawoisny
pue -puewag |ejol

(lerosewiwod |jewsg) SO ajey 891IAI9G [eloudg)

8661 ‘L€ JoquiadaQg papul SYJUOW ZI oy} Jog
Apnig 89jA18S 30 1S09 BY) UO pasegq 81AIaS JO S0 Jun

‘ou] ‘Auedwo) seo |einjeN ejjeq




€ - G Hqlyx3y

JOW/E9Z9°L$ OWASND/96'00L$ | OWASND/0.'88$ OWASND/IZ'Z1S (F1)1(g1) sisoD un (S1)
¥86'C¥8'1 688 688 688 G¢ abed 2z jaux3 siun Bulrg (v1)
1SZ'VL0'Y $]661'266'2 $]850°220'1 $ 0SZ'9v6 $ 108'0El $ 1) - (1) 801A8G JO 180D 19N (E1)
yo'ee 2sL've 568'8 5182 080°L 6C abed z naqiux3 anusAay oSy :ssa (Z1)
¥06'201'v $ | 1s6'120'c $ | £56'580°1 $ G90'tS6 $ g88'1€l $ | (01)+(6)+(8)+(2)+(9)+(€) @01A18S J0 1800 1oL (L)
(618'22) (2£2'02) (z85'2) (c98'9) (612) 62 9bed z yaiyx3 sewisnlpy asuadx3 (01)
¥£0'0e2 061'941 ¥¥8'cS Li6'op ££6'9 £2 % g sabed z wquux3 soxel 1BYl0  (6)
221'699 869'225 £92'Lp1 188121 9/8'61 61 3 L1 sabed Z nqyx3 sosuadx3 uopeaidsg ()
126'99G°L $ | zev'sel'L $ | ees'ozy $ 290'98¢ $ zv'ov $1 1196sabedzyquxa | sesuadx3 soueusjuiely pue uonesad) (L)
106'L2Y $ 1 6£5'982 $ | s9e'sel $ 069'0L1 $ 8.9'81 $ | s¥v6E0.({(Syyee0-1)/(S) saxe] swoou| (9)
LOL' P9 $ | 288'68V $ 18202 $ obL'6ll $ £.9'82 $ ) - (g) swoouleN  (g)
$89'109 $ | i8v'eLy $ | L02'821 $ zgz'obl $ G16'L) $ | 22 oZ sebed z uqux3 sosuadx3 jsasiu) ()
68€'6¥2'L $ | goc'elL6 $ | 120'0ee $ Z.c£'682 $ 6¥9'9p $ (2)x (1) wney  (¢)
%LE'6 %LE'6 %LE'6 %1E'6 %LE6 HOY ifeseA0 pesodoid wngy jo sy (2)
¥86'9L¥'ClL $ | z1s's08'6 $ | zL¥'809' $ 815'/0L'c $ ¥56'005 $1 L% gsabedzuaux3 asegoey (1)
S§]S0Q |ejoy $)s0) - 8§10 $1S00 08IIg S)S0D SuUleiN 9dUdIdjOY co_un_homwc
pajejoy-Alipowwo) | pajejday-1owoisnd paje|ay-Idwoisny) paje|ay-sowoisngd
pue -puewaq |ejoL
$)S09 Jawojisn)
{1eiisnpu| pue |e1sJawiwo) abie) SO ajey ad1AI9g [eIdUdD)
8661 ‘L€ Joquiadaq papu3 sYjuoy z| ayj 104
Apn)g a21A198 JO 1S0D 8y} UO paseq 92IAIBS JO IS0 IUN
*au] ‘Auedwio) seo jeanjeN e)aq




v - S Hqlyxg

PW/BLZS 08 OWASND/LL'BSYS | ONASNO/SE'GYYS  OWASNORZEZLS (rL) 1(€1) siseo N (St)

8vL'oet'L 44 44 44 g¢ sbed g 1qux3 siun Buig (v1)
1SS°166 $ | se9'6vL $ |96tz $ olp'seg $ 905'9 $ (1) - (1) 90IAI9G JO 180D 19N (€1)
z.6'vL 6LE'LL £59'¢ ¥55'e 86 0¢ ofed Z nqyx3 anuaAsy oS 'ssa7 (21)
£25'000°L $ | ¥56'09, ¢ | 695'cHZ $ G96'8E2 $ v09'0 $ 1 (01)+(6)+(8)+(2)+{(9)+(5) 901AI8G 401500 (1oL (1L1)
¥08'9 gL1L's 889'L 99t (K7 o¢ 8bed g nqux3 syuawysnlpy asuadx3 (gL)
8£0°0S $69'4¢ eve'et 00021 eve ¥ ¢ ¢z sebed z uqyx3 sexe) Jayi0 (6)
95t'891 L0L'pEL 6¥E'vE s9g'ee ¥86 0z % 81 sebed z uquyx3 sosuadx3 uonepaideq  (8)
£89'Ge€ $|v'zse $ | zizes $ 69Z'i8 $ €00 ¢ | 21 2 01 sebed zwqyx3a | sasuadx3 soueusjuiepy pue uogessdo (L)
966'cZ1 $lole'le $ | 189'2e $ 95/'1¢ $ 26 $ | svv6e 0.((sPPee 0-1)i(S)) soxe) awooul (9)
95£'061 $l9siovl $|z1'08 $ 2sl'sy $ 6l $ (¥) - (£) awooulieN  (g)
68L'LEL $ | veL'oot $ | vo0'1e $ szi'0e $ 068 $ | 82 % 9¢ sebed z nqux3 sosuadx3 isasap.  (p)
SpS'LZE $]ole'oye $|sez'is $ 9z6's. $ 60EC $ (@) x(1) wnay  (g)
%LE'6 %LE6 %LE'6 %LE6 %LE6 HOH lleseAQ pasodold wney o sy (2)
8L0'eSt'e $ | 9¥9'085'2 $|2.£'28 $ 1.5'/98 $ veL've $| 83 9sebedzuqux3 asegojey (1)

S)1S0D jejol $}s0) $]S0D S$1S09 084 S}S00 suley 9JUdIB}Y :O_ua_._ommn
pajejay-Alpowwio) | paje|ay-Jawoisny  paje|ay-lawoisnyd  paje|ay-1owoisnd
pue -puewaqg lejoy
$)S09 J3woisnd '

SI ajey 8911es alqidnisajul

8661 ‘L€ JoqWadaQ Papul SYIUOW Z| 8y} 104
Apnig 891A18g JO 100 3} UO paseg 991AIaG JO IS0 Hun

‘ou| ‘Auedwo?) seg) |einjepN ejjea







COMMONWEALTH OF KENTUCKY

BEFORE THE PUBLIC SERVICE COMMISSION

IN THE MATTER OF
ADJUSTMENT OF GAS SERVICE )
RATES OF DELTA NATURAL ) CASE NO. 99-176
GAS COMPANY, INC. )

DIRECT TESTIMONY OF

RANDALL J. WALKER
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The affiant, Randall J. Walker, being duly sworn, deposes and states that the
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Rates of Delta Natural Gas Company, Inc. and that if asked the questions propounded
therein, this affiant would make the answers set forth in the attached prepared direct
testimony.

Affiant further states that he will be present and available for cross-examination
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. COMMONWEALTH OF KENTUCKY

BEFORE THE PUBLIC SERVICE COMMISSION

IN THE MATTER OF
ADJUSTMENT OF GAS SERVICE )
RATES OF DELTA NATURAL ) CASE NO. 99-176
GAS COMPANY, INC, )

TESTIMONY OF RANDALL J. WALKER

1 Q. PLEASE STATE YOUR NAME AND BUSINESS ADDRESS.
2 A Randall J. Walker and my business address is The Prime Group, LLC, 6711
3 Fallen Leaf, Louisville, Kentucky, 40241.

. 4 Q. BY WHOM ARE YOU EMPLOYED?

5 A I am a senior consultant and associate with The Prime Group, LLC, a firm located
6 in Louisville, Kentucky, providing consulting and educational services in the
7 areas of utility marketing, regulatory analysis, cost of service, rate design and fuel
8 and power procurement.

9 Q PLEASE SUMMARIZE YOUR EDUCATIONAL BACKGROUND AND

10 BUSINESS EXPERIENCE.

11 A I am a graduate of the University of Louisville with a Bachelor of Science Degree
12 in Commerce and a Certificate in Physics. 1 was employed by Louisville Gas and
13 Electric Company (“LG&E”) beginning in July 1960 until my retirement in
14 August 1998. From 1968 until December 1990, 1 held various positions within

. 15 the Rate Department at LG&E, including manager. In December of 1990, I
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became Group Manager of Gas Product Management and, in 1993, I was also
given responsibility for Electric Product Management. In July 1996, my
managerial responsibilities were further broadened to include the Rate
Department. Upon retirement from LG&E in August 1998, 1 joined The Prime
Group as a senior consultant and have provided utility consulting services to
various clients.

I have over 30 years experience in rate design, cost of service, development of new
and revised service offerings, economic/cost analyses, preparing filings for general
rate cases and other regulatory proceedings before the Kentucky Public Service
Commission (“Commission”), administration of tariffs, and interpretation and the
application of Commission regulations.

I was also responsible for preparing the natural gas sales, revenue and peak period
demand forecasts at LG&E for thirteen years prior to 1981 and supervised its
preparation through 1990. In addition, I also had managerial responsibility for the
electric sales and revenue forecasts during 1989 and 1990.

HAVE YOU PREVIOUSLY TESTIFIED BEFORE THE KENTUCKY PUBLIC
SERVICE COMMISSION?

Yes, I testified before the Commission on many occasions including LG& E’s last
three general rate cases, the electric fuel clause proceedings, in gas supply clause
hearings, and numerous other matters concerning the application of tariff provisions
and service offerings. The scope of my testimony in the general rate case

proceedings included (a) rate design, (b) cost of service, (c) revenue apportionment

between rate classes, (d) temperature normalization adjustments, (e) year-end
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adjustments and (f) reconciliation of gas supply and fuel cost expenses with revenue
recoveries. In addition, I have also provided testimony before the Federal Energy
Regulatory Commission relating to the development of rates and services.

WHAT IS THE PURPOSE OF YOUR TESTIMONY IN THIS PROCEEDING?

I shall explain and support the pro-forma revenue adjustments that were made to the
test period operating results. In addition, I will explain the apportionment of the
proposed revenue increase among the rate classes and the resulting changes in
pricing and rate design contained in this filing.

WERE WALKER EXHIBITS | THROUGH 8 PREPARED BY YOU?

Yes, they were.

PRO-FORMA REVENUE ADJUSTMENTS

PLEASE EXPLAIN THE PURPOSE OF THE PRO-FORMA REVENUE
ADJUSTMENTS THAT YOU ARE SPONSORING IN THIS PROCEEDING.

It has been my experience that the Commission has, over time, established certain
standards or requirements with respect to the test period revenues and expenses from
which revenue requirements and changes in base rates are determined. Revenues
must be adjusted, when necessary, to reflect normal temperatures, annualized to give
effect to the numbers of customers served at year-end, reflect the currently effective
rates for the entire test-period, and, exclude gas cost recovery for those companies

with Commission approved gas cost recovery mechanisms.
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Adjustments to Eliminate the GCR Revenues
and to Reflect the Current Rates for Full Year

PLEASE EXPLAIN THE COMPUTATIONS REQUIRED TO MEASURE THE
EFFECT OF THE PRICE CHANGES PROPOSED BY DELTA IN THIS

PROCEEDING.

.The first computation was to determine the Gas Cost Recovery (GCR) revenues for

each rate class and to remove such revenues from the actual revenues. Inasmuch as
gas supply costs are recovered through a stand-alone cost-recovery mechanism, the
Commission requires such costs be removed from revenues in order to establish the
revenues that are related to the delivery of gas by the distributor. This adjustment
eliminates the possibility of over- or under-recoveries resulting from timing
differences being included in the determination of revenue requirements and, thus,
ensures that the base rates recover only the utility’s distribution-related costs.
Walker Exhibit 1 contains calculations showing the actual monthly Gas Cost
Recovery (GCR) revenues applicable to each rate class during the test period.

The second computation (Walker Exhibit 2) shows the impact of a full year of
revenue at the currently effective base rates. During the test period, two
modifications were made to Delta’s base rates as a result of Rehearing Orders by the
Commission related to the last general rate case (Case No. 97-066). On May I,
1998, the base rate for the initial block in the General Service Rate was increased
from $2.6909 per Mcf to $2.7321 per Mcf. By further Order of the Commission, the
$2.7321 per Mcf charge was subsequently reduced to its current level of $2.7212 per
Mcf effective with June 1998 billings. Pages 2 and 3 of Walker Exhibit 2 shows the

details of the computations restating the January through May billings to reflect the
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current rate level of $2.7212 per Mcf applicable to the initial block of the General
Service Rate. In addition to those rate modifications, Delta had two large customers
that switched from transporting their gas under the General Service Rate Schedule to
transporting under Special Contract rates during the test period. Page 4 of Walker
Exhibit 2 shows the detailed calculations restating the revenues for those two
customers to reflect a full year at the currently effective rates. The summarized
results of the calculations restating the billings at the current rates for both the
Commission ordered changes to the General Service Rate and rate switching by the
two special contact customers are shown on Page 1 of Walker Exhibit 2.

The currently effective rates were then applied to the test period billing determinants
to determine the calculated base rate revenue for each rate class. The actual revenue
minus the GCR revenue (Walker Exhibit 1) and the adjustment to reflect the current
rates for a full year (Walker Exhibit 2) was then compared to the calculated base
revenue for each rate class (Walker Exhibit 3) in order to verify the accuracy of the
test period billing determinants.

DID YOUR CALCULATIONS VERIFY THAT THE TEST PERIOD BILLING
DETERMINANTS WERE INDEED ACCURATE AND RELIABLE FOR
PURPOSES OF RATE MAKING?

Yes. As shown on Column 5, page 1 of Walker Exhibit 3, the base rate revenues
that were calculated on page 2 of that same exhibit were extremely close to the
adjusted actual revenues shown on Column 4 of page 1, thus, confirming the
accuracy of the test period billing determinants. The calculated revenue for the

residential class was within 0.055% of actual, small commercial was within 0.041%,
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large commercial/industrial general service was within 0.007%, and interruptible
was within 0.054% of actual.

Temperature Normalization Adjustment

PLEASE EXPLAIN THE CALCULATIONS AND METHODOLOGY USED TO
DETERMINE THE TEMPERATURE NORMALIZATION ADJUSTMENT TO
TEST PERIOD REVENUE.

Heating degree days related to cycle billed customer deliveries were 818 below
the Weather Bureau normal of 4,693. Thus, Delta’s actual revenues were
understated due to the much warmer than normal temperatures experienced during
the test period. The degree day data used for purposes of calculating the
temperature normalization adjustment was from the Lexington, Kentucky weather
station.

The first step in computing the temperature related deficiency in deliveries was to
determine the annual non-temperature sensitive and temperature sensitive
volumes for those customer classes whose requirements are sensitive to
temperature variations. The determination of the non-temperature volumes was
based on the gas deliveries that occurred in August and September since those
months had the lowest volumes and also had no heating degree days. The
volumes in those two months was then multiplied by six to calculate an annual
non-temperature sensitive load that was deducted from total deliveries to arrive at
the annual temperature sensitive volumes.

The next step was to determine the volumetric adjustment required to normalize

deliveries to reflect normal temperatures. The annual temperature sensitive
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volumes were divided by the actual heating degree days (3,875) in the test period
and the resulting Mcf per degree day was then multiplied by the degree day
departure from normal (818) to arrive at the volumetric adjustment for each rate
class.

In the final step, the volumetric adjustment for each rate class was apportioned to
the billing blocks based on the same billing block relationships as the actual
billing determinants. The Mcf volume in each block was then priced at the
currently effective base rates for the respective rate schedules, resulting in an
upward adjustment to gas operating revenue of $1,693,458.

The details of these calculations are shown in Walker Exhibit 4.

Adjustment to Reflect Year-End Customers

PLEASE EXPLAIN THE ADJUSTMENT TO ANNUALIZE FOR YEAR-END
BUSINESS.

The numbers of customers served at the end of the test period were greater than
the average of the 12-month period. The purpose of this adjustment is to give
recognition to the additional deliveries and revenue that would have been
expected assuming that the year-end numbers of customers had been served for
the entire test period.

The differences between the number of customers served at year end and the
average number during the test period was multiplied by the average annual
consumption per customer in order to determine the additional deliveries
expected. The average annual consumption per customer was temperature

normalized for purposes of this adjustment. The volumetric adjustment for each
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rate class was apportioned to the billing blocks in the same manner as in the
temperature normalization adjustment. The Mcf volumes in each block were then
priced at the currently effective base rates for the respective rate schedules,
resulting in an upward adjustment to gas operating revenue of $304,119.

The additional operating expenses associated with serving the higher number of
customers and volumes were calculated by applying an operating ratio to the
revenue adjustment. The operating ratio of 17.92 percent was determined by
dividing operation and maintenance expenses (exclusive of gas supply costs and
wages and salaries) by base rate revenues calculated at the currently effective
prices and, when applied to the revenue adjustment, resulted in an upward
adjustment to expenses of $54,487.

The detailed calculations of the year end adjustments to revenues and expenses
are contained in Walker Exhibit 5.

AFTER GIVING RECOGNITION TO ALL OF THE REQUIRED
ADJUSTMENTS, WHAT IS THE PROPOSED INCREASE IN REVENUES AND
HOW DOES THE PROPOSED PRICING CHANGES APPORTION THE
INCREASE AMONGST THE INDIVIDUAL CUSTOMER CLASSES?

In this filing, Delta is proposing to increase its annual revenues by $2,510,901.
Walker Exhibit 6 shows that the proposed increase would result in an increase of

6.73 percent in total Company revenue and 6.76 percent in sales and transportation

service revenue.
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The proposed pricing changes apportion the revenue increase between the customer
classes as follows:

General Service
Residential

$ 1,954,816 9.85%
418,957 7.85
242 481 2.79

Small Commercial

Large Commercial & Industrial

Interruptible Service (105,353) (4.81)

Total Sales and Transportation $ 2,510,901 6.76%

As shown on pages 1 through 4 of Walker Exhibit 7, the effect on individual class
revenues was determined by applying both the current and proposed prices to the
adjusted billing determinants for each customer class.

PLEASE DESCRIBE THE OBJECTIVES BEHIND THE PROPOSED
ALLOCATION OF THE INCREASE AMONG THE CUSTOMER CLASSES.

The proposed pricing adjustments are designed to achieve some movement toward a
better balance between class rates of return and, at the same time, give recognition to
other rate making objectives such as marketplace realities, customer acceptance and
the need to maintain price stability by avoiding overly disruptive changes.

WHAT WAS THE BASIC UNDERLYING INFORMATION THAT
SUPPORTED THE PROPOSED ALLOCATION BETWEEN CLASSES.

The starting point was the cost-of-service study submitted in this proceeding by Mr.
William Steven Seelye. The cost of service study provided information measuring
the extent to which the revenues generated by each customer class contribute to the
overall return earned by the Company. As shown on Table | of Mr. Seelye’s

testimony, the cost of service study indicated that the individual class rates of return

9
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ranged between 3.97% and 27.37% as measured against an overall adjusted actual
return on rate base of 7.31% with residential being the lowest and interruptible
service the highest. Another key observation was that the achieved return for

residential customer class was far below overall adjusted actual return of 7.31% and

the achieved returns for all the other classes were above the level of the proposed

9.31% return on rate base. This indicates a need to increase the revenues produced
by sales to the residential class more than the other classes. The cost of service
study also showed that the earned return for interruptible service was very high
when compared to either the overall or the other classes of service. Therefore,
giving recognition to this information while attempting to maintain the other
aforementioned objectives, we have proposed rates that will increase revenues
derived from the residential class by 9.85% and will reduce interruptible class
revenues by 4.81% as compared to the overall increase in sales and transportation
revenues of 6.76%.

SINCE ALL RESIDENTIAL AND MOST COMMERCIAL AND INDUSTRIAL
CUSTOMERS ARE SERVED UNDER THE GENERAL SERVICE RATE,
WHAT CAUSES THE CLASS RATES OF RETURN TO BE SO DIFFERENT?
There are several reasons. The most obvious is the variation between the class load
factors, especially between the residential and small commercial customer classes
and the large commercial/industrial class. Load factor, in this case, is the
relationship between weather-normalized average daily Mcf deliveries to the peak
day requirements of the respective customer class. Customer classes that have the

most consumption relative to their demands will earn the highest rates of return,

10
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everything else being equal. The residential and small commercial customer classes
have temperature-normalized load factors of 23.0 and 24.2 percent, respectively, as
compared to 31.9 percent for the large commercial/industrial class. However, while
the customers within the residentigl and small commercial classes are relatively
homogeneous, the large commercial/industrial class is extremely diverse with
respect to customer size and load factor.

Another reason for the class rates of return within the General Service Rate to be so
different is the ability, or inability, to recover customer-related costs. 1f the customer
charge of a customer class is adequate to recover the full amount of the customer-
related costs, this is not an issue. However, Seelye Exhibit 5 shows that the
customer costs exceed the customer charges for each customer class although the
differential is not nearly as significant for the small commercial customers as it is for
the other classes. This is not uncommon. Utility rates typically have customer
charges that are less than the amounts necessary to fully reflect the customer-related
costs. Nevertheless, when the customer charges are less than the associated costs of
providing service, such deficiencies end up being recovered thréugh Mcf charges
that are higher than they would otherwise be. The recovery of such deficiencies
within a particular customer class then becomes a function of the amount of
customer-related costs that end up in the Mcf charges and the available volumes to
spread such costs over.

WHAT ARE THE PROPOSED MODIFICATIONS TO THE INDIVIDUAL

CLASS RATE DESIGN AND TO WHAT EXTENT WILL THEY HELP TO

11
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MODERATE SOME OF THE INEQUITIES THAT SEEM TO EXIST BETWEEN

THE CUSTOMER CLASSES.

In this filing, we are proposing rates that are designed to:

(M

)

©)

(4)

Increase the revenues derived from the residential customer class by the
greatest percentage while maintaining the current level of the monthly
customer charge;

Increase the revenues derived from the small commercial general service
class by a lesser percentage than the residential class and, at the same time,
lower the monthly customer charge to move it toward the residential
customer charge given the similarity in costs;

Increase the revenues derived from the large commercial/industrial class by a
lesser percentage than either the residential or small commercial classes,
increase the monthly customer charge to be more in line with customer costs
and address the dissimilarity between customers within the class and the
concern that the large high load factor customers may be more likely to
switch to the lower interruptible rate if the rate differential is widened,;

Lower the overall rate level of the interruptible class while increasing the
monthly customer charge to be more reflective of costs.

Residential — General Service

The cost of service study indicated that, in order for the residential class of

customers to contribute the same return on rate base as the proposed overall return,

the class revenues would have to be increased by an amount equal to 1.66 times the

total amount of increase proposed by Delta in this filing. The decision was made to

propose rates that would move in the direction of the overall return without creating

12
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any overly disruptive changes. The proposed rates limit the percentage increase to
the residential class to less than 1.5 times the overall percentage increase. The
Company elected not to increase the residential customer charge at this time.
Therefore, the proposed revenue increase had to be derived from the Mcf charges
and result from pricing changes that are applicable to the first billing block of the
general service rate since all residential volumes fall within that 1st 200 Mcf block.

Small Commercial - General Service

The cost of service study demonstrated that the percentage increase to the small
commercial class should be smaller than the residential increase. Seelye Exhibit 5 -
shows that the small commercial customer-related cost is less than 10% higher than
the residential customer costs yet the present monthly customer charge is more than
twice that of the residential class. Another factor that had to be taken into account
was the fact that over 90% of the volumes sold to small commercial customers were
billed in the first 200 Mcf block of the rate. The proposed rates will result in an
increase that is smaller than that proposed for the residential class and will move the
small commercial monthly customer charge toward the residential customer charge.

Large Commercial/Industrial - General Service

The cost of service study indicated that the percentage increase to the large
commercial/industrial general service class should also be smaller than the
residential increase. In addition, as indicated earlier, this class is extremely diverse
with respect to customer size and load factor. It is composed of medium size
customers whose primary end use is for space heating as well as large high-load

factor customers.

13
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In an effort to determine the extent to which the customers differ with respect to cost
of service versus revenues, an analysis was prepared further disaggregating the costs
assigned to this class in the cost of service study prepared by Mr. Seelye (see Walker
Exhibit 8). The larger customers, those using 6,000 Mcf/year or more, were placed
into one group and those using less than 6,000 into another group. Of the 887
average number of customers in the large commercial/industrial class, only 31 used
6,000 Mcf or more but represented over 54 percent of the volumes delivered to the
class (Walker Exhibit 8, page 11). The unadjusted load factor of the larger
customers was nearly 40 percent as compared to 22 percent for the smaller
customers (Walker Exhibit 8, page 12). The most noticeable difference, however,
were the rates of return. The adjusted actual return for the larger customers was
20.18 percent as compared to a return of 7.76 percent for the smaller customers (see
Walker Exhibit 8, page I).

The monthly customer charge of $25.00 for the large commercial/industrial
customers 1s extremely out of balance with the customer-related cost of $101 (see
Seelye Exhibit 5). In an effort to move the monthly customer charge toward costs,
we are proposing to increase the monthly customer charge for this class from $25
per month to $50 per month.

The proposed rate design will address the cost of service differences between
customers resulting from their size, their load characteristics as well as their load
factors. As shown on page 1 of Walker Exhibit 8, the proposed rates produce a rate
of return of 11.99 percent for the under 6,000 Mcf/year customers and a return of

13.79 percent for the 6,000 Mcf and over group. Definitely, a better balance within

14




10

11

12

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

the class. The proposed rates will move the monthly customer charge toward cost,
will achieve the desired objective of increasing the large commercial/industrial class
revenues by a lesser percentage and attain a better balance between the rates of
return between the larger and smaller customers. In addition, the proposed pricing
structure, hopefully, will also address some of the concerns that the larger customers
within this class may opt to switch to the lower interruptible rate.

Interruptible Service

With respect to the interruptible class, the cost of service study clearly demonstrates
a need to reduce the revenues derived from this customer class. This class produces
a rate of return that 1s more than twice the return of the next highest class. In spite of
the high rate return, the cost of service study also indicated tha_t the customer-related
costs are nearly $460 per month as compared to a customer charge of $200. The
rates that we are proposing will move the monthly customer charge in the direction
of costs and will achieve the desired objective of modestly reducing the overall rate
level.

We believe the proposed allocation of the rate increase between rate classes as well
as the proposed rate design modifications are in the best interest of all consumers
since they provide some movement, albeit modest, toward cost-based rates.

DOES THIS COMPLETE YOUR TESTIMONY?

Yes.




Walker Exhibit 1

Gas Cost Recovery
Revenues
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Walker Exhibit 2

Adjustment to Reflect the
Current Rates for a Full Year




Delta Natural Gas Company, Inc.
Case No. 99-176
Adjustments to Reflect Current Rates for Full Year
and Rate Switching by Customers

Adjustment
Adjustment to Reflect
to Reflect Rate
Current Rates Switching Net Effect
for Full Year by Customers Both
(see page 3) {see page 4) Adjustments
REVENUE
General Service
Residential $ 42,919 42,919
Commercial - Small 11,370 11,370
Lg. Commercial & Industrial -
Retail Sales 17,227 17,227
Transportation 9,494 $ {105,345) {95,851)
Total Lg. Com. & Ind. _ 26,722 (105,345) (78,623)
Total General Service 81,011 (105,345) (24,334)
Interruptible Service
Retail Sales
Transportation
Total Interruptible Service
Special Contracts 104,167 104,167
Off-System Transportation
Total Sales and Transportation $ 81,011 $ (1,178) $ 79,833
Miscellaneous Service Revenues
Total Gas Operating Revenue $ 81,011 $ (1,178) $ 79,833
MCF
General Service
Residential
Commercial - Small
Lg. Commercial & Industrial
Retail Sales
Transportation (49,423) (49,423)
Total Lg. Com. & Ind. (49,423) (49,423)
Total General Service (49,423) (49,423)
Interruptible Service
Retail Sales
Transportation
Total Interruptible Service
Special Contracts 49,423 49,423

Off-System Transportation

Total Sales and Transportation - -

Walker Exhibit 2
Page 1
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Walker Exhibit 3

Verification of Test Period
Billing Determinants




REVENUE
General Service
Residential
Commercial - Small
Lg. Commercial & Industrial
Retail Sales
Transportation
Total Lg. Com. & ind.
Total General Service
Interruptible Service
Retail Sales
Transportation
Total Interruptible Service

Special Contracts
Off-System Transportation

Total Sales and Transportation
Miscellaneous Service Revenues
Total Gas Operating Revenue

MCF

General Service
Residential
Commercial - Small
Lg. Commercial & Industrial
Retail Sales
Transportation
Total Lg. Com. & Ind.
Total General Service

Interruptible Service
Retail Sales
Transportation
Total Interruptible Service

Special Contracts
Off-System Transportation

Total Sales and Transportation

Delta Natural Gas Company, Inc.
Calculations to Verify Test Period Billing Determinants

()

)

)

Current Rates

4)

(5

(6)

Elimination  for Full Year Column &
Actual Billed of GCR and Rate Calculated Net divided by
Revenue Revenues Switching Net Revenue Revenue Column 4
(Walker Ex. 1) (Walker EX. 2) (see page 2
18,296,074 (9,431,520) 42,919 8,907,472 8,912,369 1.00055
4,845,419 (2,446,952) 11,370 2,409,837 2,408,856 0.99959
6,944,686 (4,208,243) 17,227 2,753,670
1,469,977 (95.851) 1,374,126
8,414,662 (4,208,243) (78.623) 4,127,796 4,128,092 1.00007
31,556,155 (16,086,716) (24,334) 15,445,105
254,214 (173,321) 80,893
1,931,707 1,931,707
2,185,922 (173,321) 2,012,600 2,011,509 0.99946
511,666 104,167 615,833
451,990 451,990
34,705,733  (16,260,037) 79,833 18,525,528
152,009 152,009
34,857,742 (16,260,037) 79,833 18,677,537
2,142,320 2,142,320
553,669 553,669
966,462 966,462
756,019 (49,423) 706,596
1,722,481 (49,423) 1,673,058
4,418,470 (49,423) 4,369,047
39,805 39,805
1,391,510 1,391,510
1,431,315 1,431,315
1,755,567 49,423 1,804,990
1,404,111 1,404,111
9,009,463 - 9,009,463
Walker Exhibit 3

Page 1




Delta Natural Gas Company, Inc.

Calculations to Verify Test Period Billing Determinants

Residential - GS
Customer Charges

first 200 Mcf /mo.
Calculated Billings at Base Rates

Small Commercial - GS
Customer Charges

first 200 Mcf /mo.

next 800 Mcf /mo.

next 4000 Mcf /mo.

Calculated Billings at Base Rates

Large Commercial/lndustrial - GS
Customer Charges

first 200 Mcf /mo.

next 800 Mcf /mo.

next 4000 Mcf /mo.

next 5000 Mcf /mo.

over 10000 Mcf /mo.

Calculated Billings at Base Rates

Interruptible - IS
Customer Charges

first 1000 Mcf /mo.

next 4000 Mcf /mo.

next 5000 Mcf /mo.

over 10000 Mcf /mo.

Calculated Billings at Base Rates

Billing
Determinants

Cust.
385,336
Cust.

2,142,320

Cust.
49,417
Mcf
535,842
14,975
2,852
553,669

Cust.
10,644
Mcf
682,110
373,671
340,474
130,445
146,358

1,673,058

Cust.

527
Mcf

412,084
780,789
178,298
60,144
1,431,315

Present
Rates
per Cust,
$ 8.00
per Mct
$ 27212
per Cust.
$ 18.36
per Mcf
$ 27212
$ 25000
$ 21000
per Cust,
$ 25.00
per Mcf
$ 27212
$ 25000
$ 21000
$ 1.5000
$ 1.1000
per Cust,
$ 200.00
per Mcf
$ 1.7000
$ 1.3000
$ 0.9000
$ 0.5000

Calculated
Revenue
@ Present
Rates

3,082,688

5,829,681

$ 8912369

907,296

1,458,133
37,438
5,989

2,408,856

266,100

1,856,158
934,178
714,995
195,668
160,994

4,128,092

105,400

700,543
1,015,026
160,468
30,072
2,011,509

Walker Exhibit 3
Page 2




Walker Exhibit 4

Temperature Normalization Adjustment
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Walker Exhibit 5

Year End Adjustment
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Walker Exhibit 6

Summary of
Proposed Increase
By Rate Classes
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¢ Calculation of
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Application of Present and Proposed Rates
. To Test Period Billing Determinants
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Walker Exhibit 8

Analysis of
Large Commercial/Industrial
General Service Class




Delta Natural Gas Company, Inc.
Case No. 99-176
Analysis of Large Commercial/industrial General Service
. Large Commercial Large Commercial Large Commerclal
and industrial and Industrial and Industrial
Description (GS) GS (<6000 #yr) GS (>6000 fyr)
Net Operating Income — Adjusted Test Period
Operating Revenues See Page 11
Sales and Transportation 4,542,780 2,616,663 1,926,117
Miscelianeous Service Revenue 33,647 19,381 14,266
Total Operating Revenues $ 4,576,427 $ 2,636,044 $ 1,940,383
Expenses
Operation and Maintenance Expenses $ 1,564,971 $ 1,088,868 $ 476,103
Depreciation and Amortization Expenses 669,422 456,403 213,019
Other Taxes 230,034 156,318 73,717
Total Operating Expenses $ 2,464,427 $ 1,701,588 $ 762,838
Expense Adjustments
Year-End Adjustment 473 473 -
Eliminate Canada Mountain O&M Expenses (40,987) (21,354) (19,634)
Eliminate Canada Mountain Depr Expenses (6.897) (3,593) (3,304)
OT Expenses (7,182) (4,880) (2,302)
Payroll Expenses 27,268 16,665 10,602
Payroll Other Taxes - - -
Rate Case Expense 6,419 3,697 2,722
Eliminate Test-Year Expenses (33,489) (20,468) (13,021)
Customer Deposits 8,376 5,119 3,257
Medical Adjustment 18,201 11,124 7,077
Total Expense Adjustments $ (27,819) $ (13,217) $ (14,602)
Net Income Before Income Taxes $ 2,139,819 3 947672 $ 1,192,147
Income Taxes 606,716 214,541 392,174
Net Operating Income $ 1,533,103 $ 733,131 § 799,973
Net Cost Rate Base $ 13,416,984 $ 9,452,529 $ 3,964,454
IRate of Return — Actual 1 11.43%] 7.76%] 20.18%)
Net Operating Income - Adjusted For Increase
Test Year Operating Income $ 1,633,103 733,131 § 799,973
See Page 11
Proposed Increase $ 242,481 660,668 (418,188)
Income Taxes (@39.445) 95,647 260,600 (164,954)
Net Operating Income Adjusted for Increase 1,679,938 1,133,198 546,739
Net Cost Rate Base (Same as Actual) $ 13,416,984 9,452,529 $ 3,964,454
[Rate of Return — Proposed ] 12.52%] 11.99%] 13.79%]
Walker Exhibit 8
Large Commercial/Industrial Analysis Page 1
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Delta Natural Gas Company, Inc.

Case No. 99-176
Analysis of Large commercial/industrial General Service
Large Commercial Large Commercia!l Large Commercial
and Industrial and Industrial and Industrial
Description (GS) GS (<6000 tyr) GS (>6000 /)
Plant in Service
Gas Supply
Demand $ - $ - $ -
Commodity - - -
Total Gas Supply $ - $ - $ .
Storage
Demand $ 4,119,106 $ 2,146,002 $ 1,973,104
Commodity - - -
Total Storage $ 4,119,108 $ 2,146,002 $ 1,973,104
Transmission
Demand $ 8,236,665 $ 5,034,038 $ 3,202,627
Commodity - - -
Total Transmission $ 8,236,665 $ 5,034,038 $ 3,202,627
Distribution Other
Commaodity $ - $ - § -
Distribution Structures & Equipment
Demand $ 518,248 $ 316,740 $ 201,508
Distribution Mains
Demand $ 6,949,969 $ 3,636,468 $ 2,313,501
Customer 714,642 689,722 24,920
Total Distribution Mains $ 6,664,611 $ 4,326,190 $ 2,338,421
Services
Customer $ 251,765 $ 242,986 $ 8,779
Meters
Customer $ 4,130,683 $ 3,986,644 $ 144,040
Customer Accounts
Customer $ - $ - 8 -
Other Services
Customer $ - $ - $ -
Total $ 23,921,079 $ 16,052,601 $ 7,868,479
Walker Exhibit 8
Large Commercial/iIndustrial Analysis Page 2 \
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Deita Natural Gas Company, Inc.

Case No. 99-176
Analysis of Large Commercial/industrial General Service
Large Commerclal Large Commercial Large Commercial
and Industrial and Industrial and Industrial
Description (GS) GS (<6000 #yr) GS (>6000 fyr)
Rate Base
Gas Supply
Demand $ - $ - § -
Commodity - - -
Total Gas Supply $ - $ - 8 -
Storage
Demand $ 270,883 $ 141,127 $ 129,757
Commodity 4,360 2,272 2,089
Total Storage $ 275,244 $ 143,398 § 131,845
Transmission
Demand $ 4,996,833 $ 3,053,936 $ 1,942,897
Commodity - - -
Total Transmission $ 4,996,833 $ 3,053,936 $ 1,942,897
Distribution Other
Commaodity $ - $ - 8 -
Distribution Structures & Equipment
Demand $ 365,589 $ 223439 $ 142,151
Distribution Mains
Demand $ 4,170,846 $ 2,549,114 $ 1,621,732
Customer 500,954 483,486 17,469
Total Distribution Mains : $ 4,671,800 $ 3,032,599 §$ 1,639,201
Services
Customer $ 177,501 $ 171,312 $ 6,190
Meters
Customer $ 2,916,096 $ 2,814,408 $ 101,686
Customer Accounts
Customer $ 13,921 $ 13,436 $ 485
Other Services
Customer $ - $ - $ -
Total $ 13,416,984 $ 9,452,523 $ 3,964,454
Walker Exhibit 8
Large Commercial/Industrial Analysis Page 3
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Delta Natural Gas Company, Inc.
case No. 99-176
Analysis of Large Commercial/industrial General Service

Large Commercial Large Commercial Large Commercial
and Industrial and Industrial and Industrial
Description (GS) GS (<6000 /yr) GS (>6000 /yr)
Operation and Maintenance Expenses
Gas Supply
Demand $ - $ - $ -
Commodity - - -
Total Gas Supply $ - $ - $ -
Storage
Demand $ 171,309 $ 89250 $ 82,059
Commodity 34,683 18,069 16,614
Total Storage $ 205,992 $ 107,319 $ 98,673
Transmission
Demand $ 564,870 $ 345,234 § 219,636
Commodity - - -
Total Transmission $ 564,870 $ 345234 $ 219,636
Distribution Other
Commodity $ - $ - $ -
Distribution Structures & Equipment
Demand $ 30,610 $ 18,708 $ 11,902
Distribution Mains
Demand $ 336,959 $ 205941 $ 131,018
Customer 40,472 39,060 1,411
Total Distribution Mains $ 377,431 $ 245,001 § 132,430
Services
Customer $ 14,055 $ 13,565 $ 490
Meters
Customer $ 261,279 $ 252,168 $ 9,111
Customer Accounts
Customer . $ 110,734 $ 106,872 $ 3,861
Other Services
Customer $ - $ - 3 -
Total $ 1,564,971 $ 1,088,868 $ 476,103
Walker Exhibit 8
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Delta Natural Gas Company, Inc.
Case No. 99-176
Analysis of Large Commercial/industrial General Service
Large Commerclal Large Commercial Large Commercial
and Industrial and Industrial and Industrial
Description {GS) GS (<6000 /yr) GS (>6000 /yr)
Payroll Expenses
Gas Supply
Demand $ - $ - $ -
Commeodity - - -
Total Gas Supply o $ - $ - § -
Storage
Demand $ 121,894 $ 63,505 $ 58,389
Commodity 14,879 7,752 7,127
Total Storage $ 136,772 $ 71,257 $ 65,516
Transmission
Demand $ 302,931 $ 185,144 $ 117,787
Commodity - - -
Total Transmission $ 302,931 $ 185,144 $ 117,787
Distribution Other
Commodity $ - $ - $ -
Distribution Structures & Equipment
Demand $ 21,459 $ 13,116 § 8,344
Distribution Mains
Demand $ 246,367 $ 150,573 § 95,794
Customer 29,591 28,559 1,032
Total Distribution Mains $ 275,958 $ 179,132 $ 96,826
Services
Customer $ 10,425 $ 10,061 $ 364
Meters
Customer $ 177,846 $ 171,645 $ 6,202
Customer Accounts
Customer $ 42,393 $ 40915 $ 1,478
Other Services
Customer $ - $ - $ -
Total $ 967,785 $ 671,268 $ 296,516

Walker Exhibit 8
Large Commercial/industrial Analysis Page 5

INNNNNNNNNNNNN————




Delta Natural Gas Company, Inc.
Case No. 99-176

Analysis of Large Commercial/industrial General Service

Large Commercial Large Commercial Large Commercial
and Industrial and Industrial and Industrial
Description (GS) GS (<6000 /yr) GS (>6000 /yr)
Depreclation Expenses
Gas Supply
Demand $ - $ - -
Commodity - - -
Total Gas Supply $ - $ - -
Storage
Demand $ 32,247 $ 16,800 15,447
Commodity - - -
Total Storage $ 32,247 $ 16,800 15,447
Transmission
Demand $ 315,514 $ 192,834 122,680
Commodity - - -
Total Transmission $ 315,514 $ 192,834 122,680
Distribution Other
Commodity $ - $ - -
Distribution Structures & Equipment
Demand $ 14,414 $ 8,809 5,604
Distribution Mains
Demand $ 165,484 $ 101,140 64,344
Customer 19,876 19,183 693
Total Distribution Mains $ 185,360 $ 120,323 65,038
Services
Customer $ 7,002 $ 6,758 244
Meters
Customer $ 114,885 $ 110,879 4,006
Customer Accounts
Customer $ - $ - -
Other Services
Customer $ - $ - -
Total $ 669,422 $ 456,403 213,019

Large Commercial/industrial Analysis

Walker Exhibit 8
Page 6




Delta Natural Gas Company, inc.
case No. 99-176
Analysis of Large Commercial/industrial General Service

Large Commercial Large Commercial Large Commerclal
and Industrial and Industrial and Industrial
Description (GS) GS (<6000 /yr) GS (>6000 A1)
Other Taxes
Gas Supply
Demand $ - $ - $ -
Commodity - - -
Total Gas Supply $ - $ - 3 -
Storage
Demand $ 35,612 $ 18,6563 $ 17,059
Commodity 1,329 693 637
Total Storage $ 36,942 $ 19,246 $ 17,695
Transmission
Demand $ 76,499 $ 46,754 $ 29,745
Commodity - - -
Total Transmission $ 76,499 $ 46,754 $ 29,745
Distribution Other
Commodity $ - $ - § -
Distribution Structures & Equipment
Demand $ 5,028 $ 3073 $ 1,955
Distribution Mains
Demand $ 57,722 $ 35278 $ 22 444
Customer 6,933 6,691 o 242
Total Distribution Mains $ 64,655 $ 41,969 $ 22,685
Services
Customer $ 2,442 $ 2357 $ 85
Meters
Customer $ 40,681 $ 39,262 $ 1,419
Customer Accounts
Customer $ 3,788 $ 365 $ 132
Other Services
Customer $ - $ - $ -
Total $ 230,034 $ 156,318 $ 73,717
Walker Exhibit 8

Large Commercial/Industrial Analysis Page 7




Delta Natural Gas Company, Inc.
Case No. 99-176
Analysis of Large commercial/industrial General Service

Large Commercial Large Commercial Large Commercial
and Industrial and Industrial and Industrial
Description (GS) GS (<6000 fyr) GS (>6000 /yr)
Interest Expenses
Gas Supply
Demand $ - $ - 8 -
Commaodity - . .
Total Gas Supply $ - $ - 8 -
Storage
Demand $ 103,608 $ 53979 $ 49,630
Commodity - - -
Total Storage $ 103,608 $ 53979 $ 49,630
Transmission
Demand $ 207,177 $ 126,621 $ 80,556
Commodity - . -
Total Transmission $ 207,477 $ 126,621 $ 80,556
Distribution Other
Commodity $ - $ - $ -
Distribution Structures & Equipment
Demand $ 13,036 $ 7967 $ 5,069
Distribution Mains
Demand $ 149,660 $ 91,468 $ 68,192
Customer 17,975 17,349 627
Total Distribution Mains $ 167,635 $ 108,817 $ 58,818
Services
Customer $ 6,333 $ 6112 § 221
Meters
Customer $ 103,899 $ 100,276 $ 3,623
Customer Accounts
Customer $ - $ - $ -
Other Services
Customer $ - $ - $ -
Total $ 601,688 $ 403,772 $ 197,916
Walker Exhibit 8
Large Commercial/industrial Analysis Page 8
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Case No. 99-176

Delta Natural Gas Company, Inc.

Analysis of Large Commercial/Industrial General Service

Large Commercial Large Commercial Large Commercial
and Industrial and Industrial and industriat
Description (GS) GS (<6000 /yr) GS (>6000 /yr)
Allocation Factors
See Pages 10 through 12

Commodity
Gas Supply 1,842,984 883,010 959,974
Storage 997,769 519,825 477,944
Transmission 1,842,984 883,010 959,974
Distribution 1,842,984 883,010 959,974
Demand
Gas Supply 15,822 9,670 6,152
Storage (November-March) 997,769 519,825 477,944
Transmission 15,822 9,670 6,152
Distribution Structures 15,822 9,670 6,152
Distribution Mains 15,822 9,670 6,152
Customer
Distribution Mains 889 858 31
Services 163,584 148,228 5,356
Meters 1,261,491 1,217,502 43,989
Customer Count 889 858 31
Customer Accounts 3,656 3,432 124
Other Services 889 858 31
Taxable Income
Net income Before income Tax $ 2,139,819 947,672 1,192,147
Less: Interest Expense $ 601,688 403,772 197,916
Taxable Income $ 1,538,131 543,900 994,231
Meters Aliocation Factor
Number of Customers 889 858 31
Average Cost Per Meter 1,419 1,419 1,419
Meter Cost 1,261,491 1,217,502 43,989
Services Allocation Factor
Number of Customers 889 858 31
Average Cost Per Service 172.76 172.76 172.76
Services Cost 153,584 148,228 5,356
Year-End Adjustment 2,640 2,640

Large Commercial/Industrial Analysis

Wwalker Exhibit 8
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COMMONWEALTH OF KENTUCKY
BEFORE THE PUBLIC SERVICE COMMISSION

IN THE MATTER OF AN ADJUSTMENT )
OF RATES OF DELTA NATURAL ) CASE NO. 99-176
GAS COMPANY, INC. )

DIRECT TESTIMONY OF

MARTIN J. BLAKE




AFFIDAVIT

The affiant, Martin J. Blake, being duly sworn, deposes and states that the prepared
testimony attached hereto and made a part hereof, constitutes the prepared Direct Testimony of
this affiant in Case No. 99-176, in the matter of: Adjustment of Gas Service Rates of Delta
Natural Gas Company, Inc. and that if asked the questions propounded therein, this affiant
would make the answers set forth in the attached prepared Direct Testimony.

Affiant further states that he will be present and available for cross-examination and for
such additional direct examination as may be appropriate at any hearing in Case No. 99-176
scheduled by the Commission, at which time affiant will further reaffirm the attached testimony
as his Direct Testimony in such case.

Martin J. Blake ™

STATE OF KENTUCKY )
)
COUNTY OF JEFFERSON )

Subsi:ribed and swom to before me by maﬁU\S : 6‘ are. , this the
A5 dayof _ June , 1999.

Elizabeth Andriot

My Commission Expires: Notary Public, State at Large, KY
My Commission Expires July T4, 2002

Blgmetndeel

Notary Public, State at Large, Kentucky
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COMMONWEALTH OF KENTUCKY

BEFORE THE PUBLIC SERVICE COMMISSION

IN THE MATTER OF
GENERAL ADJUSTMENT OF GAS )
SERVICE RATES OF DELTA ) CASE NO. 99-176
NATURAL GAS COMPANY, INC. )

DIRECT TESTIMONY OF DR. MARTIN J. BLAKE

PLEASE STATE YOUR NAME AND BUSINESS ADDRESS.

My name is Martin J. Blake. My business address is 6711 Fallen Leaf, Louisville,
Kentucky 40241.

BY WHOM AND IN WHAT CAPACITY ARE YOU EMPLOYED?

I am a Member and Principal of The Prime Group, LLC. The Prime Group provides
consulting services in the areas of marketing, market research, rate and regulatory
support, training, and strategic planning for energy industry clients. The Prime Group is
focused on helping clients to prepare for the transition to a more competitive utility
industry environment.

Professional Qualifications & Experience

PLEASE DESCRIBE YOUR EDUCATIONAL BACKGROUND.
I received my Ph.D. in Agricultural Economics in 1976 from the University of Missouri,
Columbia. My doctoral work centered on the areas of marketing and econometrics. I

also hold a Master of Arts in Economics from the University of Missouri, Columbia,
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which I received in 1972. In addition, I received a Bachelor of Arts degree in Economics
from Illinois Benedictine College in 1970.

IN WHAT AREAS DOES YOUR PRACTICE CONCENTRATE?

As a member of The Prime Group, I have prepared and filed Order No. 888 and Order
No. 889 compliance filings at the Federal Energy Regulatory Commission (“FERC”) for a
number of electric utilities as well as Order No. 888 and Order No. 889 waiver requests
for other utilities. I have prepared market power analyses in support of market-based rate
filings at FERC for utilities and their marketing affiliates, as well as assisting other utilities
with their market-based rate filings. I have also assisted several utilities in addressing both
FERC and state affiliate transactions concerns and have provided training regarding
standards of conduct. I have assisted utilities with developing strategic marketing plans
and implementing these plans. I have provided utility clients with assistance regarding
regulatory policy, strategy and liaison; state and federal regulatory filing development,
testimony and support; cost of service development and support; the development of
innovative rates to achieve strategic objectives; the unbundling of rates and the
development of menus of rate alternatives for use with customers; performance-based rate
and incentive rate development; and energy marketing and brokering capability
development. 1 have made presentations to train account executives in sales and customer
negotiation, as well as presentations in ratemaking and utility finance seminars and
workshops regarding basic utility marketing. I have provided marketing, market research
and marketing support services for utility clients and have assisted them in assessing their

marketing capabilities and processes.
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PLEASE BRIEFLY SUMMARIZE YOUR AREAS OF PROFESSIONAL
EXPERIENCE PRIOR TO JOINING THE PRIME GROUP.

I have professional experience as an economist and professor of economics, as a utility
regulator, and as a utility manager and executive.

PLEASE DESCRIBE YOUR PROFESSIONAL EXPERIENCE AS AN ECONOMIST.
From January 1977 to December 1986, I was employed first as an Assistant Professor,
then as an Associate Professor, and finally as a Professor of Agricultural Economics at
New Mexico State University in Las Cruces, New Mexico ("NMSU"). I was the head of
the undergraduate program and taught economics, agricultural economics and
econometrics. While at NMSU, I also worked as a consultant for various clients,
providing price forecasting, load forecasting, and marketing services. Since 1992, I have
taught mathematical economics and econometrics as an Adjunct Professor in the
Economics Department at the University of Louisville. Prior to my joining the faculty at
NMSU, I served in the U. S. Army as an instructor of economics, statistics, and
accounting at the U. S. Army Institute of Administration at Fort Benjamin Harrison,
Indianapolis, Indiana.

I also have a variety of experience with the application of economics to utility public
policy issues. In addition to my experience as a utility regulator and executive, which I
describe below, I have taught ratemaking for utilities at the NARUC Annual Regulatory
Studies Program at Michigan State University since 1993. From May 1983 to August
1983, while on a sabbatical leave from NMSU, I served as a Policy Analyst for the

Assistant Secretary for Land and Water at the U. S. Department of Interior.
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PLEASE DESCRIBE YOUR PROFESSIONAL EXPERIENCE AS A UTILITY
REGULATOR.

From January 1987 to November 1990, I served as a Commissioner and as the Chairman
of the New Mexico Public Service Commission. As a Commissioner, my duties included
making policy and adjudicatory decisions regarding rates, terms of service, financing,
certificates of public convenience and necessity, and complaints for electric, gas, water,
and sewer utilities. As Chairman, I supervised a staff of thirty-two professionals and
sixteen support staff. During my tenure on the New Mexico Commission, I also served as
Chairman of the Western Conference of Public Service Commissioners Electric
Committee and as Chairman of the Committee on Regional Electric Power Cooperation, a
group composed of state public service commissioners and representatives from the state
energy offices of the thirteen western states.

As a Commissioner, I interpreted legislation, reviewed prior Commission cases to
determine the precedents that they provided, drafted rules and regulations, wrote Orders,
conducted hearings, ruled on motions, and served as an arbitrator in alternative dispute
resolution proceedings. Although I do not have a law degree, I performed adjudicatory
and regulatory functions for the four years that I served on the Commission.

PLEASE DESCRIBE YOUR PROFESSIONAL EXPERIENCE AS A UTILITY
MANAGER.

From December, 1990 to June 1996, I was employed by Louisville Gas and Electric
Company ("LG&E"). Initially, I served as LG&E's Director of Regulatory Planning. In

this position, I was responsible for coordinating all of LG&E's state and federal regulatory
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efforts, and prepared and presented testimony to regulators. In performing my duties in
the federal regulatory area, I performed the market power analysis in LG&E’s original
market-based rate filing at the FERC, which was one of the first applications of the “hub
and spoke” methodology that the FERC now uses in assessing generation market
dominance in market-based rate filings; supervised the preparation of the market-based
rate filings; and served as LG&E’s principal witness in this case. I also helped develop the
electronic bulletin board that the FERC required as a condition for approving the market-
based tariff. Additionally, I helped to develop LG&E’s comparable transmission tariff
filing, which provided third parties with access to LG&E’s transmission system at the
same price, terms and conditions as LG&E. This was the first tariff providing comparable
transmission service that was filed and approved by the FERC and was filed before Order
No. 888 was issued by FERC. In this comparable transmission tariff filing, I served as
LG&E’s principal witness and negotiated the settlement in this case with FERC staff.
When LG&E Power Marketing filed for the ability to charge market-based rates, I helped
to develop the codes of conduct that were submitted to the FERC as a part of the filing.
My areas of responsibility were expanded in April 1994 to include marketing and strategic
planning. As the Director, Marketing, Planning and Regulatory Affairs, I was responsible
for coordinating LG&E's retail gas and electric marketing, strategic planning, and state
and federal regulatory efforts. I continued to be employed in that capacity at LG&E until
June 1996, when I joined the Prime Group as one of its Principals.

PLEASE DESCRIBE THE INDUSTRY GROUPS IN WHICH YOU HAVE

PARTICIPATED.
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A:

I have served on several regional transmission coordination groups such as the
Interregional Transmission Coordination Forum, and the General Agreement on Parallel
Paths, as well as the following committees of the Edison Electric Institute ("EEI") --
Economics and Public Policy Executive Advisory Committee, Strategic Planning
Executive Advisory Committee, Transmission Task Force, and Power Supply Policy
Technical Task Force. Recently, I have worked with a group of utilities developing the
Midwest ISO.

HAVE YOU TAUGHT ANY COURSES OR SEMINARS IN THE AREA OF UTILITY
RESTRUCTURING?
Yes. In addition to teaching ratemaking for electric utilities at the NARUC Annual
Regulatory Studies Program since 1993, I have also taught a course regarding the
institutions and organizations of the new electric utility industry. Each year, I also teach
and conduct numerous workshops and programs, and deliver invited presentations to
utility managers and regulators on a variety of subjects including industry restructuring.
IN WHICH CASES HAVE YOU PREVIOUSLY TESTIFIED?
I testified before the Kentucky Public Service Commission in the rehearing in Case No. 90-
158, an LG&E rate case; in Case No. 92-494, a biennial fuel adjustment clause review; in
Case No. 93-150, an application for approval of a DSM cost recovery mechanism and a set
of initial programs; in Case No. 94-332, an application for an environmental cost recovery
mechanism; in case No. 92-494-B, regarding the confidentiality of coal bid data; and in
case No. 95-455, a biannual review of the environmental cost recovery mechanism. I

participated in the conference to review LG&E's first integrated resource plan in Case No.
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91-423 and testified in a number of fuel adjustment clause proceedings. I also testified on
behalf of Blazer Energy Corp. in Case No. 98-489 which was an application for an
adjustment in rates.

I prepared and filed testimony before the FERC in cases ER92-533, in which LG&E
provided open transmission access and also received authority to charge market-based rates
for its generation, and ER 94-1380, the first comparability tariff which was approved by the
FERC. I prepared and filed rebuttal testimony in Cause No. PUD 960000116, Oklahoma
Gas and Electric Company’s last rate case before the Oklahoma Corporation Commission.
In that case, I rebutted intervenor and staff proposals to disallow certain marketing,
advertising, economic development and research and development expenses. I have
prepared and filed direct and rebuttal testimony for Southern California Edison Company in
Case Number 90-12-018 (phase 5). In this testimony, I reviewed the reasonableness of
contracting by Southern California Edison with Integrated Energy Group (IEG) to provide
marketing services to Southern California Edison and the reasonableness of the resulting
marketing services performed by IEG. I prepared and filed direct and rebuttal testimony for
Oklahoma Gas and Electric in Arkansas Public Service Commission Docket No. 96-360-U
regarding recovery of stranded cost by Entergy Arkansas, Inc. In this testimony, I
recommended recovery of 100% of stranded costs at such time as costs are actually
stranded. I also testified before the New Mexico Public Utility Commission in Docket No.
2797, a general rate case for Plains Electric Generation and Transmission Cooperative,

Inc.

I testified in Illinois Commerce Commission (“ICC”) Dockets 98-0013 and 98-0035, which
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were concerned with ensuring non-discrimination with regard to affiliate transactions for
electric utilities. In this case, I sponsored ComEd’s proposed affiliate transactions rules and
suggested some basic principles that the Illinois Commerce Commission should follow in
developing rules and regulations for ensuring non-discrimination and non-cross
subsidization in transactions with affiliated and unaffiliated alternative retail electric
suppliers (ARES). I testified in ICC Docket 98-0036, which was a rulemaking to develop
rules and regulations for assessing and assuring the reliability of the transmission and
distribution systems as a part of electric utility restructuring in Illinois. I also testified in
Dockets 98-0147 and 98-0148 which were concerned with developing standards of
conduct and rules for functional separation. In this case, I sponsored ComEd’s proposed
standards of conduct and functional separation rules.

WHAT IS THE PURPOSE OF YOUR TESTIMONY IN THIS PROCEEDING?

Delta Natural Gas Company, Inc. ("Delta") engaged The Prime Group to conduct an
analysis of and to provide a recommendation regarding the appropriate cost of common
equity for application to Delta’s original cost rate base. My testimony contains the results
of this analysis and identifies the fair rate of return on equity that Delta should be given
the opportunity to earn during the period when the new rates will be in effect. My analysis
utilizes commonly accepted financial valuation techniques and incorporates the factors
that affect Delta’s overall investment risk.

IS THERE A PUBLIC BENEFIT TO PROVIDING NATURAL GAS SERVICE TO
RURAL AREAS?

Yes. If natural gas service is available in an area, customers have a choice whether to use
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natural gas or electricity for particular applications. Customers’ ability to switch between
natural gas and electricity helps to keep downward pressure on the prices of both
products. Furthermore, the availability of natural gas service can help in attracting
industrial loads to an area and thus assist in economic development efforts. However, if
natural gas service is to be provided to rural areas, the companies providing such service
must have the opportunity to earn adequate returns or they will no longer be able and
willing to provide such servicé.

HOW SHOULD THE RATE OF RETURN BE DETERMINED UNDER PUBLIC
UTILITY REGULATION?

The purpose of public utility regulation with respect to rate of return is to permit a utility
to earn its cost of capital while avoiding monopoly profits. Long-run earnings above the
cost of capital would imply monopoly profits, while long-run earnings below the cost of
capital would impair a utility’s ability to attract capital on reasonable terms. A rate of
return based on a utility’s cost of capital is consistent with the guidelines established by
the U.S. Supreme Court in Bluefield Water Works & Improvement Co. v. Public Service
Commission of West Virginia, 262 U.S. 679 (1923) and Federal Power Commission v.
Hope Natural Gas Company, 320 U.S. 591 (1944). These cases require that a utility be
allowed to earn a rate of return that: 1) is comparable to alternative investment
opportunities of corresponding risk, 2) will permit capital attraction on reasonable terms,
and 3) will maintain a utility’s financial integrity.

IS AN OPPORTUNITY TO EARN A FAIR RATE OF RETURN THE SAME AS A

GUARANTEE TO EARN A FAIR RATE OF RETURN?
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No. Having an opportunity to earn a fair rate of return allows for more uncertainty than
does having a guarantee to earn a fair rate of return. A guarantee of earning a fair return
would imply no variability in the rate of return, with the utility earning the specified rate
of return every year. An opportunity to earn a fair rate of return implies that a utility has a
reasonable assurance that it will be allowed to earn a rate of return that is sufficient to
attract capital, that will maintain its financial integrity and that is comparable to the return
earned by alternative investments of comparable risk. While factors such as temperature
variability and changes in the number of customers may result in an actual rate of return
that is higher or lower than the allowed rate of return in any given year, a utility that
consistently earns less than the allowed rate of return or which has averaged significantly
less than the allowed rate of return for a long period of time cannot be said to have a
reasonable assurance of earning the allowed rate of return. Thus, an assurance of earning a
fair and reasonable rate of return could be viewed statistically as the arithmetic average of
a series of returns over a period of time equaling the allowed rate of return. The problem
with this approach is that, if there is significant variability in the returns, several years of
earning below the allowed rate of return could cause severe financial harm to a utility
while waiting for the years of above average returns to materialize. Thus, it may make
sense for regulators to not only deal with the mean value of the distribution of returns, as
they do when they set the allowed rate of return in a rate case, but to also deal with the
variability of the returns through some alternative regulatory mechanism.

WOULD YOU REGARD DELTA’S CURRENT RATES AS PROVIDING AN
OPPORTUNITY TO EARN AN ADEQUATE RETURN FOR PROVIDING NATURAL

10
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GAS SERVICE TO RURAL AREAS?

No, I do not. In December, 1997 the Commission issued an Order in Case No. 97-066
which set new rates for Delta which became effective in January, 1998. In this case, the
Commission allowed a return on common equity of 11.6%. However, Exhibit MJB-2
shows that Delta actually earned a return of 8.22% during the first year that these new
rates were in effect. Additionally, Delta had a payout ratio of nearly 110% during 1998. In
fact, Delta has had a payout ratio of greater than 100% in 6 of the last 10 years with an
average payout of 105%. Such a payout ratio cannot be maintained in the long run.
Admittedly, in the current regulatory framework, when the Commission sets rates, it
provides a company with the opportunity to earn a rate of return, it does not guarantee that
a given rate of return will be eamed. However, Delta’s return on equity has averaged
10.1% over the last 10 years, and this, combined with the payout history and the return on
equity that Delta earned in 1998 during the first year that the new rates were in effect,
does not indicate to me that Delta has a sufficient opportunity to earn the allowed rate of
return.

WHAT FACTORS DO YOU BELIEVE HAVE CAUSED DELTA TO UNDER EARN
COMPARED TO ITS ALLOWED RATE OF RETURN ON EQUITY?

I believe that there are three factors: 1) Delta’s equity is low as a percentage of total
capitalization, 2) Delta’s predominantly rural service terrtory, and 3) weather variability.
PLEASE DESCRIBE DELTA’S EQUITY AS A PERCENTAGE OF TOTAL
CAPITALIZATION COMPARED TO OTHER NATURAL GAS DISTRIBUTION
COMPANIES.

11
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Exhibit MJB-1 shows the common equity ratios for a panel of 29 natural gas distribution

utilities. The data was taken from a report titled Natural Gas Industry Summary Monthly

Financial & Common Stock Information published by Edward Jones. The first column of
data contains the reported capitalization of the company which consists of long term debt
and common equity. The short term debt reported in the second column is not included in
the capitalization reported in the first column. The third column shows common equity as
a percentage of long term debt and equity. The mean percentage of equity calculated on
this basis is 51% with a median of 50%. The capitalization for Delta that is utilized in this
proceeding includes short term capital as well as long term capital and common equity. To
provide the percentage of equity for the panel based on a capitalization including short
term debt, the short term debt in column two was added to the capitalization reported in
column one to get total capitalization. Equity as a percentage of total capitalization was
calculated by dividing the company’s common equity by the capitalization which included
short term debt. This calculation resulted in the data reported as the new equity percentage
in the last column of Schedule 1. The ratio of common equity to total capitalization of
30.6% for Delta is consistent with the original capital structure from the test year that is
utilized in this proceeding. The mean percentage of common equity relative to total
capitalization of the panel is 43.2% with a median of 43.9%. It should be noted that
Delta’s percentage of common equity relative to total capitalization is the second lowest
in the panel which makes Delta more heavily leveraged than other natural gas distribution
utilities.

DOES A LOW PERCENTAGE OF EQUITY RELATIVE TO TOTAL

12
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CAPITALIZATION MAKE DELTA A RISKIER INVESTMENT?

Yes. The more debt that a firm has as a part of its total capitalization, the greater are the
fixed interest payments that the firm will have to make to bond holders out of any given
revenue stream that it generates. A company is required to make payments to the bond
holders in specified amounts at specified times, while it is under no such obligation to its
common equity holders. Thus, the more equity the firm has, the greater is its ability to
weather revenue fluctuations. However, this flexibility comes at a cost, as equity is more
expensive than debt because of the greater risk that shareholders bear. As a company’s
business environment becomes riskier and its business risk becomes greater, the company
should increase its equity and lower its debt ratio. By reducing its debt ratio, its fixed
obligations to bond holders would be reduced and the company would be better able to
manage the financial fluctuations that result from a riskier business environment.
Furthermore, a utility’s equity ratio must be high enough to allow additional debt capital
to be issued without an adverse effect on its credit rating. This would be consistent with

the criteria established in the Bluefield and Hope cases that the rate of return be sufficient

to permit capital attraction on reasonable terms. If the capital structure does not permit
some margin for additional debt financing at all times, a utility is subject to the potential
adverse impact of unanticipated tight credit conditions, thus making it a riskier
investment. Because I believe that Delta’s existing capital structure would make it
difficult to secure additional debt financing on reasonable terms, it is my opinion that the
Commission needs to allow a higher rate of return that will permit Delta to improve its
equity ratio.

13
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HOW WOULD DELTA’S LOW EQUITY RATIO AFFECT THE RETURN ON
EQUITY THAT IT EARNS?

Because Delta is about 70% debt financed, its fixed obligations to bondholders are high,
thus exacerbating the impact on the return on equity resulting from any revenue
reductions that Delta might experience.

HOW WOULD DELTA’S PREDOMINANTLY RURAL SERVICE TERRITORY
AFFECT THE RETURN ON EQUITY THAT IT EARNS?

Delta serves an area that is predominantly rural with low population density. This low
population density results in higher fixed cost per customer for serving rural areas
compared to the fixed cost per customer incurred in an urban area. This higher fixed cost
per customer results from both a higher cost of installing the pipe needed to serve a
customer and the higher cost of maintaining the lines. Additionally, Delta has been adding
customers at a rapid rate, as demonstrated in Exhibit-MJB3. These customer additions
result in significant additional fixed cost being added before any additional revenue is
generated. Thus, the high fixed cost per customer combined with customer growth is
putting financial pressure on Delta through these fixed cost additions. Furthermore, these
rural customers tend to have a lower annual usage and a larger proportion of temperature
sensitive load than urban customers. This relatively high fixed cost to serve small highly
temperature sensitive loads translates to a higher fixed cost burden for Delta and a more
variable revenue stream. The higher fixed costs resulting from operations compounds the
problem of high fixed obligations to bond holders resulting from a low equity ratio, and
exacerbates the impact on the return on equity resulting from any revenue reductions that

14
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Delta might experience. Thus, the low population density in rural areas that results in a
higher fixed cost burden for Delta with more variability in the return stream due to the
large amount of temperature sensitive load for these rural customers makes Delta a riskier
investment. This added risk would justify a higher rate of return to compensate for the
additional risk. Because I have not quantified the separate impact on rate of return
resulting from the rural character of Delta’s service territory, I would suggest accounting
for the impacts of this risk factor by using an allowed rate of return in the high end of the
reasonable range of returns based on my analysis.

HOW WOULD WEATHER VARIABILITY AFFECT THE RETURN ON EQUITY
THAT DELTA EARNS?

Because a large portion of Delta’s load is space conditioning and is very temperature
sensitive, a warmer than normal heating season results in significantly reduced revenue
and earnings while a cooler than normal heating season results in increased revenue and
earnings. This impact can be seen on page 1 of Exhibit MJB-2. The earnings available for
common equity fluctuate widely from a 111% increase in 1992 to a 35% decrease in
1997. It should be noted that the earnings available for common equity in 1998 of
$2,451,272 is still below the 1996 level of earnings available for common equity even
though it represents a 42% increase over 1997. The 1998 level is also below the earnings
available-for common equity in 1993 and 1994. Thus, temperature variability has a major
effect on the return on equity that Delta actually earns.

ARE THERE ANY REMEDIES THAT CAN BE APPLIED TO CORRECT FOR THE
THREE FACTORS AFFECTING DELTA’S EARNINGS THAT YOU HAVE

15
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DESCRIBED ABOVE?

Yes. There are potential remedies for two of the three factors that I have described above.
With regard to Delta’s low percentage of equity, there are two potential remedies. The
first is to use an imputed capital structure and the second is to incorporate a leverage
premium into the rate of return if an imputed capital structure is not used. With regard to
the impact of weather variability on earnings and on return on equity, a temperature
normalization adjustment can be utilized. However, a temperature normalization
adjustment will not correct for the rural nature of Delta’s service territory and the higher
fixed costs that result. These characteristics of Delta’s operation, which increase its risk,
should be reflected by a rate of return in the high end of the acceptable range in
calculating Delta’s cost of equity.

PLEASE EXPLAIN HOW AN IMPUTED CAPITAL STRUCTURE COULD BE
UTILIZED TO ADJUST FOR THE EFFECT OF DELTA’S LOW EQUITY RATIO.
Currently, Delta has a capital structure consisting of 30% common equity. As discussed
above, this is significantly lower than the industry average. If an imputed capital structure
is utilized in determining Delta’s revenue requirement, I would recommend an imputed
capital structure consisting of 43.5% common equity and 56.5% debt. I arrived at my
recommendation of utilizing 43.5% common equity by taking the midpoint between the
mean of 43.2% and the median of 43.9% in Exhibit MJB-1. Based on my experience, an
equity ratio of 43.5% would be reasonable, but would lie in the low end of the reasonable
range. As additional verification of the reasonableness of this imputed capital structure, in
their article evaluating utility capital structures, Brigham, Gapenski, and Aberwald noted

16
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that:
The data did not permit analysis outside the 42.5 to 54 percent debt
ratio range, so we cannot state exactly what would happen to
interest rates if debt were below 42.5 or above 54 percent. (Eugene

F. Brigham, Louis C. Gapenski and Dana A. Aberwald, "Capital
Structure, Cost of Capital, and Revenue Requirements", Public

Utilities Fortnightly, January 8, 1987, p. 18)
The 56.5% debt that I am recommending as a part of the imputed capital structure would
lie above the top end of the range in which adequate data was available for the statistical
work described in the Brigham, Gapenski and Aberwald article.
PLEASE EXPLAIN HOW A LEVERAGE PREMIUM COULD BE UTILIZED TO
ADJUST FOR THE EFFECT OF DELTA’S LOW EQUITY RATIO.
If an imputed capital structure is not utilized, a premium could be added to the return on
equity to adjust for Delta’s high level of debt. The magnitude of such an adjustment can
be derived from the Brigham, Gapenski and Aberwald article which states that:

The basis change is smaller toward the high end of the equity ratio

range, so an increase in equity from 49 to 50 per cent would only

lower the cost of equity by about seven basis points, but an increase

in the ratio from 40 to 41 per cent would lower the cost of equity by

about 15 basis points. (Brigham, Gapenski and Aberwald, p. 23)
The imputed capital structure that I recommend would increase the percentage of equity
from 30% to 43.5% which would make the 15 basis point per one percent change in
equity a reasonable, and possibly a conservative, estimate of the leverage premium that
should be used. The leverage premium that would provide the same result as a 13.5%

increase in the imputed capital structure would be 202.5 basis points. Thus, if an imputed

capital structure is not used, a leverage premium of about 2% should be added to the
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allowed rate of return to adjust for Delta’s low percentage of equity.

PLEASE EXPLAIN HOW A TEMPERATURE NORMALIZATION ADJUSTMENT
COULD BE UTILIZED TO ADJUST FOR THE EFFECT OF TEMPERATURE
VARIABILITY.

Although a temperature normalization has been employed historically in determining the
revenue requirement and in calculating rates, a temperature normalization has not been
applied to the rates prospectively to adjust for the vagaries of weather. Without a
temperature normalization incorporated into the rates as they are applied prospectively,
Delta is subject to the earnings and return on equity variations shown in Exhibit MJB-2.
Temperature normalizing to caiculate the rates but not to apply them in essence amounts
to a bet that normal temperature will occur with Delta experiencing significant financial
distress if warmer than normal weather occurs. Delta’s low equity ratio and high fixed
operating costs have the effect of magnifying the impact of this temperature variability. 1
recommend the use of a temperature normalization adjustment in Delta’s rates to adjust
for the significant impact that weather has on its earnings and return on equity.

HOW WOULD YOU ASSESS THE BUSINESS ENVIRONMENT WITHIN WHICH
DELTA OPERATES?

Beginning with Order No. 436 and continuing through Order Nos. 500 and 636, the
Federal Energy Regulatory Commission (FERC) established competition in the
transportation of natural gas and allowed large customers and local distribution companies
to purchase natural gas directly from producers. Currently, some state regulatory
commissions are unbundling natural gas service at the retail level and are beginning to
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allow retail competition in natural gas. Competition at the retail level increases the
business risk for natural gas distribution companies. Additionally, Delta provides natural
gas service in a service territory that substantially overlaps the electric service territory of
Kentucky Utilities Company, which has some of the lowest electric rates in the nation.
This direct competition with a low cost electric utility also increases Delta’s business risk.
Finally, Delta is a small company with a capitalization that would fall in the micro-cap

stock range as defined in the Stocks, Bonds, Bills and Inflation 1999 Yearbook published

by Ibbotson Associates. A micro-cap stock includes companies with market
capitalizations at or below $252,109,000 (Ibbotson, p. 137).

IS A HIGHER RISK PREMIUM AND THUS A HIGHER ALLOWED RATE OF
RETURN APPROPRIATE FOR SMALL COMPANIES?

Yes. There are several sources that indicate that a size premium is appropriate for smaller
companies. Fama and French reported that:

If assets are priced rationally, our results suggest that stock risks are
multidimensional. One dimension of risk is proxied by size, ME.
Another dimension of risk is proxied by BE/ME, the ratio of the
book value of common equity to its market value. (Eugene F. Fama
and Kenneth R. French, "The Cross-Section of Expected Stock
Returns", The Journal of Finance, Vol. 47, June, 1992, p. 428.)

Fama and French went on to report that:

The size effect (smaller stocks have higher average returns) is thus
robust in the 1963-1990 returns on NYSE, AMEX, and NASDAQ
stocks. In contrast to the consistent explanatory power of size, the
FM [Fama-MacBeth] regressions show that market § does not help
éxplain average stock returns for 1963-1990. (Fama and French, p.
438)

Regarding this size effect, Ibbotson stated that:
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The betas for small companies tend to be larger than those for
larger companies; however, they do not account for all of the risks
faced by investors in small companies. This premium can be added
directly to the results obtained using the CAPM... . (Stocks, Bonds,
Bills and Inflation 1999 Yearbook, Ibbotson Associates, p. 161

Ibbotson goes on to quantify the expected micro-capitalization equity size premium as
2.6% as shown in Exhibit MJB-6. Not only does Delta fall within the micro-capitalization
group as defined by Ibbotson, but as can be seen from Exhibit MJB-1, Delta has one of
the smallest total capitalizations of the investor owned natural gas distribution companies
in the panel. Thus, small companies such as Delta are riskier than companies with larger
capitalizations and a higher rate of return on equity would be appropriate for such
companies.

PLEASE DESCRIBE THE DISCOUNTED CASH FLOW (DCF) METHOD FOR
ESTIMATING THE APPROPRIATE RETURN ON EQUITY.

The DCF method for estimating an appropriate return on equity is based on the following
equation, which defines the long run expected return (the appropriate return on equity) as

the discount rate that equates the stock price with the stream of expected future dividends:

S W S S
C(+k) (4R (Q+k) T

Equation 1: P

where,
P = the price of the stock,
D, = the dividend in year i, and
k = the discount rate or expected long run return.

If dividends grow at a constant rate, g, the dividend in each period can be expressed as a
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function of the dividend in the immediately preceding period multiplied by the growth

rate, so that:

D,=Dg,
D,= Dg’,
D, =Dg"'

By substituting and solving as the sum of an infinite geometric series, the constant growth

form of the DCF equation can be expressed as:

D1
Equation 2: =—+
q p g

Although the assumption of constant growth may be reasonable for utilities that come
close to approximating the assumption of constant growth, it is not appropriate for a
utility that is experiencing changes in the rate of growth. When there are changes in the
growth rate, a multistage form of the DCF model is more appropriate. The two-stage DCF
model allows dividends to grow at the growth rate currently reported by analysts in the
first stage and to grow dividends at the same nominal rate as the industry or the national
economy as a whole in the second stage. This assumes that over time the rate of growth
for a company will tend toward the growth rate for the industry as a whole. Currently,
Delta is tracked by only two analysts, one from Hilliard Lyons and one from Edward
Jones. The two-stage DCF model utilizes the analysts growth rates as well as a composite
growth rate for the natural gas distribution industry obtained from Ibbotson’s Cost of
Capital Quarterly, which is calculated using estimates from analysts from over 200 firms.

Thus, the two-stage DCF model applies a broader base of information to the task of
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calculating Delta’s cost of capital. The two-stage DCF model assumes that dividends grow
at the analyst’s projected growth rate during the first stage and grow at the expected
growth rate for the industry as a whole in the second stage. After the estimated dividend
stream for a sufficiently long period is generated using the growth rates employed in the
two-stage DCF model, the dividend estimates and the current stock price are substituted
into equation 1 above which is solved iteratively for k, the estimated return on equity.
DO YOU BELIEVE THAT THE CONSTANT GROWTH FORM OF THE DCF
MODEL SHOULD BE USED IN DETERMINING DELTA’S ALLOWED RETURN
ON EQUITY?

No. Looking at Exhibit MJB-2, the percentage change in dividends per share has been
variable and has not been growing at a constant rate. Furthermore, the underlying
financial variables exhibit tremendous variability. The percentage change in the earnings
available for common stock range from a high of 111% to a low of -35%. The percentage
change in the earnings per share range from a high of 108% to a low of -47%. Such
variation in dividends per share and in the underlying financial data are not consistent
with an assumption of constant growth that is the key assumption in the constant growth
form of the DCF model.

WHAT WOULD THE CONSTANT GROWTH FORM OF THE DCF MODEL YIELD
AS AN EXPECTED RETURN ON EQUITY FOR DELTA?

The results of the constant growth DCF model are shown on page 1 of Exhibit MIB-4.
The expected growth rate of 3% for Delta was obtained from a Hilliard Lyons Analyst
report dated March 11, 1998 and the expected growth rate of 2% for Delta was obtained
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from an Edward Jones Analyst report dated March 3, 1999. Delta’s stock price quote for
May 28, 1999, annual dividend, 52 week high and 52 week low were obtained from the
NASDAQ/AMEX web site. The expected natural gas distribution industry growth rate
was obtained from Cost of Capital Quarterly, Ibbotson Associates, March, 1999. The
analysts' forecasts upon which the calculated natural gas distribution industry composite
growth rate is based are obtained from Standard and Poor's Analyst's Consensus Estimate
(ACE) database. The ACE database contains growth estimates and recommendations
from over 200 contributing firms. The industry composite growth rate is a weighted
average of the ACE growth rates using the latest equity market capitalization as the
weighting factors. The estimate for Delta’s return on equity using the analysts’ expected
growth rates in the constant growth DCF model ranges from 8.0% to 9.9% as shown on
pages 1 and 2 of Exhibit MJB-4. The constant growth DCF model yields an estimated
return on equity of 9.71% for the current stock price of $17.00 using the Hilliard Lyons
expected growth rate, and an estimated return on equity of 8.71% for the current stock
price of $17.00 using the Edward Jones expected growth rate. The estimate for Delta’s
return on equity using Ibbotson’s composite natural gas distribution industry expected
growth rate in the constant growth DCF model ranges from 11.7% to 12.63% as shown on
page 1 of Exhibit MJB-4. The constant growth DCF model yields an estimated return on
equity of 12.41% for the current stock price of $17.00 using Ibbotson’s composite natural
gas distribution industry expected growth rate.

WHAT WOULD THE TWO-STAGE FORM OF THE DCF MODEL YIELD AS AN
EXPECTED RETURN ON EQUITY FOR DELTA?
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The results of the two-stage form of the DCF model are shown on page 3 of Exhibit MJB-
4. The two-stage DCF model utilized in this analysis assumes that dividends grow for the
first five years at the expected rate projected by the analysts who track Delta and grow at
the expected growth rate for the industry as a whole after five years. This in effect blends
the information provided by the two sources and produces a lower estimate of the rate of
return than using the composite natural gas distribution industry growth rate alone. The
estimate for Delta’s return on equity using the two-stage form of the DCF model ranges
from 10.2% to 12.05% as shown on page 3 of Exhibit MIB-4. The two-stage form of the
DCF model yields an estimated return on equity ranging from 10.75% to 11.85% for the
current stock price of $17.00.

Because of the rural nature of Delta’s service territory and the additional risk that this
generates, as described above, I believe that a return on equity near the top end of the
10.2% to 12.05% range resulting from the multistage DCF should be used in calculating
Delta’s revenue requirement. I suggest utilizing a 11.9% return on equity with an added
2% leverage adjustment which results in a 13.9% return on equity for calculating Delta’s
revenue requirement.

WHAT RATE OF RETURN ON EQUITY WOULD THE RISK PREMIUM INDICATE

WAS APPROPRIATE?

Stocks, Bonds. Bills and Inflation 1999 Yearbook reports that the long-horizon expected
equity risk premium for large company stock total returns minus long-term government
bond income returns is 8.0% for the period 1926 to 1998 (see Exhibit MJB-6). This
estimate of the risk premium from Ibbotson is calculated using a past average of ex-post
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risk premiums over a sufficiently long period of time to include several ups and downs in
dividend yields and provides a good estimate of the future risk premium. This long-
horizon expected equity risk premium was calculated using stock market data for the
companies in the Standard and Poor’s 500 Index and for U. S. Treasury Bonds having a
20-year maturity. The 20-year U.S. Treasury bond yield for May, 1999 as reported by
FRED® [Federal Reserve Economic Data] available on the Federal Reserve Bank of St.
Louis web site is 6.08% (Exhibit MJB-7). Adding the long-horizon risk premium of 8% to
the 20-year U.S. Treasury bond yield of 6.08% produces a return on equity of 14.08%.
Ibbotson also reports a short horizon expected equity risk premium calculated using large
company stock total returns and subtracting U.S. Treasury bill total returns. This short
horizon expected equity risk premium is 9.4% for the period 1926 to 1998 (see exhibit
MIB-6). This can be added to the May, 1999 U.S. Treasury bill rate of 4.51% (see Exhibit
MJB-8) to obtain an estimated return on equity of 13.91%. This is consistent with the long
horizon estimate for return on equity of 14.08% derived above. These estimated returns
on equity for the market as a whole demonstrate that the estimated returns on equity for
Delta using the composite industry growth rate and the two-stage DCF model are well
within the reasonable range.

HOW WOULD YOU ADJUST THE ESTIMATED RETURNS ON EQUITY FOR THE
MARKET AS A WHOLE TO APPLY TO A GAS DISTRIBUTION UTILITY SUCH
AS DELTA?

The CAPM approach could be utilized to adjust the risk premia for the market as a whole
to produce an estimate of the return on equity for a natural gas distribution utility. The
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basic CAPM formula is:

where:

K = the prospective market cost of equity for a specific investment,

R, = the risk free rate of return (usually U.S. Treasury bonds for estimating ROE),

f = the company specific beta coefficient, and

R,, = the overall stock market return (usually the S&P 500 Index for estimating ROE).

The Value Line Investment Survey and the Extended Value Line Investment Survey

K=R,+B(R, - R,)

("Value Line") provide P estimates for a panel of gas distribution utilities. The March 26,

1999 Value Line reported estimated ’s for the panel of natural gas distribution

companies ranging from 0.4 to 0.8 with the following distribution:

B Estimate Number
0.40 1
0.45 3
0.50 4
0.55 8
0.60 6
0.65 1
0.70 1
0.75 5
0.80 1

Value Line does not track Delta and thus an estimated B for Delta was not available.
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Based on the distribution of estimated f3’s reported above, I chose to use a § of 0.55 in
calculating Delta’s estimated return on equity using CAPM. With a long-horizon risk
premium above 20-year U.S. Treasury bonds of 8.0% and a beta coefﬁcient of 0.55, the
CAPM model produces an estimated return on equity of 10.48% calculated as:
K=6.08+0.55x8.0=10.48

However, because Delta is a micro-cap stock an additional size premium of 2.6% must be
added to this estimate (see Exhibit MJB-6) which results in an estimated return on equity
for Delta of 13.08%. Using the lowest beta coefficient reported in the panel of 0.40 results
in an estimated return on equity of 11.88% once the size premium is added. Using the
highest beta coefficient reported in the panel of 0.80 results in an estimated return on
equity of 15.08% once the size premium is added.

WHAT RETURN ON EQUITY DO YOU RECOMMEND BE UTILIZED IN
CALCULATING THE REVENUE REQUIREMENT IN THIS PROCEEDING?

I recommend using a 13.9% return on equity, which is derived by adding a 2% leverage
adjustment to the 11.9% rate of return resulting from the two-stage DCF model as
discussed in my testimony above. This is well within the reasonable range as indicated by
my analysis. Alternatively, if an imputed capital structure is utilized, an allowed return on
equity of 11.9% with an imputed capital structure consisting of 43.5% equity and 56.5%
debt could be used in calculating Delta’s revenue requirement. However, subtracting the
2% leverage adjustment would only be justified if an imputed capital structure is utilized.
DOES THE RETURN ON EQUITY THAT YOU RECOMMEND PRODUCE A
REASONABLE RESULT?

27




10

11

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

Yes. Exhibit MJB-5 shows the interest coverage for the 29 natural gas distribution
companies in the panel reported by Edward Jones, which is calculated by dividing net
income by the interest on long term debt for the 12 months ending December 31, 1998,
coinciding with the test year utilized in this proceeding. Delta has an interest coverage of
1.75x, which is second lowest in the panel of natural gas distribution utilities. The mean
interest coverage for the panel is 2.85x with a median interest coverage of 2.65x. If the
revenue requirement for Delta is determined based on a 13.9% return on equity and based
on an unadjusted capital structure, the resulting interest coverage would be 2.00x. If the
revenue requirement for Delta is determined based on the 11.9% return on equity and
based on an imputed capital structure consisting of 43.5% equity and 56.5% debt, the
resulting interest coverage would be 2.01x. As can be seen from Exhibit MJB-5, the
resulting interest coverage from using a 13.9% rate of return would still be the fourth
lowest in the panel. Based on the resulting level of interest coverage, I believe that the
13.9% rate of return on equity that I am recommending be applied to the unadjusted
capital structure is reasonable. An 11.9% return on equity applied to an imputed capital
structure also produces a similar reasonable result. It would take even a higher rate of
return on equity to produce a level of interest coverage that is more representative of the
other companies in the panel of natural gas distribution companies. In fact, with regard to
almost every key financial measure, Delta is one of the lowest in the panel of natural gas
distribution companies. As shown in Exhibit MJB-1 and MJB-5, Delta has one of the
highest payout ratios while having one of the lowest percentages of equity, one of the
lowest interest coverages, one of the lowest earned returns on equity, and one of the
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lowest market to book value ratios of the natural gas distribution companies in the panel.
The revenue requirement that would result from utilizing the 13.9% return on equity that I
recommend would be a start to turning these poor financial results around. As discussed
above, the use of an 11.9% rate of return with an imputed capital structure would produce
the same type of financial improvement. However, even when these rates are placed into
effect, it will take several years before there is significant improvement in these key
financial measures.

DOES THIS CONCLUDE YOUR TESTIMONY?

Yes it does.
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Exhibit MJB-3
Number of Customers
Delta Natural Gas Company

Residential Commercial Industrial Total Percent

Customers Customers Customers Customers Change
1991 26,394 4,152 68 30,614
1992 27,051 4,190 68 31,309 2.27%
1993 27,852 4,279 75 32,206 2.86%
1994 28,615 4,387 76 33,078 2.711%
1995 29,544 4,467 72 34,083 3.04%
1996 30,363 4,641 73 35,077 2.92%
1997 31,733 4,856 73 36,662 4.52%
1998 32,111 4,894 69 37,074 1.12%
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Exhibit MJB-4
Results From The Constant Growth Form Of the DCF Model

. Delta Natural Gas Company

1998 Annual Dividend $1.14

Stock Price On May 28, 1998 $17.00

52 Week High $19.00

52 Week Low $16.44

Expected Delta Growth Rate 3.0% Hilliard Lyons Analyst Report

Expected Delta Growth Rate 2.0% Edward Jones Analyst Report

Expected Industry Growth Rate 5.7% Cost of Capital Quarterly, Ibbotson Associates

Using the formula: ROE=D/P + g

Using Expected Natural Gas Distribution Industry Growth Rat

Based on the current stock price: ROE = 1.14/17.00 + .057 = 12.41%
Based on 52 week low: ROE = 1.14/16.44 + 057 = 12.63%
Based on 52 week high: ROE = 1.14/19.00 + .057 = 11.70%
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Results From The Constant Growth Form Of the DCF Model
Delta Natural Gas Company

Exhibit MJB-4

Using Hilliard and | Analyst Growth Rat

Based on the current stock price:
Based on 52 week low:

Based on 52 week high:

Using Edward Jones Analyst Growth Rate
Based on the current stock price:
Based on 52 week low:

Based on 52 week high:

Data Sources

The stock price, 52 week high, 52 week low, and annual dividend were obtained from the NASDAQ/AMEX

internet web site on May 28, 1999.

The expected growth rates for Delta Natural Gas were obtained from a Hilliard Lyons Analyst report dated

ROE =

ROE =

ROE =

ROE =

ROE =

ROE =

1.14/17.00 +

1.14/16.44 +

1.14/19.00 +

1.14/17.00 +

1.14/16.44 +

1.14/19.00 +

.03

.03

.03

.02

.03

.03

March 11, 1998 and an Edward Jones Analyst Report dated March 3, 1999.

The expected natural gas distribution industry growth rate was obtained from Cost of Capital Quarterly,
ibbotson Associates, March, 1999. The analysts' forecasts upon which the industry composite growth
rate is based are obtained from Standard and Poor's Analyst's Consensus Estimate (ACE) database.
The ACE database contains growth estimates and recommendations from over 200 contributing firms.
The industry composite growth rate is a weighted average of the ACE growth rates based on the latest

equity market capitalization.

Page 2
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Exhibit MJUB-4
Results From the Two-Stage Form of the DCF Model

1998 Annual Dividend $1.14

Stock Price On May 28, 1998 $17.00

52 Week High | $19.00

52 Week Low $16.44

Expected Growth Rate 3.0% Hilliard Lyons Analyst Report

Expected Delta Growth Rate 2.0% Edward Jones Analyst Report

Expected Industry Growth Rate 5.7% Cost of Capital Quarterly, Ibbotson Associates
Assumptions:

Delta grows at analyst's projected growth rate for the first five years and at the industry average thereafter.

§ : . f ret ina Hilliard 1
Rate of return that equates the estimated dividend stream to the current stock price: 11.85%
Rate of return that equates the estimated dividend stream to the 52 week high: 11.18%
Rate of return that equates the estimated dividend stream to the 52 week low: 12.05%

Results of solving the two-stage DCE model iteratively for the rate of ret ina Edward J

Rate of return that equates the estimated dividend stream to the current stock price: 10.75%
Rate of return that equates the estimated dividend stream to the 52 week high: 10.20%
Rate of return that equates the estimated dividend stream to the 52 week low: 10.95%
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Exhibit MJB-5
Natural Gas Distribution Companies Sorted By Interest Coverage

. 12 Months Ending December 31, 1998
Earned Market
Interest Payout Return to Book
Coverage Ratio on Equity Value
North Carolina Natural Gas 6.33 64 13.2 251
New Jersey Resources, Inc. 4.61 71 14.2 219
Indiana Energy, Inc. 435 78 11.7 207
Peoples Energy Corp. 4.02 103 9.0 177
Piedmont Natural Gas Company 3.93 72 12.1 199
EnergySouth, Inc. 3.66 46 15.2 160
Washington Gas Light Co. 3.32 100 8.0 161
Atmos Energy Corp. 3.32 66 13.1 201
. Colonial Gas Company 3.08 101 9.5 242
Public Service of North Carolina 2.92 91 9.6 260
AGL Resources Inc. 2.88 87 10.8 159
Connecticut Energy Corp. 2.84 73 10.5 214
Fall River Gas Company 2.78 112 10.5 205
Laclede Gas Company 2.74 99 9.2 137
Cascade Natural Gas Corp. 2.65 105 8.8 161
Energy West 2.54 75 11.7 174
Roanoke Gas Company 2.49 96 7.9 133
. CTG Resources Inc. 2.46 72 10.0 164
EnergyNorth, Inc. 242 104 8.4 170
South Jersey Industries Inc. 2.36 113 8.2 163
Northwest Natural Gas Company 2.22 120 6.0 136
Pennsylvania Enterprises, Inc. 213 160 57 201
NUI Corp. 2.09 105 5.2 121
Providence Energy Corp. 2.01 126 5.7 133
Yankee Energy System, Inc. 2.00 152 5.7 172
Corning Natural Gas Corp. 1.85 101 11.1 190
Berkshire Energy Resources 1.83 118 6.7 158
Delta Natural Gas Company 1.76 121 7.9 144
South Union Company 1.27 None 1.9 224
Mean 2.86 98 9.22 180
Median 2.65 101 9.20 172

Source: Natural Gas Industry Summary Monthly Fingncial & Common Stock Information,
Edward Jones Co., April 30, 1999
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Exhibit MJB-5
Natural Gas Distribution Companies Sorted By Payout Ratio
12 Months Ending December 31, 1998

Earned Market

Interest Payout Return to Book

Coverage Ratio on Equity Value

Pennsylvania Enterprises, Inc. 213 160 5.7 201
Yankee Energy System, Inc. 2.00 152 5.7 172
Providence Energy Corp. 2.01 126 57 133
Delta Natural Gas Company 1.75 121 7.9 144
Northwest Natural Gas Company " 222 120 6.0 136
Berkshire Energy Resources 1.83 118 6.7 158
South Jersey Industries Inc. 2.36 113 8.2 153
Fall River Gas Company 2.78 112 10.5 205
Cascade Natural Gas Corp. 2.65 105 8.8 151
NUI Corp. 2.09 105 5.2 121
EnergyNorth, Inc. 242 104 8.4 170
Peoples Energy Corp. 4.02 103 9.0 177
Colonial Gas Company 3.08 101 9.5 242
Corning Natural Gas Corp. 1.85 101 11.1 190
Washington Gas Light Co. 3.32 100 8.0 161
Laclede Gas Company 274 99 9.2 137
Roanoke Gas Company 2.49 96 7.9 133
Public Service of North Carolina 2.92 91 9.6 260
AGL Resources Inc. 2.88 87 10.8 159
Indiana Energy, Inc. 4.35 78 11.7 207
Energy West 2.54 75 M7 174
Connecticut Energy Corp. 2.84 73 10.5 214
Piedmont Natural Gas Company 3.93 72 121 199
CTG Resources Inc. 2.46 72 10.0 164
New Jersey Resources, Inc. 4.61 71 14.2 219
Atmos Energy Corp. 3.32 66 131 201
North Carolina Natural Gas 6.33 64 13.2 251
EnergySouth, Inc. 3.66 46 15.2 160
South Union Company 1.27 None 1.9 224
Mean 2.91 98 9.49 178

Median 2,70 101 9.35 171

Source: Natura Ju J 3
Edward Jones Co., April 30, 1999
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Exhibit MJB-5
Natural Gas Distribution Companies Sorted By Return on Equity

‘ 12 Months Ending December 31, 1998
Earned Market
Interest Payout Return to Book
Coverage Ratio on Equity Value
EnergySouth, Inc. 3.66 46 15.2 160
New Jersey Resources, Inc. 4.61 71 14.2 219
North Carolina Natural Gas 6.33 64 13.2 251
Atmos Energy Corp. 3.32 66 13.1 201
Piedmont Natural Gas Company 3.93 72 12.1 199
Indiana Energy, Inc. 4.35 78 11.7 207
Energy West 2.54 75 11.7 174
Corning Natural Gas Corp. 1.85 101 11.1 190
AGL Resources Inc. 2.88 87 10.8 1569
Connecticut Energy Corp. 2.84 73 10.5 214
Fall River Gas Company 2.78 112 10.5 205
CTG Resources Inc. 246 72 10.0 164
Public Service of North Carolina 2.92 91 9.6 260
Colonial Gas Company 3.08 101 9.5 242
Laclede Gas Company 274 99 9.2 137
Peoples Energy Corp. 4.02 103 9.0 177
Cascade Natural Gas Corp. 2.65 105 8.8 151
. EnergyNorth, Inc. 2.42 104 8.4 170
South Jersey Industries Inc. 2.36 113 8.2 153
Washington Gas Light Co. 3.32 100 8.0 161
Roanoke Gas Company 2.49 96 79 133
Delta Natural Gas Company 1.75 121 7.9 144
Berkshire Energy Resources 1.83 118 6.7 158
Northwest Natural Gas Company 2.22 120 6.0 136
Pennsylvania Enterprises, Inc. 213 160 5.7 201
Providence Energy Corp. 2.01 126 5.7 133
Yankee Energy System, Inc. 2.00 152 57 172
NUI Corp. 2.09 105 52 121
South Union Company 1.27 None 19 224
Mean 2.86 98 9.22 180
Median 2.65 101 9.20 172

Source: Naty 2| ju J ]
Edward Jones Co., April 30, 1999
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Exhibit MJB-5
Natural Gas Distribution Companies Sorted By Market to Book Value

. Most Recent Fiscal Year
Earned Market
Interest Payout Return to Book
Coverage Ratio on Equity Value
Public Service of North Carolina 2.92 91 9.6 260
North Carolina Natural Gas 6.33 64 13.2 251
Colonial Gas Company 3.08 101 9.5 242
South Union Company 1.27 None 1.9 224
New Jersey Resources, inc. 4.61 71 142 219
Connecticut Energy Corp. 2.84 73 10.5 214
Indiana Energy, Inc. 4.35 78 11.7 207
Fall River Gas Company 2.78 112 10.5 205
Atmos Energy Corp. 3.32 66 13.1 201
Pennsylvania Enterprises, Inc. 213 160 5.7 201
Piedmont Natural Gas Company 3.93 72 12.1 199
Corning Natural Gas Corp. 1.85 101 111 190
Peoples Energy Corp. 4.02 103 9.0 177
Energy West 2.54 75 11.7 174
Yankee Energy System, Inc. 2.00 152 5.7 172
EnergyNorth, Inc. 242 104 8.4 170
CTG Resources Inc. 2.46 72 10.0 164
Washington Gas Light Co. 3.32 100 8.0 161
' EnergySouth, Inc. 3.66 46 15.2 160
AGL Resources Inc. 2.88 87 10.8 159
Berkshire Energy Resources 1.83 118 6.7 158
South Jersey Industries Inc. 2.36 113 8.2 153
Cascade Natural Gas Corp. 2.65 105 8.8 161
Delta Natural Gas Company 1.75 121 7.9 144
Laclede Gas Company 2.74 99 9.2 137
Northwest Natural Gas Company 2.22 120 6.0 136
Roanoke Gas Company 249 96 7.9 133
Providence Energy Corp. 2.01 126 5.7 133
NUI Corp. 2.09 105 5.2 121
Mean 2.86 98 9.22 180
Median 2.65 101 9.20 172

Source: Natural Gas Industry Summary Monthly Financial & Common Stock information,
Edward Jones Co., April 30, 1999
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Chapter 8 Exhibit MJB - 6

Table 8-1 Key Variables in Estimating
the Cost of Capital
Value
Yields (Riskless Rates)*
Long-term (20-year) U.S. Treasury Coupon Bond Yield 54%
Intermediate-term (S-year) U.S. Treasury Coupon Note Yield ) 47
Short-term (30-day ) U.S. Treasury Bill Yield 45
Risk Premiq**
Long-horizon expected equity risk premium: large company stock total 8.0
returns minus long-term government bond income returns
Intermediate-horizon expected equity risk premium: large company stock ~ S - X
_ total returns minus mtcrmedlatc-tcrm goyernment bond income returns
" Short-horizon expected equity risk premxum large company stock total 94
returns minus U.S. Treasury bill total returnst
Expected default premium: long-term corporate bond total returns minus 04
long-term government bond total returns
Expected long-term borizon premium: long-term government bond income 14
returns minus U.S. Treasury bill total returnst
Expected intermediate-term horizon premium: intermediate-term : 1.0
~ government bond income returns minus U.S. Treasury bill total returnst T
Size Premia***
Expected mid-capitalization equity size premmm capitalization between 05
$918 and $4,200 million .
Expected low-capitalization equity size premium: capitalization between 11
$252 and $918 million
Expected micro-capitalization equity size premium: capitalization below © 26
$252 million .

* Asof December 31, 1998. Marurities are approximate.

b Expected risk premia for equities are based on the differences of historical arithmetic mean returns from 1926-1998. Expected

risk premia for, fixed income are. based on the d:fferences «of historical. arithmetic. mean returns. from .1970-1998.. . e e e e

***See Chapter 7 for complete mcthodology
t For U.S. Treasury bills, the income return and total return are the same.

Note: An example of how these variables can be used is found with equation (35).

1 64 SBBI 1999 Yearbook
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Exhibit MJB -7

20-Year Treasury Constant Maturity Rate

Averages of Business Days

Percent

Source: H.1l5 Release -~ Federal Reserve Board of Governors

DATE GS20

1998.05 6.01

1998.06 5.80
1898.07 5.78
1998.08 5.66
1998.09 5.38
1998.10 5.30
1998.11 5.48
1998.12 5.36
1995.01 5.45
1999.02 5.66
1999.03 5.87
1999.04 5.82
1999.05 6.08

http://www stls.frb.org/fred/data/irates/update/rt30 6/6/1999
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Exhibit MJB - 8

3-Month Treasury Bill Rate, Auction Average
Averages of Business Days, Discount Basis

Percent
Source: H.15 Release -- Federal Reserve Board of Governors

DATE TB3MA

1998.05 5.03
1998.06 4.99
1998.07 4.96
1598.08 4.94
1998.09 4.74
1998.10 4.08
1998.11 4.44
1998.12 4.42
1999.01 4.34
1999.02 4.45
1999.03 4.48
1999.04 4.28
1999.05 4.51

http://www .stls.frb.org/fred/data/irates/update/rt25

6/6/1999



http://www.stls.fib.org/fiecUdata/irates/update/rt25

BEFORE THE PUBLIC SERVICE COMMISSION

IN THE MATTER OF ADJUSTMENT] g
OF RATES OF DELTA NATURAL a EJ()V(E D
GAS COMPANY, INC. 0
JL .
FILING REQU]%T? % 1999
v /

OLUME 3 —

FILED IN SUPPORT OF PROPOS ) N RATES

JULY 2, 1999




RECEIVED

JUL 02 1999

PUBLIC SERvIcE
OMMISSION

g

>




Delta Natural Gas Company, Inc.
Case No. 99-176
Historical Test Period Filing Requirements
FR #6-n

Description of Filing Requirement:

A summary of the utility’s latest depreciation study with schedules by major plant
accounts. If the required information has been filed in another commission case, ‘a
reference to that case’s number and style will be sufficient.

Response:

Delta’s most recent depreciation study was previously filed with the Commission
in Delta’s last rate case, No. 90-342.




Delta Natural Gas Company, Inc.
Case No. 99-176
Historical Test Period Filing Requirements
FR #6-0

Description of Filing Requirement:

A list of all commercially available or in-house developed computer software,
programs, and models used in the development of the schedules and work papers
associated with the filing of the utility’s application. This list shall include each
software, program, or model, what (each) was used for, a brief description of (each), -
the specifications for the computer hardware and the operating system required to run

the program,

Response:

See attached.




10

11

12

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

List of Software, Programs, and Models Used
Description and Purpose

Microsoft Excel 97 was used to develop the following: Revenue requirements study, all exhibits

contained in testimony, rate base reconciliation, cost of service study, exhibit showing effect new

rates will have upon revenues, exhibit showing effect upon average bill for each customer class,

income statement and balance sheet reflecting impact of proposed adjustments.

Microsoft Excel 97 System Requirements

e Personal or multimedia computer with a 486 or higher processor

e Microsoft Windows 95 operating system or Microsoft Windows NT Workstation 3.51 Service
Pack 5 or later

e 8 MB of memory for use on Windows 95; 16 MB for use on Windows NT Workstation

e VGA or higher-resolution video adapter

e Microsoft Mouse, Microsoft Intellimouse, or compatible pointing device

Microsoft Word 97 was used to develop, organize, and prinf testimony, proposed tariff and

proposed tariff changes, table of contents and the cover pages for each filing requirement.

Microsoft Word 97 System Requirements

e Personal or multimedia computer with a 486 or higher processor

e Microsoft Windows 95 operating system or Microsoft Windows N'T Workstation 3.51 Service
Pack 5 or later

e 8 MB of memory for use on Windows 95; 16 MB for use on Windows NT Workstation

e 20-60 MB of available hard-disk space required




. 1 e VGA or higher-resolution video adapter

2 e Microsoft Mouse, Microsoft IntelliMouse, or compatible pointing device

4  Computers Used to Create Documentation

5 e IBM Pentium II Computers with 32 MB RAM




Delta Natural Gas Company, Inc.
Case No. 99-176
Historical Test Period Filing Requirements
FR #6-q

Description of Filing Requirement:

Annual report to shareholders, or members, and statistical supplements covering
the two (2) most recent years, from the utility’s application filing date,

Response:

See attached. Delta does not publish a statistical supplement.
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[ Delta Natural Gas Company, Inc. (“Delta” or Tﬂh@ @@[m am Delta for system supply. Delgasco buys gas and
“the Company”) is engaged primarily in the distrib- @ W resells it to Resources and to customers not on
ution, transmissien, storage and production of nat- Delta’s system. Deltran operates an underground
ural gas with its facilities which are located in 20 counties in central and natural gas storage field that it leases from Delta. Enpro owns and
southeastern Kentucky. Delta serves approximately 36,000 residential, operates production properties and undeveloped acreage. TranEx owns
commercial, industrial and transportation customers and makes trans- a 43 mile intrastate pipeline. Delta and its subsidiaries are under
portation deliveries to several interconnected pipelines. common executive management.

Unless the context requires otherwise, references to Delta include Delta was incorporated under Kentucky law in 1949. Its principal
Delta's wholly-owned subsidiaries, Delta Resources, Inc. (“Resources”), executive offices are located at 3617 Lexington Road, Winchester,
Delgasco, Inc. (“Delgasco”), Deltran, Inc. (“Deltran™), Enpro, Inc. Kentucky 40391, Its telephone number is (606) 744-6171, and its Fax

(“Enpro”) and TranEx Corporation (“TranEx”). Resources buys gas number is (606) 744-6562.

and resells it to industrial customers on Delta’s system and to
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Deka extended service
this past year to an
asphalt plant located at
Booneshorough in
Madison County. This
included a supply
connection for delivery
from Texas Eastern
Transmission Corporation.

Delta extended its
system into Fayette
County during 1997 to

provide service to
residential customers
in the South Point area
of Lexington.
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Delta continued developing
its Canada Mountain
underground natural gas
storage field during 1997.
Develop-ment is continuing
in 1998, with the planned
completion this fall of a 14
mile, 12 inch diameter
steel pipeline connecting
the field to Delta’s system.
Delta utilized this field this
past winter to supplement
its supply, and plans to use
the field more fully this
coming heating season.
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, ":
A
e



TOWARD 2000

Our continued expansion through internal
growth and acquisition resulted in 1997 being a year
of significant activity for Delta. We refinanced our

To Our Shareholders

completion this fali of 14 miles of 12 inch diameter
steel pipeline that will enhance the delivery of gas
from the field into Delta’s system.

$20 miltion credit line in July, 1996, by the issuance of
$15 million of 8.3% debentures and 400,000 shares of
common stock, and this had a dilutive effect on 1997
earnings per share. This allowed us to utilize our
credit line and internally generated cash for our 1997
growth. Our record capital expenditures were in
excess of $16.6 million, and we plan to continue our
growth in 1998 and beyond.

The weather this past year was not only warmer
than the previous year, but followed a very unusual
pattern of a mild winter followed by a cold, wet
spring. Our billed degree days were 103% of thirty
year average weather, a decline of 8% from the year
before, and our retail sales volumes declined by
406,000 Mcf, or 9%. Earnings per share decreased to $.75.

In order to provide for a reasonable return on our increased capital,
as well as to recover increased operating costs resulting from inflation
since our last rate case in 1990, on March 14, 1997 we filed a request for
a general rate increase with the Kentucky Public Service Commission.
The rate case requests a total revenue increase of $2,962,000 and, as
anticipated, the proposed rates were suspended by the Commission until
September 12. A public hearing is scheduled beginning September 9.

During 1997, we continued development of our Canada Mountain
underground natural gas storage field. Although the field was used to
help meet our winter supply needs this past year, our plans are to
continue to develop the field during the next year. It is planned to be
utilized to a more significant level this coming year, especially after

We continued to expand our system this past year
and increased our customers served by 5.4%. Exten-
sions were made this year to serve new areas such as
a portion of Fayette County, where we serve a resi-
dential area that did not have gas service and a new
residential development that together have the
potential for approximately 500 customers. During
November, 1996, we acquired the City of North
Middletown gas system in Bourbon County, and we

now serve approximately 180 primarily residential
customers in that community.

During June, 1997, Delta acquired TranEx .
Corporation, which owns a 43 mile, 8 inch diameter
steel pipeline that extends from Clay County to
Madison County. Delta has been operating this pipeline for several years
and plans to continue to utilize it to provide natural gas to Delta’s Canada
Mountain storage field as well as for Delta's system supply.

Additionally, during July, 1997, we purchased the gas system of Annville
Gas & Transmission Corporation in Jackson County, which serves several
industrial and residential customers. We plan to expand this system to
provide gas service to customers in the City of Annville.

We certainly appreciate your support this past year and we believe
next year will be an even better year for Delta. The hard work and dedi-
cation of our employees provided for our growth in 1997 and their
continued efforts will allow us to expand in 1998 and beyond as we pre-
pare for the 21st century.

Sincerely,

f/ﬂf

H. D. Peet
Chairman of the Board

L s R. Syermias>

Glenn R. Jennings
President and
Chief Executive Officer

August 22, 1997
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Gas Operations and Supply

The Company purchases and produces gas for dis-
tribution to its retail customers and also provides
transportation service to industrial customers and
inter-connected pipelines with its facilities that are located in 20 pre-
dominantly rural counties in central and southeastern Kentucky. The
economy of Delta’s service area is based principally on coal mining, farm-
ing and light industry. The communities in Delta’s service area typically
contain populations of less than 20,000. The four largest service areas are
Nicholasville, Corbin, Berea and Middlesboro, where Delta serves approx-
imately 6,500, 6,300, 3,800 and 3,600 customers, respectively.

Several communities served by Delta continue to expand, resulting
in growth opportunities for the Company. Industrial parks have been
developed in certain areas and have resulted in new industrial cus-

ers, some of whom are on-system transportation customers. Asa
result of this growth, Delta’s total customer count increased by 5.4% in
1997. Currently, over 99% of Delta’s customers are residential and com-
mercial. Delta’s remaining, light industrial customers purchased approx-
imately 6% of the total volume of gas sold by Delta at retail during 1997.

The Company’s revenues are affected by various factors, including
rates billed to customers, the cost of natural gas, economic conditions in
the areas that the Company serves, weather conditions and competition.
Delta competes for customers and sales with alternative sources of ener-
gy, including electricity, coal, oil, propane and wood. The Company’s
marketing subsidiaries, which purchase gas and resell it to various
industrial customers and others, also compete for their customers with
producers and marketers of natural gas. Gas costs, which the Company
is generally able to pass through to customers, may influence customers

to conserve, or in the case of industrial customers, to use alternative

| .

Retail Sales Volume (Bittion cu. 21.)

Summary Of Operations

energy sources. Also, the potential bypass of
Delta’s system by industrial customers and
others is a competitive concern that Delta
has addressed and will continue to address as the need arises.

Delta’s retail sales are seasonal and temperature-sensitive as the
majority of the gas sold by Delta is used for heating. This seasonality
impacts Delta's liquidity position and its management of its working
capital requirements during each twelve month period, and changes in
the average temperature during the winter months impacts its revenues
year-to-year (see Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial
Condition and Results of Operations).

Retail gas sales in 1997 were approximately 4,299,000 thousand cubic
feet (“Mcf”), generating approximately $33,561,000 in revenues, as com-
pared to approximately 4,705,000 Mcf and approximately $27,811,000 in
revenues for 1996. The increase in operating revenues for 1997 was due
primarily to increases in the cost of gas purchased that were reflected in
rates billed to customers through Delta’s gas cost recovery clause. Heating
degree days billed during 1997 were approximately 103% of the thirty
year average (“normal”) as compared with approximately 112% in
1996. Principally as a result of this warmer weather, retail sales volumes
decreased by approximately 406,000 Mcf, or 9%, in 1997 as compared
to 1996.

Delta’s transportation of natural gas in 1997 generated revenues of
approximately $3,596,000 as compared with approximately $3,331,000 dur-
ing 1996. Of the total from transportation in 1997, approximately
$3,214,000 (2,863,000 Mcf) and $382,000 (1,205,000 Mcf) were earned from
transportation for on-system and off-system customers, respectively. Of the
total from transportation in 1996, approximately $2,813,000 (2,570,000
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TOWARD 2000

Mcf) and $418,000 (1,134,000 Mcf) were earned from transportation for
on-system and off-system customers, respectively.

As an active participant in many areas of the natural gas industry,
Delta plans to continue its efforts to expand its gas distribution system.
Delta continues to consider acquisitions of other gas systems, some of
which are contiguous to its existing service areas, as well as expansion
within its existing service areas. During November, 1996, Delta
acquired the City of North Middletown gas system in Bourbon County,
consisting of approximately 180 primarily residential customers.
During July, 1997, Delta purchased the gas system of Annville Gas &
Transmission Corporation in Jackson County, which serves several
industrial and residential customers. This system will be expanded
during fiscal 1998 to provide gas service to customers in the City
of Annville,

The Company also anticipates continuing activity in gas production
and transportation and plans to pursue and increase these activities
wherever practicable. The Company will continue to consider the con-
struction or acquisition of additional transmission, storage and gather-
ing facilities to provide for increased transportation, enhanced supply
and system flexibility. During June, 1997, Delta acquired TranEx
Corporation, which owns a 43 mile, 8 inch diameter steel pipeline that
extends from Clay County to Madison County. Delta has been operating
this pipeline for several years and plans to continue to utilize the
pipeline to provide natural gas to its Canada Mountain storage field as
well as for Delta's system supply.

Some producers in Delta’s service area can access certain pipeline
delivery systems other than Delta, which provides competition from oth-
ers for transportation of such gas. Delta will continue its efforts to pur-
chase or transport any natural gas available that is produced in reason-

able proximity to its facilities.

Customers Served at June 30

Delta receives its gas supply from a combination of interstate and
Kentucky sources. The Company intends to pursue an adequate gas
supply to provide service to existing and future customers. Delta will
continue to maintain an active gas supply management program that
emphasizes long-term reliability and the pursuit of cost effective
sources of gas for its customers.

Delta’s interstate gas supply is transported and/or stored by
Tennessee Gas Pipeline Company (“Tennessee”), Columbia Gas
Transmission Corporation (“Columbia™), Columbia Gulf Transmission
Company (“Columbia Gulf') and Texas Eastern Transmission
Corporation (“Texas Eastern”). Delta acquires its interstate gas supply
from gas marketers. Delta also acquires gas supply from Kentucky pro-
ducers and suppliers. There is a competitive national market for natur-
al gas supplies as supply and demand determine the availability and
prices of natural gas.

Enpro produces oil and gas from leases it owns in southeastern
Kentucky. Enpro’s natural gas production is purchased by Delta for
system supply, and Enpro’s remaining proved, developed natural gas
reserves are estimated at approximately 4,400,000 Mcf. Delta pur-
chased a total of approximately 203,000 Mcf from those properties in
1997. Enpro’s oil production has not been significant.

Resources and Delgasco purchase gas from various marketers and
Kentucky producers. The gas is resold to industrial customers on Delta's
system, to Delta for system supply and to others. Delta continues to
seek additional new gas supplies from all available sources, including
those in the proximity of its facilities in southeastern Kentucky. Also,
Resources and Delgasco continue to pursue acquisitions of new gas sup-
plies from Kentucky producers and others.

Delta is completing the development of an underground natural gas
storage field on Canada Mountain in Bell County, Kentucky, with an
estimated eventual working capacity of 4,000,000 Mcf. This field is
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operational and was used to help meet Delta’s winter supply needs this
past year. Delta plans to continue to develop the capability of this stor-
age field, including completion of 14 miles of 12 inch diameter steel
pipeline. The new pipeline, planned to be in operation by this fall, will
enhance Delta’s ability to withdraw gas from the field and deliver it
into Delta’s system. This storage capability should permit Delta to con-
tinue to purchase and store gas during the non-heating months, and
then withdraw and sell the gas during the peak usage months as Delta

did this past winter.

Regulatory Matters

Delta is subject to the regulatory authority of the Public Service
Commission of Kentucky (“PSC”) with respect to various aspects of
Delta’s business, including rates and service to retail and transporta-
tion customers.

On March 14, 1997, Delta filed a request for increased rates with
the PSC. This general rate case (Case No. 87-066) requested an annual
revenue increase of approximately $2,962,000, an increase of 7.7%. The
test year for the case was December 31, 1996. The increased rates were
requested to become effective on April 13, 1997. On April 3, 1997, the
PSC issued an Order in the above case suspending the implementation
of the proposed rates until September 12, 1997, so that the PSC could
investigate and determine the reasonableness of the proposed rates. A
hearing has been scheduled for September 9, 1997, for the cross-exami-
nation of witnesses.

On July 11, 1997, the PSC issued a staff report entitled “Natural
Gas Unbundling in Kentucky: Exploring the Next Step Toward
Customer Choice.” This report represented the culmination of numer-
ous discussions among the PSC and various parties, including Delta,
regarding issues related to the potential unbundling, or separate pric-

ing of supply and service components, of natural gas service in

‘ Capital Expenditures (s Mittions)

Kentucky, including residential and small commercial customer
choice. The report also included observations on certain topics which
need to be addressed and resolved if further unbundling occurs in
Kentucky, and it addressed some of the options available to the PSC.
The PSC held a public meeting on August 22, 1997, on gas unbundling
and customer choice for interested parties to provide further input.
Delta participated in that meeting and intends to be an active partici-
pant in future discussions.

Delta’s rates include a Gas Cost Recovery (“GCR”) clause, which
permits changes in Delta’s gas costs to be reflected in the rates
charged to customers. The GCR requires Delta to make quarterly fil-
ings with the PSC, but such procedure does not require a general rate
case. The PSC historically has allowed Delta to recover storage costs in
rates through the GCR mechanism or general rate cases.

In addition to PSC regulation, Delta may obtain non-exclusive fran-
chises from the cities and communities in which it operates authorizing
it to place its facilities in the streets and public grounds. However, no
utility may obtain a franchise until it has obtained from the PSC a
Certificate of Convenience and Necessity authorizing it to bid on the
franchise. Delta holds franchises in four of the ten cities in which it
maintains branch offices and in seven other communities it serves. In
the other cities br communities, either Delta’s franchises have expired,
the communities do not have governmental organizations authorized to
grant franchises, or the local governments have not required, or do not
want to offer, a franchise. Delta attempts to acquire or reacquire fran-
chises whenever feasible.

Without a franchise, a local government could require Delta to
cease its occupation of the streets and public grounds or prohibit Delta
from extending its facilities into any new area of that city or communi-
ty. To date, the absence of a franchise has had no adverse effect on

Delta's operations.

* estimated

SNOILYHYHILdO 40 A¥dvVvWHWWAS

©,




OPERATIONS
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Capital Expenditures

Capital expenditures during 1997 were approximately $16.6 million
and for 1998 are estimated to be approximately $10.4 million. These
include planned expenditures for development of underground natural
gas storage, system extensions, computer system upgrades and the
replacement and improvement of existing transmission, distribution,

gathering and general facilities.

Financing

The Company’s capital expenditures and operating cash require-
ments are met through the use of internally generated funds and a
short-term line of credit. The available line of credit at June 30, 1997,
was $20 million of which approximately $10.9 million had been bor-
rowed. These short-term borrowings are periodically repaid with long-
term debt and equity securities, as was done in July, 1996, when the net
proceeds of approximately $20.4 million from the sale of $15 million of
debentures and 400,000 shares of common stock were used to repay
short-term notes payable and for working capital.

Present plans are to utilize the short-term line of credit to help
meet planned capital expenditures and operating cash requirements.
The amounts and types of future long-term debt and equity financings

will depend upon the Company’s capital needs and market conditions.

During 1997 the requirements of the Employee Stock Purchase Plan
were met through the issuance of 6,456 shares of common stock result-
ing in an increase of approximately $101,000 in Delta's common share-
holders’ equity. The Dividend Reinvestment and Stock Purchase Plan s
(see Note 4 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements) resulted
in the issuance of 31,187 shares of common stock providing an increase

of approximately $550,000 in Delta's common shareholders’ equity.

Common Stock Dividends and Prices

Delta has paid cash dividends on its common stock each year since
1964. While it is the intention of the Board of Directors to continue to
declare dividends on a quarterly basis, the frequency and amount of
future dividends will depend upon the Company’s earnings, financial
requirements and other relevant factors, including limitations impos
by the indenture for the Debentures. There were 2,407 record holders
of Delta’s common stock as of August 1, 1997.

Delta’s common stock is traded in the National Association of
Securities Dealers Automated Quotation (“NASDAQ”) National Market
System under the symbol DGAS. The accompanying table reflects the
high and low sales prices during each quarter as reported by NASDAQ

and the quarterly dividends declared per share:

Range of Stock Prices($) Dividends
Quarter High Low Per Share($) .
Fiscal 1997
First 1884 15 1/2 285
Second 19172 173/4 285
Third 1912 17 285
Fourth 18 1/2 16 286
Fiscal 1996 ‘
First 17 1/4 15 3/4 28
Second 18 1/4 15172 28
Third 18 16 28
Fourth 16 3/4 16172 .28




Liquidity and Capital Resources
The Company’s utility operations
are subject to regulation by the PSC,

Managements Discussion and fnalysis - omenetr

Delta for fiscal 1998 are expect-

which approves rates that are intend- of Financial Condition and Resulls of @pemﬁﬁ@ms ed to be approximately $10.4

ed to permit a specified rate of return

million. Delta generates inter-

on investment. The Company's rate tariffs allow the cost of gas to be nally only a portion of the cash necessary for its capital expenditure

passed through to customers (see Regulatory Matters).

requirements and finances the balance of its capital expenditures on an

Delta's business is temperature-sensitive. Accordingly, the Company’s interim basis through the use of its borrowing capability under its short-
operating results in any given period reflect, in addition to other factors, term line of credit. The current available line of credit is $20,000,000, of
the impact of weather, with colder temperatures resulting in increased which approximately $10.9 million was borrowed at June 30, 1997. The
sales. The Company anticipates that this sensitivity to seasonal and line of credit, which is with Bank One, Kentucky, NA, expires during
weather conditions will continue to be so reflected in the Company’s November, 1997. These short-term borrowings are periodically repaid

operating results in fufure periods.

with the net proceeds from the sale of long-term debt and equity securi-

Because of the seasonal nature of Delta’s sales, the smallest propor- ties, as was done in July, 1996, when the net proceeds of approximately
of cash generated from operations is received during the warmer $20,400,000 from the sale of $15,000,000 of debentures and 400,000
months when sales volumes decrease considerably. Additionally, most shares of common stock were used to repay short-term notes payable
construction activity takes place during the non-heating season because and for working capital.
of more fa{rorable weather conditions. Therefore, during the warmer, The primary cash flows during the last three years are summarized
non-heating months, cash needs for operations and construction are below:

partially met through short-term borrowings.

1997 1996 1995
Provided by operating activities $ 6,209,226 $ 3,094,809 $ 6,943,183
Used in investing activities (16,648,994) (18,373,416) (8,122,838)
Provided by financing activities 10,768,558 10,294,461 1,158,887
Net increase (decrease) in cash
and cash equivalents $ 328,790 $ 15,854 $ (20,768)

Cash provided by operating activities consists of net income and noncash items including depreciation, depletion, amor-
tization and deferred income taxes. Additionally, changes in working capital are also included in cash provided by operating
activities. The Company expects that internally generated cash, coupled with seasonal short-term borrowings, will continue

to be sufficient to satisfy its operating and capital expenditure requirements.
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MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Results of Operations
Operating Revenues

The increase in operating revenues for 1997 of approximately
$5,593,000 was due primarily to increases in the cost of gas purchased
that were reflected in rates billed to customers through Delta's gas cost
recovery clause. This was partially offset by a decrease in retail sales
volumes of approximately 406,000 Mcf as a result of the warmer winter
weather in 1997. Billed degree days were approximately 103% of normal
degree days for 1997 as compared with approximately 112% for 1996. In
addition, on-system transportation volumes for 1997 increased approxi-
mately 293,000 Mcf, or 11.4%.

The increase in operating revenues for 1996 of approximately
$4,782,000 was due primarily to an increase in retail sales volumes of
approximately 980,000 Mcf as a result of the colder winter weather in
1996. Billed degree days were approximately 112% of normal for 1996
as compared with approximately 89% for 1995. In addition, on-system
transportation volumes for 1996 increased approximately 180,000 Mcf,
or 8%. These increases were partially offset by decreases in the cost of
gas purchased that were reflected in rates billed to customers through
Delta’s gas cost recovery clause and by a decrease in off-system trans-
portation volumes of approximately 318,000 Mcf, or 22%, due primarily

to reduced deliveries from local producers.

Operating Expenses

The increase in purchased gas expense for 1997 of approximately
$5,875,000 was due primarily to increases in the cost of gas purchased
for retail sales. The increase was partially offset by the decreased gas
purchases for retail sales resulting from the warmer winter weather
in 1997.

The increase in purchased gas expense of approximately $1,893,000
for 1996 was due primarily to the increased gas purchases for retail
sales resulting from the colder winter weather during 1996, The
increase was partially offset by decreases in the cost of gas purchased
for retail sales.

The increase in operation and maintenance expenses during 1996 of
approximately $640,000 was due primarily to increases in payroll and

related benefit costs.

The increases in depreciation expense during 1997 and 1996 of
approximately $424,000 and $327,000, respectively, were due primarily to
additional depreciable plant.

The increase in taxes other than income taxes during 1996 of approxi-
mately $173,000 was primarily due to increased property taxes which
resulted from increased plant and property valuations, and to increased
payroll taxes, which resulted from increased wages.

Changes in income taxes during 1997 and 1996 of approximately
$595,000 and $517,000, respectively, were primarily due to changes in

net income.

Interest Charges
The increases in interest on long-term debt and amortization of debt
expense during 1997 of approximately $1,146,000 and $27,000, respec
ly, were due primarily to the issuance of $15 million of 8.3% Debentures
during July, 1996. The decrease in other interest charges during 1997 of
approximately $348,000 was due primarily to decreased average short-
term borrowings as short-term debt was repaid with the net proceeds
from the sale of long-term debt and equity securities during July, 1996.
The increase in other interest charges during 1996 of approximately
$448,000 was due primarily to increased average short- term borrowings

and increased average interest rates.

Earnings Per Common Share

For the year ended June 30, 1997, earnings per common share were
diluted by the increased average common shares outstanding that resulted
from the additional 400,000 shares of common stock issued in
July, 1996, as well as the common shares issued under Delta’s dividend

reinvestment plan and shares issued to employees during the 1997 period.
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Consolidated Statements of Income 2
=
For the Years Ended June 30, 1997 1996 1995 §
E Operating Revenues $ 42,169,185 $ 36,576,065 § 31,844,339 ;
Operating Expenses a
Purchased gas $ 23,265,222 $ 17,389,755 $ 15,497,156 b
) Operation and maintenance (Note 1) 8,631,635 8,642,511 8,002,797 §
Depreciation and depletion (Note 1) 2,935,267 2,510,952 2,183,668 E
\ Taxes other than income taxes 1,056,689 1,036,282 863,340 =
Income taxes (Note 2) 964,800 1,559,600 1,042,400 :
Total operating expenses $ 36,853,603 $ 31,139,000 $ 27,589,251 2
Operating Income $ 5315582 $ 5,437,065 $ 4,256,088 @
Other Income and Deduetions, Net 40,874 32,503 50,582 @
Income Before Interest Charges $ 5,356,456 $ 5,469,558 $ 4,305,670 E
Interest Charges =
Interest on long-term debt $ 2,997,393 $ 1,851,768 $ 1,879,442 é
Other interest 519,432 867,641 419,693 -
Amortization of debt expense 115,366 88,800 88,800 ‘ E
‘; Total interest charges $ 3,632,191 $ 2,808,209 $ 2,387,936 @
et Income $ 1,724,265 $ 2,661,349 $ 1,917,785 g
Weighted Average Number of Common Shares Outstanding 2,294,134 1,886,629 1,850,986 @
Earnings Per Common Share $ 15 $ 141 $ 1.04
Dividends Declared Per Common Share $ 1.14 $ 112 $ 112

The panying notes to lidated fi ial stat Is are an integral part of these statements.




g Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
&
- For the Years Ended June 30, 1997 1996 1995
s t
; Cash Flows From Operating Activities
§ Net income 1,724,265 2,661,349 1,917,735
a Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash from operating activities: i
= Depreciation, depletion and amortization 3,049,229 2,663,475 2,272,358
% Deferred income taxes and investment tax credits 485,400 1,762,600 (77,000)
é Other—net 666,798 484 474 602,180
& (Increase) decrease in assets:
§ Accounts receivable (318,178) (860,255) (118,237)
@ Gas in storage (782,007) 68,546 (138,138)
f Advance (deferred) recovery of gas cost 495,751 (8,788,143) 2,683,128
s Materials and supplies (120,969) (124,697) 173,319
g Prepayments (346,532) 53,702 (105,903)
z Other assets (541,669) (31,723) (71,087)
E Increase (decrease) in liabilities:
e Accounts payable (439,721) 871,207 (178,60’
Refunds due customers 554,520 (456,283) 83,67,
@ Accrued taxes 1,038,761 (270,394) (72,210)
Other current liabilities 744,054 56,951 69,742
Advances for construction and other (476) 9,100 2,333
Net cash provided by operating activities 6,209,226 3,094,809 6,943,183
Cash Flows From Investing Activities
Capital expenditures (16,648,994) (13,373.416) (8,122,838)
Net cash used in investing activities (16,648,994) (13,373,416) (8,122,838)
Cash Flows From Financing Activities (Note 6)
Dividends on common stock ‘ (2,651,073) (2,113,414) (2,073,374)
Issuance of common stock, net 6,773,064 568,875 502,361
Issuance of debentures, net 14,334,833 — .
Repayment of long-term debt (478,256) (561,000) (240,100)
Issuance of notes payable 30,975,000 25,955,000 19,495,000
Repayment of notes payable (38,185,000) (13,555,000) (16,525,000)
Net cash provided by financing activities 10,768,558 10,294,461 1,158,887
Net Increase (Decrease) in Cash and Cash Equivalents 328,790 15,354 (20,768) «
Cash and Cash Equivalents, Beginning of Year 151,633 136,779 156,547 !
Cash and Cash Equivalents, End of Year 480,423 151,633 135,779
Supplemental Disclosures of Cash Flow Information
Cash paid during the year for: ?
Interest 3,019,881 2,491,091 2,253,472
Income taxes (net of refunds) (432,163) 193,560 1,264,942
The accompanying notes to lidated fi ial statements are an inlegral part of these stutements.




Consolidated Balance Sheets

As of June 30, 1997 1996
Assets )
Gas Utility Plant, at cost 116,829,158 $ 98,795,623
Less - Accumulated provision for depreciation (31,734,976) (26,749,714)
Net gas plant 85,094,182 $ 72,045,849
Current Assets
Cash and cash equivalents 480,423 $ 151,633
Accounts receivable, less accumulated provisions for doubtful
accounts of $113,945 and $105,766 in 1997 and 1996, respectively 2,414,632 2,096,454
Gas in storage, at average cost 1,209,171 427,164
Deferred gas costs (Note 1) 2,180,606 2,676,357
Materials and supplies, at first-in, first-out cost 773,108 652,139
Prepayments 716,076 369,544
Total current assets 7,774,016 $ 6,373,291
Other Assets
Cash surrender value of officers’ life insurance (face amount of
‘ $1,036,009) 321,339 $ 304,339
Note receivable from officer 134,000 126,000
Unamortized debt expense and other (Note 6) 3,357,628 2,291,158
Total other assets 3,812,967 $ 2,721,497
Total assets 96,681,165 $ 81,140,637
Liabilities and Shareholders’ Equity
Capitalization (See Consolidated Statements of Capitalization)
Common shareholders’ equity 29,474,569 $ 23,628,323
Long-term debt (Notes 6 and 7) 38,107,860 24,488,916
Notes payable refinanced subsequent to yearend (Note 5) — 18,075,000
Total capitalization 67,682,429 $ 66,192,239
Current Liabilities
Notes payable (Note 5) 10,865,000 $ —
Current portion of long-term debt (Notes 6 and 7) 1,987,600 1,084,800
Accounts payable 2,386,717 2,826,438
Accrued taxes 1,132,315 93,554
Refunds due customers 577,874 23,364
Customers’ deposits 368,661 304,246
Accrued interest on debt 1,033,220 637,596
Accrued vacation 516,032 485,847
Other accrued liabilities 492,501 238,571
Total current liabilities 19,359,820 $ 5,694,406
Deferred Credits and Other
Deferred income taxes 7,921,100 $ 7,318,500
Investment tax credits 708,400 779,400
Regulatory liability (Note 2) 892,100 938,300
‘ Advances for construction and other 217,316 217,792
Total deferred credits and other 9,738,916 $ 9,253,992
Commitments and Contingencies (Note 8)
Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity 96,681,165 $ 81,140,637

The accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements are an integral part of these stalements.
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DELTA NATURAL GAS COMPANY, INC. AND SUBSIDIARY COMPANIES

®

Consolidated Statements of Changes in Shareholders’ Equity

For the Years Ended June 30, 1997 1996 1995
Common Shares
Balance, beginning of year $ 1,903,580 $ 1,868,734 $ 1,839,340

$1.00 par value of 438,643, 34,846 and 29,394 shares issued
in 1997, 1996 and 1995, respectively

Public issuance of common shares 400,000 — —
Dividend reinvestment and stock purchase plan 31,187 28,024 25,802
Employee stock purchase plan and other 7,456 6,822 3,592
Balance, end of year $ 2,342,223 $ 1,903,580 $ 1,868,734
Premium on Common Shares
Balance, beginning of year $ 20,572,132 $ 20,022,643 $ 19,532,909
Premium on issuance of common shares-
Public issuance of common shares 6,000,000 —_ —_
Dividend reinvestment and stock purchase plan 519,478 440,621 425,367
Employee stock purchase plan and other 111,701 108,868 64,377
Balance, end of year $ 27,203,311 $ 20,572,132 $ 20,022,643
Capital Stock Expense ,
Balance, beginning of year $ (1,620,252) $ (1,604,792) $ (1,588,02
Issuance of common shares (296,768) (15,460) (16,767)
Balance, end of year $ (1,917,020) $ (1,620,252) $ (1,604,792)
Retained Earnings
Balance, beginning of year $ 2,772,863 $ 2,224,928 $ 2,380,567
Net income 1,724,265 2,661,349 1,917,736
Cash dividends declared on common shares - (See Consolidated
Statements of Income for rates) (2,651,073) (2,113414) (2,073,374)
Balance, end of year $ 1,846,055 $ 2,772,863 $ 2,224,928

The accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements are an integral part of these statements.




Consolidated Statements of Capitalization

As of June 30, 1997 1996

Common Sharcholders’ Equity
Common shares, par value $1.00 per share (Notes 3 and 4)
Authorized - 6,000,000 shares Issued and outstanding —

2,342,223 and 1,903,580 shares in 1997 and 1996, respectively $ 2,342,223 $ 1,903,580
Premium on common shares 27,203,311 20,572,132
Capital stock expense (1,917,020) (1,620,252)
Retained earnings (Note 6) 1,846,055 2,172,863
Total common shareholders’ equity $ 29,474,669 $ 23,628,323
Long-Term Debt (Notes 6 and 7)

Debentures, 8.3%, due 2026 $ 15,000,000 $ —
Debentures, 6 5/8%, due 2023 13,505,000 14,000,000
Debentures, 9%, due 2011 10,000,000 10,000,000

Promissory note from acquisition of underground
storage, non-interest bearing, due through 2001
(less unamortized discount of $297,099 and $398,419
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' in 1997 and 1996, respectively) 1,502,901 1,401,581
Other 87,669 172,135
Total long-term debt $ 40,095,460 $ 25,573,716

Less - Amounts due within one year,
included in current liabilities (1,987,600) (1,084,800)
Net long-term debt $ 38,107,860 $ 24,488,916
Notes Payable Refinanced Subsequent to Yearend (Note 5) $ — $ 18,075,000
Total capitalization $ 67,582,429 $ 66,192,239

The panying notes to lidated fi ial stat Is are an integral part of these statements.




DELTA NATURAL GAS COMPANY, INC. AND SUBSIDIARY COMPANIES

(1) Summary of Significant
Accounting Policies

(a) Principles of Consolidation
Delta Natural Gas Company, Inc.
(“Delta” or “the Company”) has five wholly-owned subsidiaries. Delta
Resources, Inc. (“Resources”) buys gas and resells it to industrial customers on
Delta’s system and to Delta for system supply. Delgasco, Inc. buys gas and
resells it to Resources and to customers not on Delfa’s system. Deltran, Inc.
operates underground natural gas storage facilities that it leases from Delta.
Enpro, Inc. owns and operates production properties. TranEx Corporation
owns a 43 mile intrastate pipeline. All subsidiaries of Delta are included in the
consolidated financial statements. Intercompany balances and transactions
have been eliminated.

(b) Cash Equivalents For the purposes of the Consolidated Statements of
Cash Flows, all temporary cash investments with a maturity of three months or
less at the date of purchase are considered cash equivalents.

(c) Depreciation The Company determines its provision for depreciation
using the straight-line method and by the application of rates to various classes
of utility plant. The rates are based upon the estimated service lives of the
properties and were equivalent to composite rates of 3.0%, 2.9%, and 2.8% of
average depreciable plant for 1997, 1996, and 1995, respectively.

(d) Maintenance All expenditures for maintenance and repairs of units of
property are charged to the appropriate maintenance expense accounts. A
betterment or replacement of a unit of property is accounted for as an addition
and retirement of utility plant. At the time of such a retirement, the accumu-
lated provision for depreciation is charged with the original cost of the proper-
ty retired and also for the net cost of removal,

(e) Gas Cost Recovery Delta has a Gas Cost Recovery (“GCR") clause which
provides for a dollar-tracker that matches revenues and gas costs and provides
eventual dollar-for-dollar recovery of all gas costs incurred. The Company
expenses gas costs based on the amount of gas costs recovered through rev-
enue. Any differences between actual gas costs and those estimated costs
billed are deferred and reflected in the computation of future billings to cus-
tomers using the GCR mechanism.

(f) Revenue Recognition The Company records revenues as billed to its cus-
tomers on a monthly meter reading cycle. At the end of each month, gas ser-
vice which has been rendered from the latest date of each cycle meter reading
to the month-end is unbilled.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

(g) Revenues and Customer
Receivables The Company sup-
plies natural gas to approximate-
ly 36,000 customers in central
and southeastern Kentucky., Revenues and customer receivables arise primarily
from sales of natural gas to customers and from transportation services for oth-
ers. Provisions for doubtful accounts are recorded to reflect the expected net
realizable value of accounts receivable.

(h) Use of Estimates The preparation of financial statements in conformity
with generally accepted accounting principles requires management to make
estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and lia-
bilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the
financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses dur-
ing the reporting period. Actual results could differ from those estimates.

(i) New Accounting Pronouncements [n March, 1995, the Financial
Accounting Standards Board issued Statement of Financial Accounting
Standards (“SFAS”) No. 121, “Accounting for the Impairment of Long-Lived
Assets and for Long-Lived Assets to Be Disposed Of ”, effective for fiscal years
beginning after December 15, 1995. The Company adopted the provisions of
SFAS No. 121 in the first quarter of fiscal 1997. The new standard requires that
long-lived assets and certain identified intangibles be reviewed for impairment
whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying
amount of an asset may not be recoverable. In performing such impairment
reviews, companies are required to estimate the sum of future cash flows from
an asset and compare such amount to the asset's carrying amount. Any excess
of carrying amount over expected cash flows will result in a possible write-down
of an asset to its fair value. Adoption of SFAS No. 121 did not have a material
adverse impact on the Company's financial position or results of operations.

For companies with June 30 fiscal yearends, SFAS No. 123, “Accounting for
Stock-Based Compensation”, was required to be adopted as of June 30, 1997.
This standard is currently inapplicable to Delta because the Company has no
stock based compensation arrangements.

Delta is required to adopt SFAS No. 128, “Earnings per Share”, during the
second quarter of fiscal 1998. The Company does not expect the adoption of
this standard to have a material adverse impact on its financial position or
results of operations.




(2) Income Taxes

The Company provides for income taxes on temporary differences
resulting from the use of alternative methods of income and expense
recognition for financial and tax reporting purposes. The differences
result primarily from the use of accelerated tax depreciation methods for
certain properties versus the straight-line depreciation method for finan-
cial purposes, differences in recognition of purchased gas cost recoveries
and certain other accruals which are not currently deductible for income
tax purposes. Investment tax credits were deferred for certain periods
prior to fiscal 1987 and are being amortized to income over the estimated
useful lives of the applicable properties. The Company utilizes the liability

method for accounting for income taxes, which requires that deferred
income tax assets and liabilities are computed using tax rates that will be

in effect when the book and tax temporary differences reverse. The change

in tax rates applied to accumulated deferred income taxes may not be
immediately recognized in operating results because of ratemaking treat-
ment. A regulatory liability has been established to recognize the future

revenue requirement impact from these deferred taxes. The temporary dif-
ferences which gave rise to the net accumulated deferred income tax liabil-

ity for the periods are as follows:

1997 1996

Deferred Tax Liabilities
Accelerated depreciation $ 9,018,800 $ 8,091,500
Deferred gas cost 860,100 1,055,700
Accrued pension 433,000 262,900
Debt expense 384,900 369,200
Total $ 10,696,800 $ 9,799,300

Deferred Tax Assets
Alternative minimum tax credits $ 1,534,100 $ 1,305,600
Regulatory liabilities 339,400 370,000
Unbilled revenue 327,600 236,100
Investment tax credit 279,400 307,400
Other 295,300 261,700
: Total $ 2,775,700 $ 2,480,800
Net accumulated deferred

income tax liability $ 7,921,100 $ 7,318,500

The components of the income tax provision are comprised of the following for the years ended June 30;

1997 1996 1995
Gomponents of Income Tax Expense:
Payable currently:
Federal $ 242,200 $ 52,100 $ 463,900
State (31,300) (265,100) 194,500
Total $ 210,900 $ (203,000) $ 648,400
Deferred 753,900 1,762,500 304,000
. Income tax expense $ 964,800 $ 1,569,500 $ 1,042,400
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DELTA NATURAL GAS COWMPANY, INC. AND SUBSIDIARY COMPANIES

Reconciliation of the statutory federal income tax rate to the effective income tax rate is shown in the table below:

1997 1996 1995
Statutory federal income tax rate 34.0% 34.0% 34.0%
State income taxes net of federal benefit 5.0 5.2 5.2
Amortization of investment tax credit (2.6) n 249
Other differences - net ' — — 9
Effective income tax rate 36.4% 37.6% 35.9%
(3) Employee Benefit Plans
(a) Defined Benefit Retirement Plan Delta has a trusteed, noncontributory, necessary to fund the plan adequately. The funded status of the pension
defined benefit pension plan covering all eligible employees. Retirement plan at March 31, the plan year end, and the amounts recognized in the
income is based on the number of years of service and annual rates of com- Company’s consolidated balance sheets at June 30 were as follows:
pensation, The Company makes annual contributions equal to the amounts
1997 1996 1995
Plan assets at fair value $ 6,835,393 $ 6,058,458 $ 5,358,108
Actuarial present value of benefit obligation:
Vested benefits $ 4,505,619 $ 2,789,736 $ 3,605,363
Non-vested benefits 11,025 9,346 21,742
Accumulated benefit obligation $ 4,516,644 $ 2,799,082 $ 3,627,106
Additional amounts related
to projected salary increases 1,828,856 2,811,907 1,638,014
Total projected benefit obligation $ 6,345,500 $ 5,610,989 $ 5,265,119
Plan assets in excess of
projected benefit obligation $ 489,893 $ 447,469 $ 92,989
Unrecognized net assets at date of initial
application being amortized over 15 years (211,972) (254,365) (296,759)
Unrecognized net (gain) loss 125,777 (13,481) 286,557
Accrued pension asset $ 403,698 $ 179,623 $ 82,787

The assets of the plan consist primarily of common stocks, bonds and certificates of deposit. Net pension costs for the years ended
June 30 include the following:

1997 1996 1995

Service cost for benefits earned during the year $ 405,386 $ 382,751 $ 432,546
Interest cost on projected benefit obligation 892,539 366,807 382,167
Actual return on plan assets (407,965) (886,211) (623,972)
Net amortization and deferral (136,843) 444,044 185,660
Net periodic pension cost $ 253,117 $ 297,481 $ 376,401




The weighted average discount rates and the assumed rates of
increase in future compensation levels used in determining the actuarial
present values of the projected benefit obligation at June 30, 1997, 1996 and
1995 were 7.0% (discount rates), and 4% (rates of increase). The expected
long-term rates of return on plan assets were 8%.

SFAS No. 106, “Employers’ Accounting for Post-Retirement Benefits”,
and SFAS No. 112, “Employers’ Accounting for Post-Employment Benefits”,
do not affect the Company, as Delta does not provide benefits for post-
retirement or post-employment other than the pension plan for retired
employees.

(b) Employee Savings Plan The Company has an Employee Savings Plan
(“Savings Plan”) under which eligible employees may elect to contribute
any whole percentage between 2% and 156% of their annual compensation.
The Company will match 50% of the employee’s contribution up to a maxi-

um Company contribution of 2%% of the employee’s annual compensation.

1997, 1996 and 1995, Delta’s Savings Plan expense was approximately

151,000, $111,000 and $112,000, respectively.

(c) Employee Stock Purchase Plan The Company has an Employee Stock
Purchase Plan (“Stock Plan”) under which qualified permanent employees
are eligible to participate. Under the terms of the Stock Plan, such employ-
ees can contribute on a monthly basis 1% of their annual salary level (as of
July 1 of each year) to be used to purchase Delta’s common stock. The
Company issues Delta common stock, based upon the fiscal year contribu-
tions, using an average of the last sale price of Delta’s stock as quoted in
NASDAQ's National Market System at the close of business for the last five
business days in June and matches those shares so purchased. Therefore,
stock equivalent to approximately $101,000 was issued in July, 1997. The
continuation and terms of the Stock Plan are subject to approval by Delta’s
Board of Directors on an annual basis. Delta’s Board has continued the
Stock Plan through June 30, 1998.

(4) Dividend Reinvestment and Stock Purchase Plan

The Company's Dividend Reinvestment and Stock Purchase Plan
(Reinvestment Plan) provides that shareholders of record can reinvest divi-
dends and also make limited additional investments of up to $50,000 per
year in shares of common stock of the Company. Shares purchased under
the Reinvestment Plan are authorized but unissued shares of common stock
of the Company, and 31,187 shares were issued in 1997. Delta reserved

000 shares under the Reinvestment Plan in December, 1994, and as of
‘e 30, 1997, there were 123,604 shares still available for issuance.

(5) Notes Payable and Line of Credit

Substantially all of the cash balances of Delta are maintained to com-

pensate the respective banks for banking services and to obtain lines of

credit; however, no specific amounts have been designated as compensating
balances, and Delta has the right of withdrawal of such funds. At June 30,
1997 and June 30, 1996, the available line of credit was $20,000,000, of
which $10,865,000 and $18,075,000 had been borrowed at an interest rate of
6.785% and 6.285% for 1997 and 1996, respectively. The maximum amount
borrowed during 1997 and 1996 was $10,865,000 and $18,075,000, respec-
tively. The interest on this line is, at the option of Delta, either at the daily
prime rate or is based upon certificate of deposit rates. The current line of
credit expires on November 15, 1997.

Short-term borrowings at June 30, 1996 were repaid in July, 1996, with
the net proceeds of approximately $20,400,000 from the sale of $15,000,000
of debentures and 400,000 shares of common stock.

(6) Long-Term Debt

On July 19, 1996, Delta issued $15,000,000 of 8.3% Debentures that
mature in July, 2026. Redemption on behalf of deceased holders within 60
days of notice of up to $25,000 per holder will be made annually, subject to
an annual aggregate limitation of $500,000. The 8.3% Debentures can be
redeemed by the Company beginning in August, 2001 at a 5% premium, such
premium declining ratably until it ceases in August, 2006. Restrictions
under the indenture agreement covering the 8.3% Debentures include,
among other things, a restriction whereby dividend payments cannot be
made unless consolidated shareholders’ equity of the Company exceeds
$18,000,000. No retained earnings are restricted under the provisions of
the indenture.

On October 18, 1993, Delta issued $15,000,000 of 6 5/8% Debentures
that mature in October, 2023. Each holder may require redemption of up to
$25,000 annually, subject to an annual aggregate limitation of $500,000.
Such redemption will also be made on behalf of deceased holders within 60
days of notice, subject to the annual aggregate $500,000 limitation. The 6
5/8% Debentures can be redeemed by the Company beginning in October,
1998 at a 5% premium, such premium declining ratably until it ceases in
October, 2003.

On May 1, 1991, Delta issued $10,000,000 of 9% Debentures that
mature in April, 2011. Each holder may require redemption of up to
$25,000 annually, subject to an annual aggregate limitation of $500,000.
Such redemption will also be made on behalf of deceased holders within 60
days of notice, subject to the annual aggregate $500,000 limitation. The 9%
Debentures can be redeemed by the Company at a 4% premium, such pre-
mium declining ratably until it ceases in April, 2001. The Company may not
assume any additional mortgage indebtedness in excess of $1 million with-
out effectively securing the 9% Debentures equally to such additional
indebtedness.
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DELTA NATURAL GAS COMPANY, INC. AND SUBSIDIARY COMPANIES

Debt issuance expenses are deferred and amortized over the terms of
the related debt. In addition, losses on extinguishment of debt are deferred
and amortized over the term of the related debt consistent with regulatory
treatment.

A non-interest bearing promissory note was issued by Delta on
November 10, 1995 in the amount of $1,800,000, payable in installments of
$400,000 in 1998, $700,000 in 2000 and $700,000 in 2002. The note was
issued when Delta purchased leases and depleted gas wells to develop them
for the underground storage of natural gas. Delta secured the promissory
note by escrow of 102,858 shares of Delta’s common stock. These shares
will be issued to the holder of the promissory note only in the event of
default in payment by Delta.

This underground natural gas storage field located on Canada
Mountain in Bell County, Kentucky is now partially developed and will have
an estimated working capacity of 4,000,006"Mef upon completion. Delta uti-
lized this storage field to help meet its winter supply needs this year. This
storage capability should permit Delta to continue to purchase and store gas
during the non-heating months, and then withdraw and sell the gas during
the peak usage winter months. Storage project capital expenditures are
estimated at approximately $2.6 million during fiscal 1998, which includes
completion of a 14 mile, 12 inch diameter steel pipeline to provide expanded
capacity to deliver gas to Delta’s system. Delta is currently recovering a
return on storage field investments through rates.

Other long-term debt requires principal payments totaling approxi-
mately $88,000 in 1998.

(10) Quarterly Financial Data (Unaudited)

(7) Fair Values of Financial Instruments

The fair value of the Company's debentures is estimated using discount-
ed cash flow analysis, based on the Company’s current incremental borrow-
ing rates for similar types of borrowing arrangements. The fair value of the
Company’s debentures at June 30, 1997 is estimated to be $37,723,000. The
carrying amount in the accompanying consolidated financial statements is
$38,505,000. '

The carrying amount of the Company’s other financial instruments
including cash equivalents, accounts receivable, notes receivable, accounts
payable and the non-interest bearing promissory note approximate their
fair value.

(8) Commitments and Contingencies

The Company has entered into individual employment agreements
with its five officers. The agreements expire or may be terminated at varj
ous times. The agreements provide for continuing monthly payments or .
Iump sum payments and continuation of certain benefits over varying peri-
ods in the event employment is altered or terminated following certain
changes in ownership of the Company.

(9) Rates

Reference is made to “Regulatory Matters” herein with
respect to rate matters.

The quarterly data reflects, in the opinion of management, all normal recurring adjustments necessary to present fairly the results for the interim periods.

Earnings
Operating Net (Loss) per
Operating Income Income Common
Quarter Ended Revenues (Loss) (Loss) Share (a)
Fiscal 1997
September 30 $ 4,074,332 $ 36,149 $ (734,296) $ (.33)
December 31 10,023,399 1,090,513 198,163 .09
March 31 18,651,406 3,034,844 2,050,318 88
June 30 9,420,048 1,164,076 210,090 .09
Fiscal 1996
September 30 $ 3,774,849 $ (147,522) $ (760,662) $ (41)
December 31 8,406,787 1,331,803 649,089 34
March 31 16,023,581 3,421,608 2,725,444 1.4
June 30 8,370,838 831,166 47478 .03

(a) Quarterly earnings per share may not equal annual earnings per share due to changes in shares outstanding.




q Report of Independent Public Accountants

To the Board of Directors and Shareholders of Delta Natural Gas Company, Inc.:
We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets and statements of capitalization of
Delta Natural Gas Company, Inc. (a Kentucky corporation) and subsidiary companies as of June 30, 1997

and 1996, and the related consolidated statements of income, cash flows and changes in shareholders’

equity for each of the three years in the period ended June 30, 1997. These financial statements are the
responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial
statements based on our audits.

‘ We conducted our audits in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards. Those standards
require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial
statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence sup-
porting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the
accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the over-
all financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the
financial position of Delta Natural Gas Company, Inc. and subsidiary companies as of June 30, 1997 and
1996, and the results of their operations and their cash flows for each of the three years in the period

ended June 30, 1997, in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles.

Arthur Andersen LLP

Lowisville, Kentucky

August 15, 1997

L ...




Management is responsible for the
preparation, presentation and integrity
of the financial statements and other
financial information in this report. In

preparing financial statements in conformity with generally accepted account-

ing principles, management is required to make estimates and assumptions

that affect the reported amount of assets and liabilities and the disclosure of
contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and

revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could dif-

fer from these estimates.

The Company maintains a system of accounting and internal controls

which management believes provides reasonable assurance that the

Blom_R.

Management Report

accounting records are reliable for pur-
poses of preparing financial statements
and that the assets are properly
accounted for and protected.

The Board of Directors pursues its oversight role for these financial state-
ments through its Audit Committee which consists of three outside directors. The
Audit Committee meets periodically with management to review the work and
monitor the discharge of their responsibilities. The Audit Committee also
meets periodically with the Company's internal auditor as well as Arthur
Andersen LLP, the independent auditors, who have full and free access to

the Audit Committee, with or without management present, to discuss

internal accounting control, auditing and financial reporting matters.

don 3. [t

Glenn R. Jennings John F. Hall
President and Vice President—Finance,
Chief Executive Officer Secretary and Treasurer
Consofidated Statisties .
For the Years Ended June 30, 1997 1996 1995 1994 1993
Retail Customers Served, End of Period
Residential 31,380 29,840 29,029 27,939 27,293
Commercial 4,761 4,453 4,287 4,242 4,098
Industrial 74 75 72 76 75
Total 36,215 34,368 33,388 32,257 31,461
Operating Revenues ($000)
Residential sales 19,694 16,540 14,772 16,597 14,578
Commercial sales 11,977 9,788 8,673 9,663 8,269
Industrial sales 1,890 1,483 1,248 1,671 1,383
On-system transportation 3,214 2,013 2,h88 2,310 2,451
Off-system transportation 382 418 461 623 836
* Subsidiary sales 4,904 5,207 3,959 3,765 3,532
" Other 108 137 143 228 172
Total 42,169 36,576 31,844 34,847 31,221
System Throughput (Million Cu. Ft.)
Residential sales 2,464 2,741 2,173 2,511 2,341
Commercial sales 1,667 1,673 1,328 1,506 1,368
Industrial sales 278 201 223 316 281
Total retail sales 4,299 4,706 3,724 4,333 3,990
On-system transportation 2,863 2,670 2,390 2,186 2,248
Off-system transportation 1,205 1,134 1,452 1,997 2,668
Total 8,367 8,409 7,666 8,516 8,906
Average Annual Consumption Per End of Period
Restdential Customer (Thousand Cu. Ft.) 9 92 7 90 86 .
Lexington, Kentucky Degree Days
Actual 4,869 5,280 4,215 4,999 4,688
. Percent of 30 year average (4,726) 103.0 111.7 89.2 105.8 99.2
Average Revenue Per Mcf Sold at Retail ($) 7.81 5.81 6.63 6.44 6.07
Average Gas Cost Per Mcf Sold at Retail ($) 4,62 2.81 3.37 3.34 2.90




ard of Directors

“nding left to right:

Billy Joe Hall (a)
Investment Broker

LPL Financial Services
(general brokerage services)
Mount Sterling, Kentucky

Arthur E. Walker, Jr. (a)(c)
President

The Walker Company
(general and highway
construction)

Mount Sterling, Kentucky

Henry C. Thompson (b)
President

Triple Land Co., Inc.

(land development and

real estate rental);

Retired President

Henry Thompson Construction
Co., Inc. (land development and
commercial real estate rental);
both of Nicholasville, Kentucky

Glenn R. Jennings (c)
President and
Chief Executive Qfficer

,;ald R. Crowe (a)
enior Analyst

Kentucky Department
of Insurance
Lexington, Kentucky

Virgil E. Scott (b)
Retired Vice President—
Admianistration

Seated left to right:

John D. Harrison (b)

Retired President

Power Line Construction Co.
(utility construction contractor)

Roger A. Byron

Director Emeritus

Retired Vice President—
General Counsel; Attorney,
Owingsville, Kentucky

Harrison D. Peet (c)
Chairman of the Board
Retired President

and Chief Executive Officer

Jane Hylton Green (b)
Retired Vice President—
Human Resources and
Corporale Secretary

Officers
Standing left to right:

Johnny L. Caudill
Vice President—
Admanistration and
Customer Service

Robert C. Hazelrigg
Vice President -
Public and Consumer Affairs

Alan L. Heath
Vice President—
Operations and Engineering

Seated left to right:
John F. Hall

Vice President —
Finance, Secretary and Treasurer

Glenn R. Jennings
President and
Chief Executive Officer

{a) Member of Nominating and Compensation Committee

(b) Member of Audit Committee

(c) Member of Executive Committee




Gorporate Information

Shareholders’ Inquiries

Communications regarding stock transfer requirements,
lost certificates, changes of address or other items may be
directed to the Transfer Agent and Registrar. Communica-
tions regarding dividends, the above items or any other
shareholder inquiries may be directed to:

Investor Relations, Delta Natural Gas Company, Inc.,

3617 Lexington Road, Winchester, Kentucky 40391.

Independent Public Accountants
Arthur Andersen LLP

2300 Meidinger Tower

The Louisville Galleria
Louisville, Kentucky 40202

Dishursement Agent, Transfer Agent and Registrar for Common Shares
Fifth Third Bank

38 Fountain Square Plaza

Cincinnati, Ohio 45202

Trustee and Interest Paying Agents for Debentures
6 5/8% due 2023; 9% due 2011

Corporate Trust Bank One
235 W. Schrock Rd.
Westerville, Ohio 43081

8.3% due 2026

Fifth Third Bank
38 Fountain Square Plaza
Cincinnati, Ohio 45202

Dividend Reinvestment and Stock Purchase
Plan Administrator and Agent

Fifth Third Bank

38 Fountain Square Plaza
Cincinnati, Ohio 45202

1997 Annual Report

This annual report and the financial statements contained
herein are submitted to the shareholders of the Company
for their general information and not in connection with
any sale or offer to sell, or solicitation of any offer to buy,
any securities.

1997 Annual Meeting

The annual meeting of shareholders of the Company will be
held at the General Office of the Company in Winchester,
Kentucky on November 20, 1997, at 10:00 a.m. Proxies for
the annual meeting will be requested from shareholders
when notice of meeting, proxy statement and form of proxy
are mailed on or about October 12, 1997,

SEC Form 10-K

A copy of Delta’s most recent arnual report on SEC Form
10-K is available, without charge, upon written request to
John F. Hall, Vice President —Finance, Secretary and
Treasurer, Delta Natural Gas Company, Inc.,

3617 Lexington Road, Winchester, Kentucky 40391.

Dividend Reinvestment and Stock Purchase Plan

This plan provides shareholders of record with a convenient
way to acquire additional shares of the Company's common
stock without paying brokerage fees. Participants may
reinvest their dividends and make optional cash payments
to acquire additional shares. Fifth Third Bank administers
the Plan and is the agent for the participants. For more
information, inquiries may be directed to Emily P. Bennett,
Director —Corporate Services, Delta Natural Gas Company,
Inc., 3617 Lexington Road, Winchester, Kentucky 40391.
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The Company Delta Natural Gas Company, Inc.
(“Delta” or “the Company”) is engaged
primarily in the distribution, transmission,
storage and production of natural gas
through facilities located in 20 counties
in central and southeastern Kentucky.
Delta serves approximately 38,000
residential, commercial, industrial and
transportation customers and makes
transportation deliveries to several
interconnected pipelines.

Unless the context requires otherwise,
references to Delta include Delta’s wholly-
owned subsidiaries, Delta Resources,

Inc. (“Resources™), Delgasco, Inc.
(“Delgasco™), Deltran, Inc. (“Deltran™),
Enpro, Inc. (“Enpro”) and TranEx
Corporation (“TranEx”). Resources buys
gas and resells it to industrial customers

on Delta’s system and to Delta for

Delta System

Corporate office
A Branch offices
Other communities served
® Storage -
.. . @ Louisvill
wwes  Transmission lines

Service area
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Covington ® “,

Lexington @
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system supply. Delgasco buys gas and
resells it to Resources and to customers
not on Delta’s system. Deltran operates
an underground natural gas storage field
that it leases from Delta. Enpro owns
and operates production properties and
undeveloped acreage. Tranllx owns a

43 mile intrastate pipeline. Delta and

its subsidiaries are under common
executive management.

Delta was incorporated under
Kentucky law in 1949. Its principal
executive offices are located at 3617
Lexington Road, Winchester, Kentucky
40391. lts telephone number is
(606) 744-6171, and its Fax number
is {606) 744-6552. Delta’s website is
www.deltagas.com and Delta’s E-mail

address is delta@mis.net.
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Selected Consolidated Financial Information

For the Years Ended June 30, 1998(a) 1997 1996(b) 1995 1994(c)
Summary of Operations ($)

Operating revenues 44,258,000 42,169,185 36,576,055 31,844,339 34,846,941

Operating income 6,731,859 5,315,582 5,437,055 4,255,088 4,850,673

Net income 2,451,272 1,724,265 2,661,349 1,917,735 2,671,001

Basic and diluted earnings per commen share 1.04 73 141 1.04 1.50

Dividends declared per common share 1.14 114 L12 112 111
Average Number of

Common Shares Ouistanding 2,359,598 2,294,134 1,886,629 1,850,986 1,775,068
Total Assets ($) 102,866,613 96,681,165 81,140,637 65,948,716 61,932,480
Capitalization ($)

Common shareholders’ equity 29,810,294 29,474,569 23,628,323 22,511,513 22,164,791

Long-term debt 52,612,494 38,107,860 24,488,916 23,702,200 24,500,000

Notes payable refinanced

subsequent to yearend - - 18,075,000 - -

Total capitalization 82,422,788 67,582,429 66,192,239 46,213,713 46,664,791
Short-Term Debt ($) (d) 3,665,000 12,852,600 1,084,800 6,732,700 3,205,000
Other Items ($)

Capital expenditures 11,193,613 16,648,994 13,373,416 8,122,838 7.374,747

Total plant 127,028,159 116,829,158 98,795,623 84,944,969 77,882,135

(a} During March, 1998, $25,000,000 of debentures were sold, and the proceeds were used to repay short-term debt and to redeem the

Company’s $10,000,000 of 9% debentures.

(b) During July, 1996, $15,000,000 of debentures and 400,000 shares of common stock were sold, and the proceeds were used to repay
short-term debt and for general corporate purposes. The balance of the note payable at June 30, 1996 ($18,075,000) is included in

total capitalization as a result of the subsequent refinancing,

{c} During October, 1993, $15,000,000 of debentures and 170,000 shares of common stock were sold, and the proceeds were used to repay

short-term debt and to refinance certain long-term debt.
(d) Includes eurrent portion of long-term debt.




.l' o Our Shareholders

This past year has certainly been an
eventful year for Delta. Our weather
was very mild as heating degree days
were only 93.5% of thirty year average
(“normal”) weather as compared with
103.5% in 1997. January and February
were two of our warmest months on
record, and thus our sales volumes
were below anticipated levels for nor-
mal weather. Our earnings increased,
however, despite the warmer weather,
to $1.04 per share in 1998 as com-
pared with $.75 per share in 1997, as
we filed a rate case in March, 1997 and
it was completed during fiscal 1998.
We implemented new rates effective

avember 30, 1997 that are designed
to provide approximately $1.8 million
of additional annual revenues.

The Company continued during
1998 to expand its distribution and
transmission system, including the July,
1997 acquisition of the gas system of
Annville Gas & Transmission Corporation

in Jackson County. This system served

industrial and residential customers,
and we expanded it during 1998 to
provide service to customers in the
City of Annville.

We also completed the development
of our Canada Mountain underground
natural gas storage field during 1998,
including completion of 14 miles of
12-inch diameter pipeline that con-
nects the storage field to our system.
We withdrew gas this past winter from
the field to supply a portion of our
winter-time gas needs, and we are
presently injecting gas into the field
in preparation for its use during the
upcoming winter.

In March, 1998, we successtully
completed our largest public offering
of debt with the issuance of $25 mil-
lion of 7.15% debentures that will
mature in 2018. The proceeds were
used to repay our bank credit line and
to redeem our 9% debentures, that
were due in 2011, in the amount of
$10 million. We will continue to utilize

Delta’s Mission

Maximize business growth

Strive for complete customer satisfaction

Ensure an excellent work environment for employees

Enhance the quality of shareholders’ investment

Jennings Peet

our credit line, which is presently $25
millien, for our working capital and
capital expenditure needs as a supple-
ment to our internally-generated cash.
We acquired TranEx Corporation
during June, 1997. This company owns
a 43 mile, 8 inch diameter steel pipeline,
and during 1998 we connected it to our
system in the Richmond area. It also
interconnects with Columbia Gulf’s
pipeline in Madison County and our
transmission pipeline system in Clay
County. We are utilizing this pipeline
to provide natural gas to our Canada
Mountain storage field, as well as for
system supply and transportation.
Thank you for your continued
support. Delta had a good year, with
growth and earnings improvement.
We look to the future with optimism,
believing that Delta is prepared to
continue to grow and prosper.

Sincerely,

H. D. Peet

Chairman of the Board

Lo R. Sypnniss

Glenn R. Jennings
President and
Chief Executive Officer

August 21, 1998
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Delta expands its system to serve
new customers near Nicholasville
in Jessamine County.




‘as Operations and Supply

The Company purchases and pro-
duces gas for distribution to its retail
customers and also provides transporta-
tion service to industrial customers
and inter-connected pipelines with its
facilities that are located in 20 predom-
inantly rural counties in central and
southeastern Kentucky. The economy of
Delta’s service area is based principally
on light industry, farming and coal
mining. The communities in Delta’s
service area typically contain populations
of less than 20,000. The four largest
service areas are Nicholasville, Corbin,
Berea and Middlesboro, where Delta
serves 6,600, 6,300, 3,800 and 3,500
customers, respectively.

The communities served by Delta
continue to expand, resulting in
growth opportunities for the Company.
Industrial parks have been developed
in certain areas and have resulted in

new industrial customers, some of
.which are on-system transportation
customers. As a result of this growth,
Delta’s total average customer count
increased by 2.6% in 1998.

Curréntly, over 99% of Delta’s cus-
tomers are residential and commercial.
Delta’s remaining, light industrial
customers purchased 6% of the total
volume of gas sold by Delta at retail
during 1998.

The Company’s revenues are affected
by various factors, including rates
billed to customers, the cost of natural
gas, economic conditions in the areas
that the Company serves, weather
conditions and competition. Delta
competes for customers and sales with
alternative sources of energy, including
electricity, coal, oil, propane and wood.
The Company’s marketing subsidiaries,
which purchase gas and resell it to
various industrial customers and others,
also compete for their customers with

roducers and marketers of natural gas.

Gas costs, which the Company is gener-

Retail Sales Volume (Billion cu. ft.)

Summary of Operations

‘98 4.1

‘97 4.3

‘96 4.7
‘95 3.7

‘94 4.3

ally able to pass through to customers,
may influence customers to conserve,
or, in the case of industrial customers,
to use alternative energy sources. Also,
the potential bypass of Delta’s system
by industrial customers and others is a
competitive concern that Delta has
addressed and will continue to address
as the need arises.

Delta’s retail sales are seasonal and
temperature-sensitive as the majority
of the gas sold by Delta is used for
heating. This seasonality impacts Delta’s
liquidity position and its management
of its working capital requirements
during each twelve month period, and
changes in the average temperature
during the winter months impacts its
revenues year-to-year (see Management’s
Discussion and Analysis of Financial
Condition and Results of Operations).

Retail gas sales in 1998 were
4,112,000 Mcf, generating $33,435,000
in revenues, as compared to 4,299,000
Mecf and $33,561,000 in revenues
for 1997. Heating degree days billed
during 1998 were 93.5% of normal
as compared with 103.5% in 1997 and
as a result, sales volumes decreased
by 187,000 Mcf, or 4.4%, in 1998 as
compared to 1997,

Delta’s transportation of natural
gas during 1998 generated revenues
of $4,360,000 as compared with
$3,596,000 during 1997. Of the total
transportation in 1998, $3,877,000
(3,467,000 Mcf) and $483,000
(1,489,000 Mcf) were earned for
transportation for on-system and off-

system customers, respectively. Of the

total transportation for 1997, $3,214,000
(2,363,000 Mcf) and $382,000
(1,205,000 Mcf) were earned for trans-
portation for on-system and off-system
customers, respectively.

As an active participant in many
areas of the natural gas industry, Delta
plans to continue its efforts to expand
its gas distribution system. During
November, 1996, Delta acquired the
City of North Middletown gas system
in Bourbon County, consisting of 180
primarily residential customers. During
July, 1997, Delta purchased the gas
system of Annville Gas & Transmission
Corporation in Jackson County, which
serves several industrial and residential
customers. This system was expanded
by Delta during 1998 to provide gas
service to customers in the City of
Annville. Delta continues to consider
acquisitions of other gas systems, some
of which are contiguous to its existing
service areas, as well as expansion
within its existing service areas.

The Company also anticipates
continuing activity in gas production
and transportation and plans to pursue
and increase these activities wherever
practicable. During June, 1997, Delta
acquired TranEx Corporation, which
owns a 43 mile, 8 inch diameter steel
pipeline that extends from Clay County
to Madison County. During 1998, the
TranEx pipeline was connected to
Delta’s system in the Richmond area.
It also interconnects with a pipeline of
Columbia Gulf Transmission Company
(“Columbia Gulf”) in Madison County
as well as Delta’s transmission pipeline




Summary of Operations

system in Clay County. Delta is utilizing
the pipeline to deliver natural gas for
injection into the Company’s Canada
Mountain storage field as well as for
system supply and transportation. The
Company will continue to consider the
construction or acquisition of addition-
al transmission, storage and gathering
facilities to provide for increased trans-
portation, enhanced supply and system
flexibility.

Some producers in Delta’s service
area can access certain pipeline deliv-
ery systems other than Delta, which
provides competition from others for
transportation of such gas. Delta will
continue its efforts to purchase or
transport any natural gas available that
is produced in reasonable proximity to
its facilities.

Delta receives its gas supply from a
combination of interstate and Kentucky
sources. The Company intends to pursue
an adequate gas supply to provide ser-
vice to existing and future customers.
Delta will continue to maintain an active
gas supply management program that
emphasizes long-term reliability and
the pursuit of cost effective sources of
gas for its customers.

Delta’s interstate gas supply is
transported and/or stored by Tennessee
Gas Pipeline Company, Columbia Gas
Transmission Corporation, Columbia
Gulf and Texas Eastern Transmission
Corporation. Delta acquires its interstate
gas supply from gas marketers. Delta
also acquires gas supply from Kentucky
producers and suppliers. There is a
competitive national market for natural
gas supplies as supply and demand
determine the availability and prices
of natural gas.

Enpro produces oil and gas from
leases it owns in southeastern Kentucky.
Enpro’s natural gas production is pur-
chased by Delta for system supply, and

Enpro’s remaining proved, developed

natural gas reserves are estimated at
4,200,000 Mef. Delta purchased a total
of 225,000 Mcf from those properties
in 1998. Enpro’s oil production has not
been significant.

Resources and Delgasco purchase
gas from various marketers and
Kentucky producers. The gas is resold
to industrial customers on Delta’s
system, to Delta for system supply and to
others. Although there are competitors
for the acquisition of gas supplies,
Delta continues to seek additional new
gas supplies from all available sources,
including those in the proximity of its
facilities in southeastern Kentucky.
Also, Resources and Delgasco continue
to pursue acquisitions of new gas
supplies from Kentucky producers
and others.

Delta has completed the develop-
ment of an underground natural gas
storage field, with an estimated working
capacity of 4,000,000 Mcf. This field
has been used to provide a portion
of Delta’s winter supply needs since
1996. This storage capability permits
Delta to purchase and store gas during
the non-heating months, and then
withdraw and sell the gas during the
peak usage months.

Regulatory Matters

Delta is subject to the regulatory
authority of the Public Service
Commission of Kentucky (“PSC”) with
respect to various aspects of Delta’s
business, including rates and service
to retail and transportation customers.
The company monitors the need to file

a general rate case as a way to adjust

Degree Days (% of 30 year average)

its sales prices. Delta currently has no .
general rate cases filed with the PSC.

Effective November 30, 1997, Delta
received approval from the PSC for an
annual revenue increase of $1,670,000.
This resulted from a general rate case
that Delta had filed with the PSC during
March, 1997. Effective May 1, 1998,
Delta also received approval from the
PSC for an additional annual revenue
increase of $117,000 in this rate case,
resulting from a rehearing of certain
tax-related items.

Delta’s rates include a Gas Cost
Recovery (“GCR™) clause, which
permits changes in Delta’s gas costs
to be reflected in the rates charged to
customers. The GCR requires Delta
to make quarterly filings with the PSC,
but such procedure does not require a
general rate case. The PSC is allowing
Delta through its GCR clause to recover
its costs in connection with its recently
developed storage facilities on Canada
Mountain. .

During 1997, the PSC established
a proceeding to investigate affiliate
transactions. Delta is a party to this
proceeding, and has responded to a
PSC data request relating to Delta’s
subsidiaries. Delta cannot currently
predict the outcome of this proceeding
or the impact on Delta’s rates, if any.

The PSC convened proceedings
during 1997 with various regulated
utilities and other interested parties to
discuss the potential unbundling of
natural gas rates and services in
Kentucky. On July 1, 1998 the PSC
concluded the proceedings without
requiring further unbundling at this

‘98 93.5

‘97 _103.5
‘96. 112.3
‘95 89.7

‘94 106.3
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Summary of Operations

time of prices and service options for
residential and small commercial cus-
tomers. Delta participated actively in
those meetings and plans to continue to
provide comments in future discussions
concerning regulatory and legislative
issues relating to unbundling.

In addition to PSC regulation, Delta
may obtain non-exclusive franchises
from the cities and communities in
which it operates authorizing it to
place its facilities in the streets and
public grounds. However, no utility
may obtain a franchise until it has
obtained from the PSC a Certificate of
Convenience and Necessity authorizing
it to bid on the franchise. Delta holds
franchises in four of the ten cities in
which it maintains branch offices and
in seven other communities it serves.
In the other cities and communities
served by the Company, either Delta’s
franchises have expired, the communities
do not have governmental organizations
authorized to grant franchises, or the
local governments have not required
or do not want to offer a franchise.
Delta attempts to acquire or reacquire
franchises whenever feasible.

Without a franchise, a local
government could require Delta to
cease its occupation of the streets and
public grounds or prohibit Delta from
extending its facilities into any new
area of that city or community. To date,
the absence of a franchise has had no

adverse effect on Delta’s operations.

Capital Expenditures

Capital expenditures during 1998
were $11.2 million and for 1999
are estimated to be $6.8 million. The
Company expects a reduced level of
capital expenditures in 1999 due to
the substantial completion of the
underground natural gas storage field
in 1998. The Company is planning
for expenditures for system extensions,
computer system upgrades and the
replacement and improvement of
existing transmission, distribution,

gathering and general facilities.

Financing

The Company’s capital expenditures
and operating cash requirements are
met through the use of internally gen-
erated funds and a short-term line of
credit. The available line of credit at
June 30, 1998, was $25 million of which
$1.9 million had been borrowed. These
short-term borrowings are periodically
repaid with long-term debt and equity
securities, as was done in March, 1998,
when the net proceeds of $24.1 million
from the sale of $25 million of deben-
tures was used to repay short-term
notes payable, as well as to redeem the
Company’s 9% debentures, that would
have matured in 2011, in the amount
of $10 million.

Present plans are to utilize the
short-term line of credit to help meet
planned capital expenditures and oper-

ating cash requirements. The amounts

Range of Stock Prices ($) Dividends
Quarter High Low Per Share($)
Fiscal 1998
First 18 1/4 16 3/4 .285
Second 19 1/2 17 3/4 .285
Third 19 1/4 16 5/8 .285
Fourth 18 16 3/4 .285
Fiscal 1997
First 18 3/4 151/2 285
Second 19 1/2 17 3/4 .285
Third 19 1/2 ! 17 285
Fourth 18 1/2 16 .285

and types of future long-term debt '

and equity financings will depend
upon the Company’s capital needs and
market conditions.

During 1998 the requirements
of the Employee Stock Purchase
Plan (see Note 3(c) of the Notes to
Consolidated Financial Statements)
were met through the issuance of
5,746 shares of common stock result-
ing in an increase of $101,000 in
Delta’s common shareholders’ equity.
The Dividend Reinvestment and Stock
Purchase Plan (see Note 4 of the Notes
to Consolidated Financial Statements)
resulted in the issuance of 27,124
shares of common stock providing an
increase of $474,000 in Delta’s com-

mon shareholders’ equity.

Common Stock Dividends and Prices
Delta has paid cash dividends on
its common stock each year since
1964. While it is the intention of the
Board of Directors to continue to
declare dividends on a quarterly basis,
the frequency and amount of future
dividends will depend upon the
Company’s earnings, financial require-
ments and other relevant factors,
including limitations imposed by the
indenture for the Debentures. There
were 2,410 record holders of Delta’s
common stock as of August 1, 1998.
Delta’s common stock is traded in
the National Association of Securities
Dealers Automated Quotation
(‘NASDAQ”) National Market System
under the symbol DGAS. The accom-
panying table reflects the high and
low sales prices during each quarter
as reported by NASDAQ and the quar-
terly dividends declared per share.




Management’s Discussion and Analysis
of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

[Overview___

The Company’s utility operations are
subject to regulation by the PSC, which
plays a significant role in determining the

Company’s return on equity. The PSC

approves rates that are intended to permit

a specified rate of return on investment.
The Company’s rate tariffs allow the cost
of gas to be passed through to customers
(see Regulatory Matters).

The Company’s business is temperature-
sensitive. Accordingly, the Company’s
operating results in any given period reflect,

in addition to other factors, the impact of

weather, with colder temperatures generally

resulting in increased sales by the Company.

The Company anticipates that this sensitiv-

ity to seasonal and weather conditions will
continue to be so reflected in the Company’s

operating results in future periods.

{Liquidity. and Capital Resources
Because of the seasonal nature of
Delta’s sales, the smallest proportion of
cash generated from operations is
received during the warmer months when
sales volumes decrease considerably.
Additionally, most construction activity

takes place during the non-heating sea-

son because of more favorable weather
conditions. During the warmer, non-heat-
ing months, therefore, cash needs for
operations and construction are partially
met through short-term borrowings.
Capital expenditures for Delta for fiscal
1999 are expected to be $6.8 million.
Delta generates internally only a portion
of the cash necessary for its capital
expenditure requirements and finances
the balance of its capital expenditures on
an interim basis through the use of its
borrowing capability under its short-term
line of credit. The current a